
 
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioners: Graves, Newman, Routh, Smith and Chairperson Ortiz 
Staff:   Community Development Director Johnson 
   Senior Planner Bane 

Minute Clerk Uharriet 
   

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

 
B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium 
so that their name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

 

C. Commission Comments 
 
D. Staff Comments 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. August 4, 2011 Regular Planning Commission Meeting 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on 
these items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public 
or the Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
 

A. 1545 LINCOLN AVENUE #11-071 APN: 034-041-14 

Design Permit to demolish a single-family residence and construct a new two-story single-
family residence in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Santa Cruz Capital, LLC/ Peter Tiemann, filed 6/29/11 
Representative:  Frank Ho 

AGENDA 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 1, 2011 
7:00 P.M. – CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION – SEPTEMBER 1, 2011                                                                     

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 
A. 1066 41st AVENUE, A105 #11-062 APN: 034-071-01 

Sign Permit for a take-out restaurant use (Amazon Juice) with outdoor seating in the CC 
(Community Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Joao Luiz Freta, filed 6/7/11 
Representative:  Steve Elmore 
 
B. 104 FAIRVIEW AVENUE  #11-085 APN: 036-111-13 

Design Permit to construct a new deck and retaining wall for a single-family residence in the 
R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  John Gachina, filed 8/11/11 
Representative:  Jerry Allison 
 
C. 421-B CAPITOLA AVENUE #11-088 APN: 035-131-27 

Conditional Use Permit and Sign Permit for a take-out restaurant in the CN (Neighborhood 
Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  John Gryspos, owner/filed:  8/16/11 
Representative:    Edwardo Martinez Architects 
 
D. 1575 38th AVENUE #11-060 APN: 034-181-17 

Preliminary Development Plan for a proposed Planned Development Rezoning to construct a 
four story, 67-unit senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning 
District. 
Property Owner:  Maureen A. Romac, filed 6/3/11 
Representative:  Steve Thomas 
 

6. ZONING ORDINANCE DISCUSSION 
A. Chapter 17.15  R-1  Single-Family Residence District 
B. Chapter 17.18  R-M  Multiple-Family District 
C. Chapter 17.19  TRO Transient Rental Use Overlay District 
D. Chapter 17.21  C-V  Central Village District 
E. Chapter 17.22  C-R  Commercial/Residential 

 
7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 
 
8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Adjourn to a Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission to be held on Thursday, October 6, 2011 at 
7:00 p.m., in the City Hall Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION – SEPTEMBER 1, 2011                                                                     

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council within the 
(10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, Variance, and Coastal 
Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural and Site Review can be 
appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following the date of the Commission action.  If the 
tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is extended to the next business day. 
 
All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 
considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 
accompanied by a one hundred forty two dollar ($142.00) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit 
that is appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 
Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else raised at 
the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City at, or prior to, the 
public hearing. 
 
Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 1

st
 

Thursday of each month at 7:00 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 
Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda Packet are 
available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us.  Agendas are also available at the 
Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday meeting.  Need more 
information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public record 
under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of the Planning 
Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning Commission more than 72 
hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 
Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with a 
disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  
Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in the City 
Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting due to a disability, 
please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at (831) 
475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are requested to 
refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications Cable 
TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed at 12:00 Noon on the Saturday following the meetings on 
Community Television of Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25).  Meetings can 
also be viewed from the City's website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us 
 



 
 
 
Chairperson Ortiz called the Regular Meeting of the Capitola Planning Commission to order at 7:02     
p.m. 
 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioners: Graves, Newman, Routh, Smith and Chairperson Ortiz 
Staff:   Community Development Director Johnson 
   Senior Planner Bane 

Minute Clerk Uharriet 
   

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda - NONE 

 
B. Public Comments - NONE 

 

C. Commission Comments - NONE 
 
D. Staff Comments - NONE 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A. July 7, 2011 Regular Planning Commission Meeting 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
SMITH TO APPROVE THE JULY 7, 2011 MINUTES.  
 
THE MOTION CARRIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES:  COMMISSIONERS GRAVES, 
NEWMAN, ROUTH, SMITH, AND CHAIRPERSON ORTIZ.  NOES:  NONE.  ABSENT:  NONE.  
ABSTAIN:  NONE. 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

A. 1820 41st AVENUE #11-076 APN: 034-131-22 

Sign Permit to install a multi-tenant monument sign (Capitola Station) in the CC (Community 
Commercial) Zoning District.  
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Sue Vaudagna/Bank Bay Properties 
Representative:  Mike Terron/Northwest Signs, filed 7/12/11 

 
Commissioner Graves clarified that the ordinance permits one monument sign per property.  BevMo 
shares a monument sign with McDonald's and will not be permitted a sign space on the Capitola 
Station monument sign. 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, AUGUST 4, 2011 
7:00 P.M. – CITY HALL COMMUNITY ROOM 

 
 

1



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  2 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER GRAVES AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
ROUTH TO APPROVE PROJECT APPLICATION #11-076 WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS 
AND FINDINGS: 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
1. The project approval consists of a monument sign for the Capitola Station located at 1820 41st 

Avenue. 
 
2. A landscape plan for the area surrounding the monument sign shall be submitted with the building 

permit plans for Community Development staff to review and approve. 
 

3. If minor modifications to the signs are desired by the applicant (i.e. lettering, materials, colors, 
illumination, etc.), the changes may be approved by the Community Development Department. 
Any significant changes shall require Planning Commission approval. 

 
4. The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-compliance 

with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions. 
 
5. Prior to building permit sign off, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be demonstrated 

to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development Director. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the Zoning 

Ordinance and General Plan.   
 

The Planning Commission finds that the proposed monument sign complies with the Sign 
Ordinance regulations in terms of size and design.   

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 

The Community Development Department Staff and Planning Commission have reviewed the 
plans to ensure that the sign maintains the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under the Section 15311(a) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 

 
This project involves the installation of a monument sign for an existing commercial retail 
building.  Section 15311(a) exempts on-premise signs appurtenant to existing commercial 
facilities. 

 
THE MOTION CARRIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES:  COMMISSIONERS GRAVES, 
NEWMAN, ROUTH, SMITH, AND CHAIRPERSON ORTIZ.  NOES: NONE.  ABSENT:  NONE.  
ABSTAIN:  NONE.  

 
B. 429 CAPITOLA AVENUE #11-073 APN:  035-093-14 

Design Permit and a setback Variance to expand an existing second floor deck for a single-
family residence in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

 Property Owner:   Jeanne Seeley, filed 6/30/11 
 Representative:     TD Construction/ Ted Egner 

2



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  3 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

Commissioner Graves recused, stating he lived within 500 feet of the subject parcel. 
 
Commissioner Routh removed this item from the Consent Agenda. 
 
Senior Planner Bane presented the staff report. 
 
Commissioner Routh presented the history of the staircase and landing area, and clarified the location 
of the proposed deck area.  
 
Commissioner Smith clarified that the staircase does not exist. 
 
Commissioner Newman stated that the staff recommendation to approve the project is inconsistent 
due to non-conforming nature of the proposal.  He questioned why staff is considering extending a 
non-conforming situation. 
 
Senior Planner Bane responded that the entire property is non-conforming in numerous ways.  There 
is no way to remodel this property without continuing a non-conforming situation.  
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Jeanne Sealy, property owner, stated that she is trying to create a useful outdoor space on the 
property and is limited by the existing building layout. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz stated that this property presents an unusual circumstance, and supports the 
variance request. 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER ROUTH AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
SMITH TO APPROVE PROJECT APPLICATION #11-073 WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS 
AND FINDINGS: 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
1. The project approval consists of a Design Permit to extend a legal nonconforming second story 

deck for a single-family house at 429 Capitola Avenue. 
 
2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be approved 

by the Planning Commission. 
 
3. Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 a.m. – 

4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 
 
4. The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-compliance 

with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions. 
 
5. Prior to building permit sign off, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be demonstrated 

to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development Director. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 

3



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  4 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  The 

project as presented will carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and 
Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project.  The 

project as presented will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
C.  The Variance to the side setback will better serve the intent of the Zoning Ordinance 

than will the literal enforcement of the requirements of the Ordinance. 
 

The constraints of the existing lot and its surroundings are special circumstances that exist, 
making it difficult to improve the subject building.  In addition, the granting of the variance 
would not constitute the granting of a special privilege as many of the buildings in the vicinity 
are zero lot line and do not meet current setback requirements. 
 

D.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
 This project involves construction of a new deck for an existing single-family residence in the 

CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District.  Section 15303 of the CEQA Guidelines 
exempts additions to single-family residences.   

 
THE MOTION CARRIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES:  COMMISSIONERS NEWMAN, 
ROUTH, SMITH, AND CHAIRPERSON ORTIZ.  NOES: NONE.  ABSENT:  NONE.  ABSTAIN:  
GRAVES.  

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

 
A. 1066 41st AVENUE, A105 #11-062 APN: 035-0711-01 

Sign Permit for a take-out restaurant use (Amazon Juice) with outdoor seating in the CC 
(Community Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner:  Joao Luiz Freta, filed 6/7/11 
Representative:  Steve Elmore 

 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER NEWMAN AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
ROUTH TO CONTINUE THE ITEM TO THE SEPTEMBER 1, 2011 MEETING. 
 
THE MOTION CARRIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES:  COMMISSIONERS GRAVES, 
NEWMAN, ROUTH, SMITH, AND CHAIRPERSON ORTIZ.  NOES: NONE.  ABSENT:  NONE.  
ABSTAIN:  NONE.  
 
 

B. 1750 41st AVENUE #11-077 APN: 034-131-16 

Amendment to a Conditional Use Permit to allow an existing retail store and drive-thru 
pharmacy to operate 24 hours a day, 7 days a week in the CC (Community Commercial) 
Zoning District.  
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

4



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  5 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

Property Owner:  Longs Drug Stores California LLC, filed 4/28/11 
Representative:  Fancher Development Services/ Nina Raey 

 
Senior Planner Bane presented the staff report. 
 
Commissioner Newman questioned the percentage of drive-thru use to store use and if staff had 
received any complaints about the drive-thru?  He also asked if it was the intention of CVS to keep the 
drive-thru open 24 hours. 
 
Commissioner Smith ascertained that the CMU wall will be constructed in the same manner as the 
Whole Foods wall and replace all of the wooden fencing along the back of the commercial lots.  She 
clarified the Municipal Code does not limit 24-hour operations, and inquired if a pharmacist would be 
on duty 24 hours and the total number of employees on the later shift. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz clarified the drive-thru access is from the rear of the building.  
 
Senior Planner Bane responded to the Commission's questions:  Staff has not received any 
complaints regarding the drive-thru; a portion of the wood fence behind McDonald's will remain; the 
access for the drive-thru was designed to discourage vehicles between CVS and McDonald's. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Nina Raey, representative for CVS, spoke in support of the application.  She stated the drive-thru 
pharmacy sales represent approximately 5% of store's total business.  CVS has not received any 
complaints to date.  CVS intends on keeping the pharmacy open 24 hours, with a pharmacist, for 
customer convenience, and there will be five employees during the later shift. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Commissioner Graves stated that there are too many signs and the traffic plan for the shopping center 
was not well designed.  He suggested limiting the number of drive-thru directional signs.  The drive-
thru should not be accessed from the McDonald’s side of the building.  He supported the 24 hour 
operation and the CMU wall, and suggested an additional condition to limit excessive outdoor 
displays. 
 
Commissioner Routh was supportive of the application and concurred with Commissioner Graves that 
the parking lot/circulation plan was poorly designed. 
 
Commissioner Smith was supportive of the application and proposed conditions of approval. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz was supportive of the application and suggested additional conditions that limit the 
ingress and egress at the rear of the building after midnight, and requiring irrigation in the 
landscaping.   
 
A MOTION WAS MADE BY COMMISSIONER GRAVES AND SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
SMITH TO APPROVE PROJECT APPLICATION #11-073 WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS 
AND FINDINGS: 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
1. The project approval consists of an amendment to an existing retail store (CVS) Conditional Use 

Permit to allow the store to be open 24 hours a day, 7 days a week at 1750 41st Avenue. 
 

5



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  6 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be approved 
by the Planning Commission.  Similarly, any significant change to the use itself, or the site, must 
be approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
3. The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-compliance 

with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions. 
 
4. Prior to building permit sign off, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be demonstrated 

to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development Director. 
 

5. “Back of house” operations (trash compaction, breaking down of boxes, etc.) shall be limited to 
8AM – 8PM to minimize noise impacts to neighboring residents.  There shall be no employee 
ingress or egress from the back door from midnight to 6AM. 

 
6. The applicant shall design and install an 8' split face block wall with graffiti coating along the rear 

(eastern) property line. 
 

7. The applicant shall install drought tolerant ground cover and trees along the rear property line.  
Irrigation shall comply with all requirements of the Santa Cruz Water District. 

 
8. All outdoor displays shall be maintained within the square footage approved in Application #07-32 

and shown on the design plans dated 4/30/08. 
 
Previous Conditions from Application #07-32: 
 
9. Delivery hours shall be limited to 8AM – 8PM to minimize noise impacts to neighboring residents.  

Delivery vehicles shall not be permitted to remain at idle during non-delivery hours. 
 
10. Air-conditioning equipment and other roof top equipment shall be screened from view and fall 

within the allowable city permitted decibel levels. 
 
11. Trash enclosures shall be covered, gated and maintained to provide a clean and sanitary area.  
 
12. Security lighting in the rear of the store shall be shielded to prevent light from shining on to 

neighboring properties. 
 
13. No roof equipment is to be visible to the general public.  Any necessary roof screening is to match 

the color of the building as closely as possible.  Plans for any necessary screening shall be 
submitted to the Community Development Department prior to, or in conjunction with, building 
permit submittal.  

 
14. The applicant shall comply with all requirements of the Santa Cruz Water District with regard to 

the required landscape irrigation and any other new water fixture requirements. 
 
15. The applicant shall develop, submit, and enact a plan for the use and control of their carts, 

including a plan to collect carts removed from their property. 
 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
 

6



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  7 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project and 
determined that the proposed use is permitted in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning 
District with a Conditional Use Permit.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out 
the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 

Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project and 
determined that the proposed sale of alcohol within the confines of the hotel use will not have 
a negative impact on the character and integrity of the neighborhood.  Conditions of approval 
have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity of the area. 

 
C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
The proposed project involves an amendment to an existing use permit with no expansion of 
use beyond what has currently existed.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during project review by either the Planning Department Staff or the Planning Commission. 

 
THE MOTION CARRIED ON THE FOLLOWING VOTE:  AYES:  COMMISSIONERS GRAVES, 
NEWMAN, ROUTH, SMITH, AND CHAIRPERSON ORTIZ.  NOES: NONE.  ABSENT:  NONE.  
ABSTAIN:  NONE.  
 
6. ZONING ORDINANCE DISCUSSION 

A. Chapter 17.03 DEFINITIONS 
B. Chapter 17.06 ESTABLISHMENT AND DESIGNATION OF DISTRICTS 
C. Chapter 17.09 ZONING MAPS 
D. Chapter 17.11 ARCHAEOLOGICAL/PALEONTOLOGICAL RESOURCES DISTRICT 
E. Chapter 17.12 MHE MOBILE HOME EXCLUSIVE DISTRICT 

 
Community Development Director Johnson presented the staff report. 
 
Commissioner Graves stated that reviewing the Zoning Ordinance is an important process, but is too 
early in the process as the new general plan will determine the new zoning ordinance.  
 
Commissioner Newman stated that beginning with the definitions section is difficult as the new 
ordinance will layout what will need to be defined. 
 
Commissioner Smith requested a schedule of the upcoming review of the code sections.  
 
A section by section discussion ensued: 
 
Chapter 17.03 DEFINITIONS  
17.03.010 Generally. 
 Words used in the present tense include the future, words in the singular number include the 
plural; the word “building” includes the word “structure” and the word “shall” is mandatory, not 
directory. In the coastal zone the word “structure” shall be defined as provided in Section 17.03.650 of 
this chapter. The term “city council” when used means the city council of the city of Capitola, and 
“planning commission” means the city planning commission of the city of Capitola. The word “city” 
when used shall mean the incorporated city of Capitola. (Ord. 677 § 12(A), 1989: Ord. 388 Art. 1 
(part), 1975) 
 

7



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  8 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

17.03.020 Accessory building. 
 “Accessory building” means a portion of the main building or a detached subordinate building 
located on the same lot, the use of which is purely incidental to that of the main building structure, or 
to the use of the land, and which shall not contain living or sleeping quarters, except as provided by 
Chapter 17.99 for secondary dwelling units. (Ord. 873 § 6, 2004: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.030 Accessory structures. 
 “Accessory structures” means portable buildings, storage sheds, arbors, covered patios and 
similar buildings and structures constructed and installed as secondary uses to existing principal 
buildings on a parcel. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.040 Accessory use. 
 “Accessory use” means a land use which is permitted on a building site as a secondary use to 
an existing principal permitted use. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
  
17.03.050 Agency. 
 “Agency” means an office or commercial establishment in which goods, material, or equipment 
is received for servicing, treatment or processing elsewhere. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975)   
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested expanding the definition. 
 
17.03.060 Alley. 
 “Alley” means a public or permanent private way twenty feet or less in width which affords a 
secondary means of access to abutting property. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
  
17.03.067 Amusement center. 
 “Amusement center” means any business, or portion of a business, that operates five or more 
coin-operated machines for amusement purposes (i.e., pinball machines, electronic games, etc.). 
(Ord. 536 § 1 (part), 1983) 
 
17.03.068 Assumed ground surface. 
 “Assumed ground surface” means a line on each elevation of an exterior wall or vertical 
surface which connects those points where the perimeter of the structure meets the finished grade, 
subject to the following exception: if there has been grading or filling on the property within five years 
preceding the time of the application, or proposed as part of the application, and that grading or filling 
has or would increase the height of the finished  
grade at one or more points where it would meet the perimeter of the proposed structure, the  
planning commission may measure heights from where it estimates the grade is or was before the 
grading or filling, if the commission determines that such an action is necessary to keep the height of 
the proposed structure in reasonable relationship to the heights in the neighborhood. (Ord. 642 § 1, 
1987) 
 
17.03.070 Automobile wrecking. 
 “Automobile wrecking” means the dismantling or wrecking of used motor vehicles or trailers, or 
the storage, sale or dumping of dismantled or wrecked vehicles or parts thereof. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 
(part), 1975) 
  
17.03.075 Back flow prevention device. 
 “Back flow prevention device” means a safety device used to prevent pollution or 
contamination of water supply due to the reverse flow of water from the irrigation system. (Ord. 744 § 
2 (part), 1992) 
 

8



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  9 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

Commissioner Graves suggested this definition be eliminated due to different requirements of 
the two water districts. 
 
17.03.080 Basement. 
 “Basement” means that portion of a building between floor and ceiling, which is partly below 
and partly above grade, but so located that the vertical distance from grade to the floor below is less 
than the vertical distance from grade to ceiling. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
  
Commissioner Smith and Commissioner Newman recommended thorough review of this 
definition with consideration of floor area ratio. 
 
17.03.082 Bay window. 
 “Bay window” means a window or series of windows serving as an important element of the 
building’s architecture; forming an alcove in a room and projecting outward from the wall in a 
rectangular, polygonal or curved form. (Ord. 776 § 1, 1995) 
  
17.03.085 Bed and breakfast. 
 “Bed and breakfast” means a home occupation in which there are guests as defined in Section 
17.03.280. In addition the requirements of Section 17.03.310, bed and breakfast home occupations 
must meet the following requirements: 
 A. The room(s) are rented for transient (less than thirty days) occupancy; 
 B. The total number of persons staying within the rented portion of a bed and breakfast 
premises shall at no time exceed four, regardless of the number of rooms utilized by those four 
persons; 
 C. In addition to the regular parking requirements for the premises, one parking space 
must be provided for each bedroom available to bed and breakfast guests. (Ord. 533 § 1, 1983) 
 
Commissioner Graves suggested this definition be rewritten. 
 
17.03.086 Bench. 
 “Bench” means a seat located upon, or adjacent to, public property for the accommodation of 
the public. (Ord. 775 § 1 (part), 1995) 
 
17.03.090 Block. 
 “Block” means all property fronting upon one side of a street between intersecting and 
intercepting streets or between a street and right-of-way, waterway, end of dead-end street or city 
boundary. An intercepting street shall determine only the boundary of the block on the side of the 
street which it intercepts. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.093 Bluff or cliff. 
 “Bluff” or “cliff” means the scarp or steep face of rock, decomposed rocks, sediment or soil 
resulting from erosion, faulting, folding or excavation of land mass and exceeding ten feet in height, 
and includes what we commonly know as “cliffs.” (Ord. 628 § 1 (part), 1987) 
  
17.03.110 Building,. 
 “Building” means any structure used or intended for supporting or sheltering any use or 
occupancy. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.120 Building coverage. 
 “Building coverage” means the land area covered by all buildings and accessory structures on 
a lot. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 

9



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  10 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

17.03.125 Building face. 
 “Building face” means and includes the general outer surface of a main exterior wall of a 
building. For example, a building with a rectangular plan has four main exterior walls and four building 
faces. (Ord. 775 § 1 (part), 1995) 
 
17.03.130 Building height. 
 “Building height” means the vertical distance measured form the assumed ground surface of 
the building to the highest point of the roof, ridge or parapet wall. (Ord. 642 § 2 (part), 1987: Ord. 455, 
1979: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.135 Building line. 
 “Building line” means a line established by ordinance beyond which no building may extend. A 
building line may be a property line. See curbline. (Ord. 775 § 1 (part), 1995) 
 
17.03.140 Building site. 
 “Building site” means the ground area occupied or capable of being occupied under this title by 
a building or group of buildings together with all open spaces as required by this title. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 
(part), 1975) 
 
17.03.150 Carport. 
 “Carport” means an accessory building to a residential structure, open on two, three or four 
sides and attached to, or detached from, a dwelling and established for the convenient loading or 
unloading of passengers or the storage of an automobile. (Ord. 873 § 7, 2004: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 
1975) 
 
Commissioner Newman and Chairperson Ortiz recommended thorough review of this 
definition along with consideration for creating a definition for covered parking.  
 
17.03.160 Club. 
 “Club” means an association of persons for some common nonprofit purpose, but not including 
groups organized primarily to render a service which is customarily carried on as a business. (Ord. 
388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.164 Community care facility. 
 A “community care facility” is any building which is maintained and operated to provide 
nonmedical residential care, or day-care services for children, adults or children and adults, including, 
but not limited to, the physically handicapped, mentally impaired, or incompetent persons. All 
community care facilities shall be appropriately licensed or registered pursuant to state law, unless 
exempted therefrom by state law. This definition and all other definitions relating to community care 
facilities shall be interpreted so as to be consistent with definitions found in state law or state 
administrative regulations. (Ord. 608 § 2 (part), 1986) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz commented that this definition does not incorporate any type of medical 
use.  
 
17.03.166 Community care residential facility. 
 A. A “community care residential facility” is a community care facility, providing twenty-
four-hour nonmedical care of persons in need of personal service, supervision, or assistance essential 
for sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection of the individuals. It does not include 
“child day care facility” as that term is defined in Welfare and Institutions Code § 1596.750. 
 B. A small community care residential facility is one which serves six or fewer persons, 
not counting the operators. 

10



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  11 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

 C. A large community care residential facility has seven or more residents (not counting 
operators), including retirement homes and boarding homes for the aged but not including nursing 
homes. (Ord. 608 § 2 (part), 1986) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz commented that this definition does not incorporate any type of medical 
use.  
 
Commissioner Grave suggested a more current definition for an assisted living facility. 
 
17.03.170 Convalescent hospital. 
 A “convalescent hospital” is a type of hospital which provides bed care for persons suffering 
chronic illness, or convalescent care for patients who, by reason of illness or physical infirmity, are 
unable to care for themselves properly. (Ord. 608 § 2 (part), 1986: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.180 Court. 
 “Court” means an open, unoccupied space, other than a yard, on the same lot with a building 
or buildings and bounded on two or more sides by such buildings. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Commissioner Newman suggested consideration of the use of the property when rewriting 
this definition. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz stated that the intention of this definition was to encourage the 
incorporation of a front porch or patio into the design of residences to encourage a 
community/neighborhood interaction, but the implementation has not worked well. 
 
17.03.181 Curbline. 
 “Curbline” means the line at the face of the curb nearest to the street or roadway. In the 
absence of a curb, the curbline shall be established by the city engineer. See building line. (Ord. 775 
§ 1 (part), 1995) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz recommended replacing the term city engineer with Public Work Director.  
  
17.03.182 Drip or bubble irrigation. 
 “Drip or bubble irrigation” means a network of narrow tubes or porous tubing that deliver small 
amounts of water to individual plants above or below the ground. (Ord. 744 § 2 (part), 1992) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz recommend deleting this definition. 
  
17.03.185 Drought resistant. 
 “Drought resistant” means a plant that can survive with little or no water once established. 
(Ord. 744 § 2 (part), 1992) 
  
17.03.190 Dwelling. 
 “Dwelling” means a building or portion thereof designed exclusively for residential occupancy, 
including one-family, two-family, and multiple dwellings, but not including hotels and lodging facilities. 
(Ord. 661 § 2 (part), 1988; Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
  
17.03.200 Dwelling multiple-family. 
 A. “Multiple family dwelling” when used in the context of, or with reference to, the design, 
development, construction of, or remodeling of a building or portion thereof, means a building 
designed as a residence to house two or more families, living independently of each other and doing 
their own cooking in said building, including all necessary employees of each such family, including 
apartment and group dwellings. 

11



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  12 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

 B. When used in the context of, or with reference to the use of buildings, “multiple-family 
dwelling” means using buildings or portions thereof as a residence to house two or more families, 
living independently of each other, and doing their own cooking in said building, including all 
necessary employees of each such family. “Residence,” as used in this subsection does not include 
“transient rental use” as defined in Section 17.03.686. (Ord. 687 § 3, 1990: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 
1975) 
  
17.03.210 Dwelling, one-family. 
 A. One-family dwelling” when used in the context of, or with reference to, design, 
development, construction, or remodeling means a detached building, containing one kitchen, 
designed exclusively to house not more than one family, including all necessary employees of such 
family. 
 B. When used in the context of, or with reference to, the use of a building or portion 
thereof, “one family dwelling” means used exclusively for residential occupancy by not more than one 
family, including all necessary employees of such family. “Residential occupancy” as used in this 
subsection does not include “transient rental use” as defined in Section 17.03.686. (Ord. 687 § 2, 
1990: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
  
17.03.220 Dwelling unit. 
 “Dwelling unit” means one or more rooms in a dwelling designed for occupancy by one family 
for living or sleeping purposes and having only one kitchen. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.223 Energy facility. 
 “Energy facility” means any public or private processing, producing, generating, storing, 
transmitting, or recovering facility for electricity, natural gas, petroleum, coal or other source of energy. 
(Ord. 677 § 12(B), 1989) 
 
17.03.225 External appearance. 
 “External appearance” means the architectural style, design, general arrangement, and 
components of all of the outer surfaces of an improvement, including, but not limited to, color and 
texture of building material and type and style of all windows, doors, lights, signs, and other fixtures 
appurtenant to the improvement. (Ord. 515 § 3 (part), 1982) 
 
17.03.230 Factory-built housing. 
 “Factory-built housing” means any residential building, dwelling unit or habitable room thereof 
which is either wholly manufactured or is in a substantial part manufactured at an off-site location to 
be wholly or partially assembled on another site for residential or dwelling purposes. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 
(part), 1975) 
 
17.03.240 Family. 
 “Family” means a group of persons who live together, whether at one or more addresses, on a 
relatively permanent basis. However, “single family” or “multiple family” should not be interpreted to 
prohibit a person, living alone, from residing in R-1 or R-M zones. (Ord. 690 § 1, 1990: Ord. 388 Art. 1 
(part), 1975) 
 
17.03.242 Family day care home. 
 “Family day care home” means a home that regularly provides care, protection, and 
supervision for fourteen or fewer children, in the provider’s own home, for periods of less than twenty-
four hours per day, while the parents or guardians are away, and is either a large family day care 
home or a small family day care home. (See Section 1596.78 of the California Health and Safety 
Code.) 
 A. “Large family day care home” means a home that that provides family day care for up 
to twelve children, or for up to fourteen children if certain criteria are met, as set forth in California 

12



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  13 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

Health and Safety Code Section 1597.465 and as defined in state regulations (see 22 California 
Administrative Code Sections 102352(f)(1)(B) and 102416.5(c)). These capacities include children 
under age ten who live in the licensee’s home and the assistant provider’s children under age ten. 
 B. “Small family day care home” means a home that provides family day care for up to six 
children, or for up to eight children if certain criteria are met, as set forth in California Health and 
Safety Code Section 1597.44 and as defined in regulations (see 22 California Administrative Code 
Sections 102352(f)(1)(A) and 102416.5(b)). These capacities include children under age ten who live 
in the licensee’s home. (Ord. 878 § 1, 2004: Ord. 608 § 2 (part), 1986) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested this definition incorporate any new rules and be more specific. 
 
Community Development Director Johnson stated that this definition is standard language 
from State regulations. 
 
17.03.245 Floodplain. 
 “Floodplain” means the land on either side of the creek or other watercourse which may be 
subject to flooding, and includes but is not necessarily limited to any one-hundred-year floodplain as 
determined by the Federal Flood Insurance Program. (Ord. 628 § 1 (part), 1987) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested addition other FEMA terms, such as Flood Way. 
 
17.03.246 Floor area. 
 “Floor area” means the entire floor area in all enclosed structures, without deduction for such 
features as interior walls, stairways or storage, except as permitted for one and one-half story single 
family residences pursuant to Section 17.15.100(B). It also includes covered or uncovered upper-floor 
decks; and porches and covered exterior open space in excess of one hundred fifty square feet, 
including eaves greater than eighteen inches in length. For commercial uses the floor area of patios, 
courtyards and outside dining areas primarily utilized by a business or group of related businesses, its 
customers, or its employees, as opposed to the general public. “Floor area ratio” means the gross 
floor area of all of the buildings on the lot divided by the net lot area. (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005: Ord. 
873 § 8, 2004: Ord. 775 § 1 (part), 1995) 
 
Commissioner Smith stated that courtyard is included in this definition but not "court."  
 
Chairperson Ortiz stated that accessory structures are not included in floor area.  The 
commercial use portion of the definition should be rewritten. 
 
Commissioner Newman recommended thorough review of this definition. 
 
17.03.247 Floor area, available for dining. 
 “Floor area, available for dining” means floor area in a restaurant which may be used for the 
placement of seating for the consumption of food or beverages. (Ord. 947 § 4, 2010) 
 
17.03.248 Freeway. 
 “Freeway” means a highway or expressway in respect to which the owners of abutting lands 
have no right or easement of access to or from their abutting lands or in respect to which owners have 
only limited or restricted right or easement of access. (Ord. 947 § 4, 2010; Ord. 775 § 1 (part), 1995) 
 
17.03.250 Frontage.  
 “Frontage” means that portion of all property abutting on a side of a street between two 
intersecting or terminating streets, or the end of such street if it does not meet another. (Ord. 388 Art. 
1 (part), 1975) 

13



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  14 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

Commissioner Graves suggested this definition clarify the yard areas for a corner lot and 
determine the front door location in relationship to the yard. 
 
17.03.260 Garage, parking. 
 “Parking garage” means any building or premises, except those described as a private garage, 
designed and/or used by the general public on a commercial basis for the storage only of motor 
vehicles. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.270 Garage, private. 
 “Private garage” means a detached accessory building or portion of a main building with 
capacity for not more than three motor vehicles designed and/or used for the shelter, parking or 
storage of vehicles owned or operated by the occupants of the main dwelling, including covered 
parking space or carport; provided, however, a private garage may exceed a three-vehicle capacity if 
the lot whereupon such garage is located contains, in area, not less than one thousand five hundred 
square feet for each vehicle stored. (See definition of accessory building.) (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 
1975) 
 
17.03.275 Geological hazard. 
 “Geological hazard” means a threat to life, property or public safety caused by geological or 
hydrological processes such as faulting and secondary seismic effects, including but not limited to: 
liquefaction, landsliding, erosion, flooding, tsunami or storm wave inundation. (Ord. 628 § 1 (part), 
1987) 
 
17.03.280 Guest. 
 “Guest” means any person who rents a room for sleeping purposes. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 
1975) 
 
17.03.285 Historic feature. 
 Any improvement, or group of improvements on a single site, of historic significance because 
of special aesthetic, cultural, architectural, archaeological, paleontological characteristic which has 
been so designated by the city council upon the recommendation of the planning commission. (Ord. 
515 § 3 (part), 1982) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz recommended consulting with Carolyn Swift to rewrite this definition. 
 
Commissioner Newman recommended the entire historical ordinance be rewritten, not just 
definitions. 
 
17.03.310 Home occupations. 
 “Home occupations” means any secondary activity conducted on the premises by the 
occupant of the dwelling where the home occupation is the applicant’s only place of business; where 
there are no advertising signs (except a nameplate not to exceed one square foot in size); no display 
or outside storage; no employee or assistant who is not a resident of the dwelling; no objectionable 
equipment, noise or odors; no excessive pedestrian, automobile or truck traffic introduced to the 
neighborhood; normally no goods or commodity sold on the premises; and does not provide a service 
which normally involves the purchaser being present when a significant portion of the services are 
performed. (Ord. 747, 1993: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz recommended that the nameplate be eliminated. 
 
Commissioner Graves stated that home occupations are not enforced. 
 

14



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  15 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

Commissioner Routh stated that on-line marketing has changed the meaning of home 
occupation. 
Commissioner Newman suggested that this definition be rewritten to incorporate current 
conditions. 
 
17.03.320 Hotel. 
 “Hotel” means any building or portion containing six or more guest rooms intended or designed 
to be used or which are used, rented or hired out to be occupied or which are occupied for sleeping 
purposes by guests with no provision for cooking in any individual room or suite, with access to units 
primarily from interior lobbies, courts or halls (including hotels, public and private clubs and any such 
buildings of any nature whatsoever so designed or intended to be occupied), except that jails, 
hospitals, asylums, sanitariums, orphanages, prisons, detention homes and similar buildings where 
human beings are housed or detained under legal restraint, are specifically not included. (Ord. 608 § 
2 (part), 1986: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz recommended this definition be revised and updated. 
 
17.03.322 Irrigation audit. 
 “Irrigation audit” means a process to perform site inspections, evaluate irrigation systems, and 
develop efficient irrigation schedules. (Ord. 744 § 2 (part), 1992) 
 
17.03.325 Irrigation system. 
 “Irrigation system” means a system designed to distribute water to plants artificially. (Ord. 744 
§ 2 (part), 1922) 
  
17.03.330 Junkyard. 
 “Junkyard” means an area of more than three hundred square feet of any lot or of any portion 
of the front half of any lot for the storage of junk including scrap metals or other scrap materials, 
and/or for the dismantling or wrecking of automobiles or other vehicles or machinery. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 
(part), 1975) 
 
17.03.340 Kitchen. 
 “Kitchen” means any room or part of a room used or intended or designed to be used for 
cooking or the preparation of food for a single dwelling unit, and distinct from a “mini-bar/convenience 
area” which is intended as a supplemental food preparation area within a single-family home. Such an 
area is limited to a small refrigerator, a microwave oven and a small sink with a drain size less than 
one and one-half inches. No gas line or two hundred twenty electric service is permitted within this 
area. Only one such area is permitted within a dwelling in addition to the kitchen, and internal access 
within the dwelling must be maintained. (Ord. 873 § 9, 2004: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested that this definition be revised, updated and mini-bar be a 
separate definition. 
 
17.03.345 Landscaped area. 
 “Landscaped area” means the entire parcel less the building footprint, driveways, nonirrigated 
portions of parking lots, and hardscapes. Water features are included in the calculation of the 
landscaped area. (Ord. 744 § 2 (part), 1992) 
 
Commissioner Newman suggested that pervious surfaces be incorporated into a new 
definition. 
 

15



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  16 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

17.03.350 Lodging facility. 
 “Lodging facility” means a business which rents rooms to the general public for sleeping 
purposes, but which is neither a hotel nor motel. Lodging facilities may not do any of the following: 
 A. Rent rooms in which there are cooking facilities; 
 B. Rent to persons who intend to make it their domicile or residence; 
 C. Offer leases with terms greater than twenty-nine days; 
 D. Provide the following services to its guests: (1) medical care, (2) convalescent care, or 
(3) care, protection or supervision for minors. (Ord. 661 § 1, 1988: Ord. 608 § 2 (part), 1986: Ord. 388 
Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.360 Lot. 
 “Lot” means a parcel of land under one ownership occupied or capable of being occupied by a 
building and its accessory buildings, together with such open spaces as are required under the 
regulations of this title, and having its principal frontage upon a street or place, but not including an 
alley. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.370 Lot area. 
 “Lot area” means the total horizontal area included within the lot lines of the lot, including one-
half the width of any alley or portion thereof abutting any such lot line. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.380 Lot, corner. 
 “Corner lot” means a lot situated at the junction of two or more intersecting streets, with a lot 
line thereof bordering on each of the two or more streets. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
  
17.03.390 Lot depth. 
 “Lot depth” means the horizontal distance from the street line or front line of the lot to the rear 
line, measured in the mean direction of the side lines of the lot. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
17.03.400 Lot line. 
 “Lot line” means the lines bounding a lot as defined in this chapter. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 
1975) 
 
17.03.410 Lot line, front. 
 “Front lot line” means that dimension of a lot or portion of a lot, abutting on a street except the 
side of a corner lot. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.420 Lot line, rear. 
 “Rear-lot line” means ordinarily, the line of a lot which is generally opposite the line along the 
frontage of said lot. In cases in which this definition is not applicable, the planning commission shall 
designate the rear lot line. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.430 Lot line, side. 
 “Side lot line” means any boundary line not a front line or a rear line. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 
1975) 
 
17.03.440 Lot, reversed corner. 
 “Reversed corner lot” means a corner lot, the side street line of which is substantially a 
continuation of the front line of the lot upon which it rears. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.450 Lot width. 
 “Lot width” means the horizontal distance between the side lot lines, measured at right angles 
to the lot depth at a point midway between the front and rear lot lines. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 

16



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  17 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

17.03.455 Material change. 
 “Material change” means any significant alteration, by private or public action, in the external 
appearance or surface of an improvement, landscape or vista. This shall not include ordinary 
maintenance which does not require a permit. (Ord. 515 § 3 (part), 1982) 
 
17.03.460 Modular built housing. 
 “Modular built housing” means any mass-produced or manufactured housing in modules or 
sections that are intended to be reassembled at a housing site. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.470 Motels. 
 “Motels” means a building or group of buildings containing individual sleeping or living units, 
designed for or used by automobile tourists or transient guests, with parking space conveniently 
located to each unit, including auto courts, motels or motor lodges. (Ord. 608 § 2 (part), 1986: Ord. 
388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.475 Mulch. 
 “Mulch” means any material such as leaves, bark, straw or other materials left loose and 
applied to the soil surface to reduce evaporation. (Ord. 744 § 2 (part), 1992) 
 
17.03.480 Nonconforming structure. 
 “Nonconforming structure” is defined as a structure which does not meet the current 
development standards for the district in which the structure is located. Development standards 
include, but are not limited to setbacks, height or lot coverage regulations of the district, but do not 
include standards contained in the Uniform Codes, such as the Building Code, adopted in Section 
15.04.010 because those codes contain their own specific regulations regarding structures that do not 
meet current regulations. (Ord. 761 § 2 (part), 1993: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Commissioner Graves recommended clarification about the useful life of a non-conforming 
situation. 
 
Commissioner Newman recommended thorough review of this definition as currently different 
circumstances allow for different interpretations and implementation. 
 
17.03.490 Nonconforming activity. 
 “Nonconforming activity” is defined as an activity, business or enterprise which was legal at the 
time it was established but which is not presently a permitted or conditional use in the zoning district 
where the activity, business or enterprise is located, or does not conform to current parking 
requirements. In residential zones it also means having a greater density of dwelling units than is 
presently allowed in the district. (Ord. 761 § 2 (part), 1993: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.500 Nursing home. 
 “Nursing home” is deemed to include any occupancy for the reception and care of persons 
both ambulatory and nonambulatory which has been duly licensed by the State Health Department 
and the State Fire Marshal’s Office. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested this definition be combined with Community Care Facility.  
 
17.03.510 Parking lot. 
 “Parking lot” means an open area of land, a yard or other open space on a lot other than a 
street or alley, used for or designed for temporary parking for more than four automobiles and 
available for public use, whether free, for compensation, or as an accommodation for clients or 
customers. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 

17



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  18 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

17.03.520 Parking space. 
 “Parking space” means land or space privately owned, covered or uncovered, laid out for, 
surfaced, and used or designed to be used for temporary parking or storage of standard motor 
vehicles. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Commissioner Routh recommended this definition be redefined. 
 
Commissioner Graves suggested specifying the actual dimensions for standard and compact 
spaces. 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested that residential and commercial parking spaces be separately 
defined. 
 
Commissioner Smith suggested that covered and uncovered parking spaces be defined 
separately. 
 
17.03.525 Public works. 
 “Public works” means the following: 
 A. All production, storage, transmission, and recovery facilities for water, sewerage, 
telephone and other similar utilities owned or operated by any public agency or by any utility subject to 
the jurisdiction of the Public Utilities Commission, except for energy facilities; 
 B. All public transportation facilities, including streets, roads, highways, public parking lots 
and structures, ports, harbors, airports, railroads, and mass transit facilities and stations, bridges, 
trolley wires and other related facilities; 
 C. All publicly financed recreational facilities, all projects of the State Coastal 
Conservancy, and any development by a special district; 
 D. All community college districts. (Ord. 677 § 12(C), 1989) 
 
17.03.526 Rain-sensing override device. 
 “Rain-sensing override device” means a system which automatically shuts off the irrigation 
system when it rains. (Ord. 744 § 2 (part), 1992) 
 
17.03.527 Residence. 
 “Residence” as used in this title means a dwelling unit, inhabited by an individual or a family, 
on a non-transient basis. (Ord. 690 § 2, 1990) 
 
17.03.530 Residential care home. 
 “Residential care home” means a family residence in which room, board, and non-medical 
personal care services including supervision of and assistance with dressing, eating, personal 
hygiene, daily activity, health maintenance, transportation and protective safeguards for one to six 
adults are provided. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested this definition be combined with Community Care Facility.  
 
17.03.535 Restaurant. 
 “Restaurant” means a retail food service establishment in which food or beverage is prepared 
and sold for on-site consumption. (Ord. 947 § 5, 2010) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz recommended defining different types of food service. 
 

18



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  19 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

17.03.550 Schools, elementary, junior, and senior high. 
 “Elementary, junior and senior high schools” means an institution of learning which offers 
instruction in the several branches of learning and study required to be taught in the public schools by 
the Education Code of the state. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
Commissioner Routh suggested redefining this definition. 
 
17.03.570 Service stations. 
 “Service stations” means a retail business establishment supplying gasoline and oil and minor 
accessories for automobiles. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.575 Sprinkler head. 
 “Sprinkler head” means a device which sprays water through a nozzle. (Ord. 744 § 2 (part), 
1992) 
 
17.03.580 Stable, private. 
 “Private stable” means an accessory building with capacity for not more than two horses; 
provided, however, that the capacity of a private stable may be increased if the lot whereon such 
stable is located contains area of not less than twenty thousand square feet for each horse stabled, 
and to be used exclusively by the owners thereof and not kept for remuneration, hire or sale. (Ord. 
388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.600 Story. 
 “Story” means that portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor and 
the upper surface of the floor next above, except that the topmost story shall be that portion of a 
building included between the upper surface of the topmost floor and the ceiling or roof above. If the 
finished floor level directly above a basement, cellar or unused under-floor space is more than six feet 
above grade as defined in this chapter for more than fifty percent of the total perimeter or is more than 
twelve feet above grade as defined in this chapter at any point, such basement, cellar or unused 
under-floor space shall be considered as a story. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested redefining this definition. 
 
17.03.610 Story, half. 
 “Half story” means a partial story under a gable, hip or gambrel roof, the wall plates of which 
are at least two opposite exterior walls and which are not more than four feet above the floor plate of 
the second floor, and may include shed or dormer projections from those walls. Dormers may 
constitute not more than one-third of the length of the wall upon which they are located, whether as a 
single unit or multiple dormers. (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005: Ord. 873 § 10, 2004: Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 
1975) 
 
17.03.620 Street. 
 “Street” means a public way more than twenty feet in width which affords a primary or principal 
means of access to abutting property. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.630 Street, side. 
 “Side street” means that street bounding a corner lot and which extends in the same general 
direction as the line determining the length of the lot. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.640 Structural alterations. 
 “Structural alterations” means any change in the supporting members of a building, such as 
bearing walls, columns, beams, girders, floor, ceiling or roof joists and roof rafters, or change in roof 

19



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  20 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

exterior lines which would prolong the life of the supporting members of a building. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 
(part), 1975) 
 
17.03.650 Structure. 
 “Structure” means anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires permanent 
location on the ground, or attached to something having a permanent location on the ground. 
Pipelines, poles, wires and similar installations erected or installed by public utility districts or 
companies shall not be construed as structures requiring a permit under this title. 
 B. In the coastal zone, “structure” includes, but is not limited to, any building, road, pipe, 
flume, conduit, siphon, aqueduct, telephone line, and electrical power transmission and distribution 
line. These structures do require a coastal development permit except as exempted under Section 
17.46.050 of this title. (Ord. 677 § 12(D), 1989: Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz suggested redefining this definition.  
 
17.03.660 Supermarket. 
 “Supermarket” means a retail food store with a gross floor area exceeding five thousand 
square feet. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.670 Trailer, automobile. 
 “Automobile trailer” means a vehicle with or without motor power, designed to be drawn by a 
motor vehicle when necessary and to be used for human habitation and for carrying persons and 
property, including trailer coach or house trailer. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.680 Trailer park. 
 “Trailer park” means any area or tract of land intended, maintained or designed for the 
purpose of supplying a location for accommodation for one or more automobile trailers or mobile 
homes for human habitation, including trailer camps or trailer parks, whether or not a charge is made 
for the use of the trailer space and park facilities. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.686 Transient rental use. 
 “Transient rental use” means, in R-1 or R-M district, the occupancy for hire of real property or 
portion thereof for a period of less than thirty consecutive calendar days. “For hire,” for purposes of 
this section, does not include: 
 A. The owner or long term lessee of the property, without consideration, allowing family or 
friends to use the property; 
 B. An arrangement whereby the owner or long term lessee of the property agrees to a 
short term trade with another property owner or long term lessee whereby the sole consideration is 
each concurrently using the other’s property. (Ord. 687 § 1, 1990) 
 
Commissioner Routh commented that this definition conflicts with the CV/TRO Zoning District 
regulations. 
 
17.03.690 Use. 
 “Use,” when utilized in reference to a proposal to create or modify a building, means the kinds 
of intended occupancies for which the building is arranged or designed. In other contexts, “use” refers 
to the predominant activity or class of activities that will be allowed within a building, or upon a parcel 
or collection of adjacent parcels. Where it is relevant to distinguish, the phrase “design-use” will be 
utilized to refer to the first meaning above; and “activity-use” will be utilized for the second above-
stated meaning. (Ord. 817 § 1, 2000: Ord. 388 Art 1 (part), 1975) 
EN-DETAIL DEFINITION 

20



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  21 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

17.03.692 Valve. 
 “Valve” means a device used to control the flow of water in the irrigation system. (Ord. 744 § 2 
(part), 1992) 
 
17.03.695 Vista. 
 “Vista” means a long view, or prospect, especially one through or along an avenue, as 
between rows of trees; also, the trees, structures, or other forming the avenue or view. (Ord. 515 § 3 
(part), 1982) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz recommended utilizing the term "view shed" instead of vista. 
 
17.03.700 Warehouse. 
 “Warehouse” means a building used primarily for the more or less temporary storage of 
commercial goods to be sold elsewhere. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
Chairperson Ortiz commented that this definition is vague and suggested redefining this 
definition. 
 
17.03.710 Yard. 
 “Yard” means an open space, other than a court, on the same lot with a building, unoccupied 
and unobstructed from the ground upward, except for such encroachments as provided in the district 
regulations of this title. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.720 Yard, front. 
 “Front yard” means a yard extending across the full width of the lot, the depth of which is the 
minimum horizontal distance between the front line of the lot and the nearest line of the main building 
or enclosed or covered porch. On a corner lot the front line of the lot shall ordinarily be construed as 
the least dimension of the lot fronting on a street. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.730 Yard, rear. 
 “Rear yard” means a yard extending across the full width of the lot, and measured between the 
rear line of the main building or enclosed or covered porch nearest the rear line of the lot; the depth of 
the required rear yard shall be measured horizontally. (Ord. 388 Art. 1 (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.740 Yard, side. 
 “Side yard” means a yard on each side of the main building extending from the front yard to 
the rear yard, the width of each yard being measured between the side line of the lot and the nearest 
part of the main building or enclosed or covered porch. (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
 
17.03.750 Wrecking yard. 
 See “Junkyard.” (Ord. 388 Art. l (part), 1975) 
  
 
Chapter 17.06 ESTABLISHMENT AND DESIGNATION OF DISTRICTS  
 
17.06.010 Purpose. 
 The purpose of this title is to designate such land use regulations and a zoning plan for the city 
as are deemed necessary to encourage the most appropriate use of land; to enhance and stabilize 
the value of property; to provide open space for light and air and to prevent and fight fires; to prevent 
undue concentration of population; to promote orderly community development; to lessen congestion 
on streets; to facilitate adequate provisions for community utilities, such as transportation, schools, 
parks and other public requirements; and to promote health, safety and the general welfare, all in 
accordance with a comprehensive plan. (Ord. 388 § 2.01, 1977) 

21



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  22 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

 
17.06.020 Establishment of land use regulations and city districts. 
 In order to classify land within the city, to regulate and restrict the location and use of 
buildings, or other purposes, to regulate and limit the height, number of stories, exterior design, size of 
buildings and other structures hereafter erected or altered; to regulate and determine the size of yards 
and other open spaces; and to regulate and limit the density of population, and for said purpose to 
divide the city into districts of such number, shape and area as may be deemed best suited to carry 
out these regulations and provide for their enforcement, the city creates the following districts: 
A-P — Archaeological/paleontological resource district 
R-1 — Single-family residence district 
R-M — Multiple-family residence district 
C-V — Central village district 
RRO — Riverview Avenue residential overlay district (See Section 17.21.100(B)) 
CAO — Cherry Avenue overlay district (See Section 17.21.100(B)) 
C-R — Commercial/residential district 
C-N — Neighborhood commercial district (See Ordinance 658 which amends Chapter 17.24) 
C-C — Community commercial district 
P/OS — Parks and open space district 
V-S — Visitor serving 
P-O — Professional office district 
I-P — Industrial park district 
P-D — Planned development district 
P-F — Public facilities district 
C-Z — Coastal zone combining district 
A-R — Automatic review district 
G-H — Geologic hazard district 
F-P — Floodplain combining district 
TRO — Transient rental use overlay district (See municipal code Chapter 17.19) 
 (Ord. 708 § 1, 1991; Ord. 696 § 1, 1990; Ord. 677 § 13(A), 1989: Ord. 388 § 2.02, 1975) 
 
17.06.030 District boundaries. 
 Districts aforesaid and the boundaries of such districts for the regulation of the uses of land 
and buildings are shown upon the zoning map as set forth in Chapter 17.09 of this title. (Ord. 677 § 
13(B), 1989: Ord. 388 § 2.03, 1975) 
 
17.06.040 Regulations applicable by districts. 
 Except as provided in Chapter 9.36 regarding temporary activities, no land shall be used, and 
no building or structure shall be erected, constructed, reconstructed, enlarged, structurally altered, 
moved or used for any purpose other than is permitted in the district in which such building or land is 
located, as shown upon the zoning map, except in accordance with the regulations established by this 
title for said district and in accordance with the general regulations of Chapter 17.81, and 
nonconforming use provisions of Chapter 17.72. Adjustment and variation of regulations and 
provisions in this title may be applied for as provided in Chapter 17.66. (Ord. 507 (part), 1981: Ord. 
388 § 2.04, 1975) 
 
 
Chapter 17.09 ZONING MAPS  
 
17.09.010 Zoning map of the city of Capitola. 
 A. From and after April 27, 1989, the zoning map (see Section 17.06.030) of the city shall 
be that certain “City of Capitola Zoning Map” which the community development director has filed with 
the city clerk and the city clerk has certified and dated April 7, 1989. 

22



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  23 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

 B. An amendment of the zoning map or of any part, extension, or amendment thereof may 
be made, and changes in symbols, legends, classifications, notations, references or other matters 
shown thereon may be made, by the preparation and adoption of a new zoning map or part thereof. 
Within the coastal zone, revisions of the zoning map shall be subject to the provisions of Section 
17.69.120 of this title. 
 C. Each amendment of the zoning map shall be dated and shall be identified as an 
amendment to this section of the municipal code. 
 D. The zoning map, including all amendments hereafter adopted, shall govern the 
administration and enforcement of all regulations contained in this title and issuance of permits. (Ord. 
677 § 14, 1989: Ord. 388 Art. 3, 1975) 
 
Commissioner Graves commented that there needs to be a clearer interpretation of the zoning 
maps. 
 
Commissioner Smith commented that the zoning map colors need to be more distinct to better 
define the zones. 
 
 
Chapter 17.11 ARCHAEOLOGICAL/PALEONTOLOGICAL RESOURCES DISTRICT  
 
17.11.010 Intent. 
 The purpose of this section is to provide development standards which assure the 
maintenance and protection of Capitola archaeological/paleontological resources. New land uses and 
development, both public and private, shall be considered compatible with this purpose only where 
they incorporate all site planning and design features necessary to avoid or mitigate impacts to 
archaeological resources. (Ord. 677 § 5 (part), 1989) 
 
17.11.020 Coastal development permit requirements. 
 Development proposed within seven hundred fifty feet of a known archaeological/ 
paleontological resource, as identified through the survey report, or as shown on current Capitola 
resource maps or other available information, shall be required to obtain a coastal development 
permit. (Ord. 677 § 5 (part), 1989) 
 
17.11.030 Archaeological survey report requirement. 
 A. An archaeological survey report shall be required for any development located within: 
 1. “Archaeological/Paleontological Sensitivity Areas” as mapped on city of Capitola 
resource map (LUP p. 19, Map I-1); 
 2. Seven hundred fifty feet of a known archaeological resource; or 
 3. An area with a probability of containing archaeological resources, as determined 
through the planner’s onsite investigation or other available information. 
 B. The survey report shall be required by, submitted to and approved by the city prior to 
the application being considered complete. Two copies of the report shall be submitted 
 C. The survey report shall be prepared, at the applicant’s expense, by a qualified 
archaeologist, as included on the city’s list of archaeological consultants or by a member of the 
Society of Professional Archaeologists. 
 D. Where construction on, or construction impacts to, an identified archaeological or 
paleontological site cannot be avoided, as verified in the archaeological report prepared for the 
project, a mitigation plan shall be required for the project. Prior to the application being considered 
complete, the plan shall be required by, submitted to and approved by the city. The plan shall be 
prepared at the applicant’s expense by a qualified archaeologist, either on the city’s list of 
archaeological consultants or as a member of the Society of Professional Archaeologists. Included in 
the plan shall be recommended preservation measures in accordance with the guidelines of the State 
Office of Historic Preservation and the State of California Native American Heritage Commission. The 

23



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  24 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

consulting archaeologist shall file the report with the State Office of Historic Preservation and where 
the plan contains recommendations that will impose any continuing restrictions or obligations on the 
property, an agreement approved by the city attorney, binding the property’s owner to the restrictions 
or requirements, shall be recorded. Such agreement shall list the official file number of the report and 
the location of the document. 
 E. The recommended mitigation measures contained in the archaeological survey report 
prepared for the site shall be made condition(s) of approval. 
 F. Where a mitigation plan has been prepared for a proposed development, a condition of 
project approval shall be that: 
 1. The preservation measures shall be undertaken and completed prior to the issuance of 
building or grading permits; or 
 2. Where appropriate according to the recommendations contained in the mitigation plan, 
the preservation measures shall be undertaken concurrent with grading or other soil-disturbing 
activities and shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation plan, as a condition of the grading 
or building permit; and 
 3. The results of the preservation. activities shall be compiled into a final report prepared 
by the archaeologist and submitted to the city prior to the issuance of building or grading permits. Two 
copies of the report shall be submitted. 
 G. The report shall be prepared according to the report standards of the Society of 
Professional Archaeologists and must include, at a minimum, a field survey by the archaeologist, 
survey of available state resource information at the Northwest Regional Information Center of the 
California Archaeological Inventory, description of the site’s sensitivity and any identified 
archaeological resources, appropriate levels of development on the site, and recommended mitigation 
measures. The report may be required to include additional information, according to the 
circumstances of the particular site. 
 H. An archaeological survey report may be waived by the director of planning under the 
following circumstances: 
 1. A previous report was prepared for the site by a qualified archaeologist, as included on 
the city’s list of archaeological consultants or as a member of the Society of Professional 
Archaeologists; and 
 2. The report clearly and adequately included the currently-proposed development site 
within the scope of its survey; or 
 3. The proposed development does not involve land clearing or land disturbance. (Ord. 
677 § 5 (part), 1989) 
 
17.11.040 Environmental assessment requirement. 
 All development proposed on parcels with known archaeological resources, as identified 
through the survey report, shall be subject to environmental assessment under the CEQA guidelines. 
(Ord. 677 § 5 (part), 1989) 
 
17.11.050 Development standards. 
 A. Development proposed on parcels with an identified archeological site shall be 
designed and located so as to avoid development on or impacts to the site. Alternative siting or 
location, reduction of project size, and other techniques shall be utilized where that will result in 
reduced impact to or nondisturbance of the archaeological site. 
 B. Development on parcels with an archaeological site, as identified through an 
archaeological report prepared for the site, shall be subject to the mitigation measures of the 
archaeological survey report as conditions of approval, to be completed prior to the issuance of 
building or grading permits. (Ord. 685 § 13, 1989; Ord. 677 § 5 (part), 1989) 
 
Commissioner Newman commented that the section is well written, but noted that a coastal 
permit is required for inland areas, which seems to be poorly worded and needs clarification.  
He suggested a thorough review of the code section and clarification in the definition. 

24



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  25 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

 
 
Chapter 17.12 MHE MOBILE HOME EXCLUSIVE DISTRICT  
Note 
* Prior history: Ord. 476. 
 
17.12.010 Applicability. 
 The regulations in this chapter shall apply in all MHE districts. (Ord. 576 § 1 (part), 1984) 
 
17.12.020 Principal permitted uses. 
 The following are principal permitted uses in an MHE district: mobile home parks. (Ord. 576 § l 
(part), 1984) 
 
17.12.030 Accessory uses. 
 The following are accessory uses permitted in an MHE district: accessory uses in buildings 
customarily appurtenant to any principally permitted use. (Ord. 576 § l (part), 1984) 
 
17.12.040 Conditional uses. 
 The following are conditional uses in an MHE district, subject in each case to the securing of a 
use permit as provided in Chapter 17.60: 
 A. Home occupation; 
 B. Offices incidental and necessary to conduct of a mobile home park use, including 
single-family dwellings; 
 C. Public facilities and utilities; 
 D. Single-family dwellings which are located on the mobile home park parcel or on 
separate parcels of no less than five thousand one hundred square feet; 
 E. One sign for each public street upon which the property abuts for purposes of 
identifying the principal use therein conducted. (Ord. 648, 1988; Ord. 576 § 1 (part), 1984) 
 
17.12.050 Minimum lot area. 
 For vacant property hereafter rezoned to MHE, the minimum lot shall be five acres. For mobile 
home parks existing at the time of rezoning to MHE the minimum lot size shall be five acres or the 
existing lot size, whichever is less. (Ord. 576 § l (part), 1984) 
 
17.12.060 Architectural and site review. 
 Architectural and site review approval shall be secured for any use in an MHE district. (Ord. 
576 § l (part), 1984) 
 
 
7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 
Community Development Director Johnson provided the Commission a status update on the following 
items:  The GPAC held a community workshop pertaining to 41st Avenue.  The next meeting will be 
held on August 7th to discuss the Bay Avenue corridor.  The Planning Commission will be reviewing 
some Housing Element action items; the Police Department has moved into the remodeled offices; 
the status of the RDA will be discussed at the 8/11/11 meeting; code enforcement will be actively 
enforcing banners and signs. 
 
8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Commissioner Smith and Commissioner Routh will be absent from the October meeting.  
 

25



CAPITOLA CITY PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – AUGUST 4, 2011  26 
 

P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\08-04-11 PC Draft Minutes.doc 

9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 8:46 p.m. to a Regular Meeting of the Planning 
Commission to be held on Thursday, September 1, 2011 at 7:00 p.m., in the City Hall Council 
Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 
 
 
Approved by the Planning Commission on September 1, 2011 
 
 
________________________________ 
       Danielle Uharriet, Minute Clerk 

26



Item #: 4.A 

 
S T A F F  R E P O R T 

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  AUGUST 23, 2011 (AGENDA:  SEPTEMBER 1, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: 1545 LINCOLN AVENUE   #11-071  APN: 034-041-14 

Design Permit to demolish a single-family residence and construct a new two-story 
single-family residence in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

 Property Owner:  Santa Cruz Capital, LLC/ Peter Tiemann, filed 6/29/11 
  Representative:  Frank Ho 
 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is proposing to demolish an existing one-story single-family residence and construct a 
new 1,819 square foot two-story single-family structure with an attached garage at 1545 Lincoln in the 
R-1 (Single Family Residence) zoning district. The use is consistent with the General Plan, Zoning 
Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
 

STRUCTURAL DATA 
 

SETBACKS Required Proposed  
Front Yard     

 Driveway 20’ 20’  
 1st Story 15’ 15’  
 2nd Story 20’ 20’  

Rear Yard     
 1st Story 16’ 16’  
 2nd Story 16’ 21’-11”  

Side Yard     
 1st Story 10’ (l) & 4’ (r) 10’ (l) & 5’ (r)  

 2nd Story 10’ (l) & 6’ (r) 12’ (l) & 6’ (r)  

     
HEIGHT  25’ 24’-8”  
     
FLOOR AREA RATIO Lot Size MAX (57%) Proposed (57%)  
     

  3,200 sq. ft   1,824 sq. ft. 1,819 sq. ft  
 

27



 
 

 Habitable 
Space 

Garage Covered 
Porch 

Total 

Proposed First Story 946 sq ft. 233 sq. ft. 0 sq. ft.** 1,179 sq. ft. 

Proposed Second Story 640 sq. ft. - - 640 sq. ft. 

Proposed TOTAL  1,586 sq. ft. 233 sq. ft. 0 sq. ft.** 1,819 sq. ft. 
 
PARKING Required Proposed  
 1 covered space 

1 uncovered space 
1 covered space 
1 uncovered space 

 

Total 2 spaces 2 spaces  
** There is a credit of 150 sq. ft. for first floor covered porches. Therefore, the 90 sq. ft. does not count 
towards the projects FAR. 
 
 

ARCHITECTURAL AND SITE REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
On July 27, 2011, the Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application.   
 

• City Architect Frank Phanton complimented the design of the house.  
• Public Works Director Steve Jesberg conditioned that the development implement at least one 

low impact development BMP from the Slow it. Spread it. Sink it. Homeowner’s Guide to 
Greening Stormwater Runoff by the Resource Conservation District of Santa Cruz County. 

• Historian Carolyn Swift explained that she had reviewed the historic report prepared for the 
structure, and concluded that the structure was not historically significant to Capitola.   

• Building Official Mark Wheeler informed the applicants of the building permit process, including 
green building, fire sprinkler and survey requirements. 

• Senior Planner Bane requested details for the new fence, and noted that utilities would need to 
be undergrounded, and that the applicant should contact PG&E and the Soquel Creek Water 
District to begin approvals through those entities.   

 
DISCUSSION 
 
The subject property is a flat 3,200 square foot lot within a developed single-family neighborhood.  
The existing single story single-family home is proposed to be demolished, and a new two-story home 
constructed.  The new home will consist of 1,586 square feet of living space and a 233 square foot 
one-car garage. 
 
The proposed home is of a fairly contemporary style, employing a mix of materials including stucco 
walls, tile roof, and wood trim.  A color and materials board will be available for review at the Planning 
Commission meeting.  No trees are proposed for removal, and all new landscaping is proposed for 
the front of the home, as indicated on the landscape plan provided.  Curb and gutter currently exists 
along a portion of the site, but no sidewalk will be required as the site is located in a curb, gutter and 
sidewalk exempt area. 
 
The project conforms to the R-1 district development standards, including height, setbacks, parking 
and FAR requirements. 
 
 
 
  

28



 
 

Historical 
 

The existing house proposed for demolition is a small one-story wood-frame structure that appears to 
have been constructed in the late nineteenth or early twentieth century.  It was moved to the lot 
sometime between 1910 and 1927 and subsequently enlarged and altered.  The house is in poor to 
fair condition, having lost its physical integrity to numerous alterations over the years.   
 
An historic evaluation (Attachment B) was prepared by Anthony Kirk and peer reviewed by City 
Historian Carolyn Swift.  It was concluded that the house would not meet the criteria for qualification 
into the California Register of Historical Resources, and would not be a significant historic resource 
under CEQA.  The house is therefore not subject to CEQA, and staff can support the demolition of the 
house. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve project application #11-071 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
1.  The project approval consists of demolition of a one-story single-family house and construction a 

new two-story 1,819 square foot single-family residence at 5040 Garnet Street. 
 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be approved 

by the Planning Commission. 
 
3.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 a.m. – 

4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 
 
4.  The utilities shall be underground to the nearest utility pole in accordance with PG&E and Public 

Works Department requirements.  A note shall be placed on the final building plans indicating this 
requirement. 

 
5.  Curb and gutter that is currently deteriorated or is damaged during construction shall be repaired 

or replaced, as determined by and to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director. 
 

6.  An encroachment permit shall be acquired for any work performed in the right-of-way. 
 
7.  A drainage plan or design shall be submitted with the final building plans, to the satisfaction of the 

Public Works Director. 
 

8.  The project shall implement at least one low impact development BMP from the Slow it. Spread it. 
Sink it. Homeowner’s Guide to Greening Stormwater Runoff by the Resource Conservation District 
of Santa Cruz County. 

 
9.  The final landscape plan shall be submitted with the building permit application and will include the 

specific number of plants of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation system to be utilized. 
Front yard landscaping shall be installed prior to final building occupancy. 

 
10. Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to assure compliance with the City of 

Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.  Any appropriate fees shall be paid prior to 
building permit issuance. 

29



 
 

 
11. Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development Director. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
 Planning Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 

Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the development 
standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District.  Conditions of approval have 
been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local 
Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the Planning 

Commission have all reviewed the project.  The project conforms to the development 
standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning District.  Conditions of approval have 
been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity of the 
neighborhood. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
 This project involves construction of a new single-family residence in the R-1 (single family 

residence) Zoning District.  Section 15303 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction 
of a single-family residence in a residential zone.   

 
 
Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane                     
     Senior Planner 
 
Attachment A - Project Plans 
Attachment B – Historic Evaluation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\Lincoln 1545 9-1-11 PC.docx 

30



A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 A31

I 

:1.17'-·0" 

\' 
~ 
\\__13.. 
~ I'G.II:. 

""''"'~"'·-·-·-"" 
1545 

~ 

L 

t 

iff!(:(li?~J'F) II''&· ~·~~~ 
'"'' WI ~ % 
II ' I 

"<-~ ~ ?:! 
flt @ 
~~ ~ !ifip/Y .·<·,,~;~0' , 

"'"'"·::::::''" "'"": ,r/' ··· ··;;: ,,y~l 
i'A,,,.;:.%1w///10,i;/' ,,,%' ·.~::: .• ~w.l'..r/.ru.:..:z:,._ .. .:.::..fiA 

1555 

® WEST ELEVATION 
OJ w f :J!Jd'"-1'·0'' 

~or- -

~ 

~ 
~ 

~ 
nltSTfl.OORUwtGI. t4W 

"""""' """ $[CCNI) flOOR U'oHl: MOSiif' 

mTAL UWIO Jllf.k l.:MSF 
'JCTAL&I..IIl.l»tG«A:. 1.&1W 

-~7:1• J.200Sf' •1,8a:W 

AROI1miiJRJOL 
N11 PU>l PLAN, ltOCif PI..AH ADLVAliONS 

A0.2 1STA:2HOflOQII:.tlll:iEAD&AC~tAW,IIlQCIF 
PI.AH.I..AND$CAI'£ PlN4 .. tlr:IS'JM 
txmt1DR W:VA'IkltS 

.U.t fllm'n.DCIII'IJMANCIIICCliOtG 

KCOND ftCIOiit NID KC)QH& 

P!Oj!;•:t: 

SuiiiJCiw20ar••~l 
1>-11 Po;l\!1 TI:III\:;11111 
M1!: tl~u J1~~!rJ 

N..,wCIIGiullll·iolll"~ 
1114:.Lm.:.olnAwlllJ<! 
I.:Jpltol:.., CA\1~010 

Appllc;,n~OIVll<•'· 

StmWWnJ~C.JpHul 

Mr PtltOI r ... nwnn 
Mttl HuiJ~<.~IIf.l 
I· tow Cu~tolll Hvnlt.~ 
16G04;.ltdAIIUmi<J 
C<~tJltOI.J,CAi.lGOIO 

~CII[I~•:I: 

S'IUDIO Gt ARCHITECTS, inc 
1~·160S<HiliVgaAvo 

.S\IIIJIOIJI.I,CA'J5070 
r: (•tOll) a~25IX'.O 
F 1~06)!:71 th::!:J 
EmJII. FRANKIJ·I1)u••'IAf-II'X).COM 

S fi1UCTURJ: Et·~f.!ilroJ~I:.R. 

&@CJ'll 



32

I. 

(C) FIRST AND SECOND FLOOR AREA DIAGRAM CALCULATION 0 
~ 118'1'·0' 

FIRST FLOOR.: ~lOOR: -- ...... ,... 
@ 10'-41"1120'-:sr .. :riO.~ 

~~ 
~-·"'~ 

@ tr-u'"ll4'-a" 

C) ~·-r•7"-IO" . .,_ 
C) n'-10"xU'-1ol" . """" C} lo'-1~'-7' 

~ "''-1r-=·-,or .. ® ,_, . .,._oj" 

0 11"-7r....,·-ur .. ~7.Hsr 
6) 14'-'lf..tl"-2" 

@~-···"' e 10'-4f"x20'-:J" • ZIO.IW 

() .. _,•Jdt-10" - ... ., 
0 1:r-r.t.:s"-u~ . 108.0t!W 

"""- . .............. 
fl& .l"-11~4'-~ .. J;uw' ...,,_ 

-~07tif~ ® ¥HIOWMO..I!C1'<1<t".tiOTC'IJLIMT 

WTD.lVA'JKit 90U1H ELlVA"'IIH 

1101 EU:YA'rll:* HCIRJH D.IVATION 

{i)) EXISTING EXTERIOR ELEVATION . @ 
~ 1/S'•1'·1'.l 

L 

' \ 
I 
I 
I 

r'----,------,11 
I 
I 
I 
I 

{8) ROOF PLAN (Z) 
Baj W f 3/llj''•t'.O: 

~r- -

LOW WATER USAGE LANDSCAPE 

@ 

0 
F:"':l 
L.:J -

CARRISSA MACRO CARPA -
NATAL PLUM 

PHORMIUIA TENAX - NEW 
ZEALAND FlAX 

PRUNUS CAROUNA 
LAUREL CHEERY 

6UCHLOE DACTYLOIDES -
9UFFALO GRASS 

GROUND COVER BACCHARIS TI\IN 
PEAK - DWARF COYOTE 9RUSH 
TI\IN PEAK 

(A) LANDSCAPE PLAN @ 
A 0 al "'t.J :.l/1G" 1'·0'~ 
~r-

::iJill:l C:i1Jl.0/jl'•ll~ol 

M1.P"1"1 Tialtt:.lllll 
Mr~ 1-J<orJtan~ 

N•IW CLIOl1>11l i-10111.:~ 
16•16UitclllAvt!IU.J~ 

Co~II.:Oki,l;A\15010 

Appll~<lll,O'<~l'•' 

San~;_, Cttt~ Qlj.lll::al 
Mr P!Jt<orl'•<.un<onn 
Mru HuiJiw·rg 
N<!w Cu~loll\ H.:.nruu 
ll:l(jQ43td/l,v.JtoLIII 

C:Jpilcl:l,CA!.'ISOIO 

Arcllrlecr: 

STUDIO~ I AFICHI'fEGlS, lr1c 
l::!·l!lrJSu.r~l<:o(laAve 

Sar;>l'-'f.J:., C:A>!~Ulu 
T(·IOEI)6!ii:2.50:.,\1 
I' (•ICill)Srli.IWJ 
Emilii:T"RANI<l .. HC),I!~YAHOCJC<~M 

STRUCl\Ji~E ENGINEER 

&@o~ 

~ 



33

I 

L 

"' I 
"" N 

"' I 
·:.w 

" 

"c1J 
I 

i() 

,-----r--------------------------------------1 

~i ;::, 

~I 
:too ,..., 
01 
~· .,I 
~~ -II 

I 
i 

s 

s 

2 )., 

r----·····-··· 
__ !~,~~ 

1~1· ·-rr=--
DIN. 

' g ....... 
I 

-··l··- -· -·- - ·-- -· ..... ··-- .......... . 

BEDROOM 
1 

GARAGE 
s 

sli·r 

~ ~1, . -·-·-··-·-··-·---·-··--+·····-·! I -H~ 

1~'-1 1/~- w·-~ 1/2" 

I J ~ 
I 

i 
I 
i 
I 
I 

I 
I 

! 
I 
I 

i 1 1 L_____ _ _____________________________________ j 
LINCOLN AVENUE 

•m~-· ••. il 
•1 ,_·:·~ 
:::; 

·~;:i:~~~~::~:~~i~~{:::::;:::::::}il 
P10jO:I;[• 

S.UI!:lGililCIIpiiJI 
Mt l~r;t.,;r 11~11\attn 

/,hsHittJIIIni:J 
N .. w Clltllulll ~l~;~tnol~ 
I:J•I~i.tiii;OIIlAWIIUil 

Capllola,CA!.l~10 

Apiollle«nL'OWtl"l 

S:;nt:.i,.";I\I;:CJpltJI 
M1 Pa!E111'1i.illl<lllll 

M1~ HuiJillng 
N<~WCUSII.liHI'iO:.IIl!l~ 
ll:!&l~:.ltOA·.N.lnuo: 

G:..r,nolu,VAI.lSOIO 

Alcllllt:'"'· 

S'll)I:JIO 61 Af1C!-II"IEGT~l.lnc 
l~·lllUS:tiOiug<~AvG 

Sall•lo~;i,CA~10 
T (·108) 0112 ~020 
P(-wa)er11'1V:l:l 
Em.JII f'!'IANKL.I·IO·ri•YAHQOGf)M 

STRUGI\JREEN\iiiNEf.:R 

f.,JQ fhM~IIJil 0;.11> 

Dro:~wr1By 

S24:lOII 

Sti.j>jtliil(:; 

Flflf:iT I:LOOR PLAN 
SEC110NS 

Sheet No 

&~o'O 

~ 



34

I 

L 

~ 

' 
<C 
I 

" N 

~ 

~~, ......... : ................. ·----·---ll 

~ 
·--~ L -+-----= 

! i 
~------~------------------------------------l 

i i 
i ~ i 
• ~ I 

,.,I 
..:: 
~I )>, 

51 (/): 
:tlj ...,, ...,, 
-II 

i 
I 

s 

s 

•-r-----~--------~ 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

1: 
d: 

----~-l: 1 ·: I -t.~,). 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

-·+-1. I 

.!~---
: 1~ .. -· -l. ~ 

I 

4> 

.. 
""'"""" 

T 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

~
: .. 
j> I . . ..... ! -~ : 

• I l'-o" J --·-···1 

I 
I 

I 
i 
I 
i . l I . L______ _ __________________________________ iJ 

LINCOLN A VENUE 

Prcj~r.t, 

:::i.JtllllC:I\IlC:;pil:ol 
/,h p.,l<:illalll:.Jnll 
Mr~ H1.nJr~.onu 
N•.wCu~t-.nrHotrli.!D 

I!>·ISlmo::olnAwnu~ 
l.::..piiOil.i, CA<;~OIO 

Appllc:m~DWil•)l 

S<Jtl\.:JCrtllC.:apll.!l 
Mr Pt~ltoi l"iimiUIII\ 

Mw HuiJI:li'I;J 
Nt:Jw Cu::rorrrl~vrm1~ 
ll:l004:.lrc1Av.-our, 

cur,nolo,C:Ansortl 

AICIIIk><.l: 

STUCJI06rllfrt:t·lll'ECTS,Irrc 
r::.reoSowi'•O~Av~ 
Surutvu ... CAv.iUi'U 
T (~08) 8\J:Z.~O~'O 
F (•ICJII)I.l111.i;J~J 

Enr<lll FRANKLJ-il),,, YAHOO.CIJM 

!>TRUC'IUf1EEr;l.,iiNEER 

r<O Huvr~:r.:..rr n,.,,. 
Druwn B~ ------

~.2~ ;'~1,) II 

m·w,rTIIIc.: 

SECONDfL(.II)RPIAN 
eECTIONS 

Slr!illtNo. 

&~o~ 

~ 



ATTACHMENT B

35

Page 1 of 4 *Resource Name or#: (Assigned by recorder) 1545 Lincoln A venue 
P1. Other Identifier: 

*P2. Location: D Not for Publication ~ Unrestricted *a. County Santa Cruz 
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary) 
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad Soquel Date T ; R %of %of Sec B.M. 
c. Address 1545 Lincoln Avenue City Capitola Zip 95010 
d. UTM: (Give more than one for large and/or linear resources) Zone mE/ mN 
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel#, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate) 

Santa Cruz County APN 034-041-14 
*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, selling and boundaries) 

The single-family residence at 1545 Lincoln Avenue, Capitola, (DPR 523A Photo and figures I and 2) is a small one
story wood-frame house that appears to have been constructed in the late nineteenth or the early twentieth century. It was 
moved to the lot on which it now stands sometime between 1910 and 1927 and subsequently enlarged and altered. It is 
rectangular in plan, with a small addition extending along the back of the house, and rests on a concrete perimeter 
foundation. On the east side, facing Lincoln Avenue, a short straight-flight stairway leads to a full-width front porch with 
a closed board-and-batten railing. The walls of the original block are clad with rough-sawn board-and-batten siding, the 
boards cut to a wide range of widths, the largest measuring more than twice the dimension of the smallest. The addition is 
clad with flush vertical boards on the south side, plywood sheets on the west, and board-and-batten siding on the nmth. 
Fenestration is symmetrical on the fa<;ade and asymmetrical on the other sides, consisting chiefly of fixed six-light wood
sash windows. Two paired four-light casements are located high on the south wall near the west end, close to a sliding 
aluminum-sash window in the addition. The moderately pitched pyramidal roof covering the original block of the house 
is characterized by closed eaves with little overhang. It is finished with composition sheets, as are (continued on page 3) 

*P3b. "Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) HP2- Single Family Prope1ty 
*P4. Resources Present: ~Building DS!ructure DObject OSite DDistrict DEiement of District DOther {Isolates, etc.) 

*P11. Report Citation: (cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") None 

P5b. Description of Photo: (View, 
date, accession#) Looking nmthwest at 
south and east elevations, 6/9/11 
*P6. Date Constructed/Age and 
Sources: [8]Historic 
DPrehistoric OBoth 
ca. 1890-1920 
*P7. Owner and Address: 
Santa Cruz Capital, LLC 
1860 43rd Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 
*P8. Recorded by: (Name, 
affiliation, and address) 

Anthony Kirk, Ph.D. 
134 McCornick Street" 
Santa Cruz, CA 95062 
*P9. Date Recorded: 6/17/11 
*P10. Survey Type: (Describe) 
CEQAReview 

*Attachments: DNONE DLocation Map DSketch Map ~Continuation Sheet ~Building, Structure and Object Record 
DArchaeological Record DDistrict Record Dlinear Feature Record DMilling Station Record DRock Art Record 
DArtifact Record DPhotograph Record DO!her (List) 

DPR 523A (1/95) *Required Information 



36

Page 2 of 4 *NRHP Status Code 
*Resource Name or# (Assigned by recorder) 1545 Lincoln A venue 

81. Historic Name: None 
82. Common Name: None 
83. Original Use: Residence 84. Present Use: Residence 

*85. Architectural Style: None 
*86. Construction History: (Construction date, alteration, and date of alterations) Constructed ca 1890-191 0; moved to current lot 
ca. 1910-27; addition to west side ca 1928-48; moved to fi·ont oflot, placed on concrete perimeter foundation, and new 
front porch built 1975; plywood siding added to west side ca. 1999-2000. 

*87. Moved? ONo 18]Yes OUnknown Date: ca. 1910-27 Original Location: Unknown 
*88. Related Features: none 

B9a. Architect: None b. Builder: Unknown 
*81 0. Significance: Theme n/a Area n/a 

Period of Significance n/a Property Type n/a Applicable Criteria n/a 
(Discuss importance in terms of historical or architectural context as defined by theme, period, and geographic scope. Address integrity.) 

Nothing is known about the early history of the house. It was moved from an unknown location in the vicinity of 
Capitola-by-the Sea between 1910 and 1927 by John Nicol. A native of Scotland, Nicol had come to Capitola by way of 
Palo Alto about 1910 with his wife, Margaret, also a Scot. At an early date Nicol acquired three lots at the northeast 
corner of Lincoln Avenue and 1st Street (now Emerald Street) and five lots on the other side of 1st, comprising the entire 
north half of the block. By turns a stabler, a baker, and a postal transfer driver, John Nicol was, as well, a sometime 
house mover, and it was he who brought the cottage to the corner lot. As he did with other houses he moved to his 
various lots, Nicol rented it out, occasionally to family members, including his son, John "Jack" Nicol Jr., a plumber, 
who, along with his wife, resided in the cottage during the war years. The property later came into the hands of the elder 
Nicol's married daughter, Jean Hunter, and then passed through a series of owners, including Don Bewley, who in 1975 
moved it to the front of the lot. During these years, the house continued to serve as a rental, chiefly, if not exclusively, to 
long-term tenants rather than vacationers. (continued on page 3) 

B 11. Additional Resource Attributes (List attributes and codes): 
*812. References: 
Residential Building Record: 1545 Lincoln Avenue, Office of the 
Santa Cruz County Assessor. 
Building Permits, City of Capitola Planning Department. 
"Camp Fairview and Vicinity" subdivision map, annotated by 
George Washington, Capitola Historical Museum. 
Sanborn Map Co., Capitola, California (1927). 
John K. Nicol, telephone interview, 6/10/11. 

813. Remarks: 
*814. Evaluator: Anthony Kirk, Ph.D. 
*Date of Evaluation: 6/17/11 

(This space reserved for official comments.) 

DPR 5238 (1/95) *Required Information 



37

Page 3 of 4 *Resource Name or# (Assigned by recorder) 1545 Lincoln A venue 
*Recorded by Anthony Kirk, Ph.D. *Date 6/17/11 ~Continuation D Update 

P3a. Description: 

the shed roofs covering the porch and the addition, both of which form extensions of the principal roof. 
As originally constructed, the house was nearly square in plan, possibly with a shed-roofed entry porch, and rested on 

a muds ill. The walls were clad with board-and-batten siding; the pyramidal roof was characterized by narrow, open eaves 
and finished with wood shingles. Fenestration possibly consisted of a combination of fixed and casement windows. 
Probably in the second decade of the twentieth century, and ce1tainly no later than 1927, the house was moved to the 
corner of 1st Street (present-day Emerald Street) and Lincoln Avenue and placed on a mudsill. The earliest Sanborn map 
to cover this section of the Camp Fairview subdivision, published in November 1927, shows it situated at the rear of the 
lot, with an entry porch on the south side, facing 1st Street. At an unknown date but likely sometime in the following 
decade, a small board-and-batten shed-roofed addition was constructed along the back ofthe house. 

In December 1975 work was begun on a major improvement project that included moving the house to the front of the 
lot, rotating it ninety degrees, and placing it on a concrete perimeter foundation. It was at this time that a new and 
considerably larger porch was constructed, the eaves closed with soffit boards, and the entire house roofed with 
composition sheets. At a later date, probably within the last dozen years, the back of the addition was covered with 
plywood sheets. 

The house, which appears to be in poor to fair condition, is set back moderately from Lincoln Avenue, a built-out 
residential street lined with a mix of newer and older houses, several of which appear to date back to the early days of the 
subdivision. The grounds, which suffer from a lack of maintenance, are dominated by two massive Monterey cypress at 
the front of the prope1ty and enclosed by a low picket fence. 

810. Significance: 

The prope1ty is not associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of national, 
state, or local history; nor is it associated with individuals significant in the annals of the United States, California, or 
Capitola. Architecturally, the house is an extremely simple structure, entirely lacking in decorative detailing and without 
a pattern of physical features, or attributes, associated with a pmticular style. It is, generally speaking, an example of the 
pyramidal family of folk housing, the term folk housing comprising a broadly inclusive category encompassing numerous 
other types of modest dwellings built from the mid-nineteenth century through the early twentieth century and not 
infrequently designated as vernacular. There is no evidence, however, that the house is significant within the context of 
this type of construction, which it should be observed, does not appear in the Historic Context Statement for the City of 
Capitola (2004). 

Under the criteria set forth in Section 17.87.030(A) of the City of Capitola Municipal Code, the property does not 
appear to be eligible for listing in the Capitola Register of Historic Features; and under the criteria set fmth in Section 
5024.1(c) of the California Public Resources Code, and expanded in Section 4852(b) of the California Code of 
Regulations, the prope1ty does not appear to be eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources. 

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required Information 



38

~-,,~~ 
Page 4 of 4 
*Recorded by Anthony Kirk, Ph.D. 

Figure 2. Looking east at west 
elevation, 6/9/11. 

DPR 523L (1/95) 

*Resource Name or# (Assigned by recorder) 1545 Lincoln A venue 
*Date 6/17111 ~ Continuation 0 Update 

Figure I. Looking north at south 
elevation, 6/9111. 

*Required Information 



Item #: 5.B 

 
S T A F F  R E P O R T 

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  AUGUST 24, 2011 (AGENDA:  SEPTEMBER 1, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: 104 FAIRVIEW AVENUE   #11-085  APN: 036-111-13 

Design Permit to construct a new deck and retaining wall for a single-family residence 
in the R-1 (Single-Family Residence) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

 Property Owner:  John Gachina, filed 8/11/11 
 Representative:  Jerry Allison 
 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
 
As part of a landscaping project, the applicant is proposing a deck and a series of retaining walls for a 
single-family house at 104 Fairview Avenue in the R-1 (Single Family Residence) zoning district. The 
use is consistent with the General Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

• September 2010 – The current owners purchased the property and met with city staff to lay 
out improvements to the property.  They proposed to first concentrate on rehabilitation to the 
main structure, and then follow with improvements to the yard area.   

• January 2011 – A building permit was issued for the main house which included an interior 
remodel, in addition to new windows and repairs to the front porch.   

• March 2011 – Planning staff met with the owners to discuss the planned yard landscaping, 
which included repairing an existing deck attached to the western side of the house, as well as 
a lower expansion of that deck in the yard area.  A new lower deck was proposed that was a 
13’x15’ wood structure that at its highest point was 6-7’ tall due to the sloped grade of the 
yard.  Staff indicated that due to the height of the structure, it would need to meet the rear 
setback requirement for a detached structure which is 8’.  Staff also expressed concern about 
the visual impacts of a deck on this slope and the apparent height from Porter Path. 

• June 2011 – The applicants submitted plans to repair and replace portions of the deck 
attached to the western side of the house.  The plan set also included plans for the new lower 
deck, which presented a new 36” retaining wall with a 30” high wood deck above that retaining 
wall.  The 13’x15’ deck was located in the same location as previously discussed with staff.  
While the main focus of the plans was the repair and replacement of the original deck, a 
building permit was issued for both decks without planning staff review. 

• July 2011 – With construction of the yard improvements underway, building staff inspected the 
site and found trenches for gas and electrical lines being dug.  A stop work order was issued 
on the project and planning staff was asked to review the proposed landscape plans.  

39



 
 

Unaware of the issuance of the retaining wall and lower deck, planning and building staff 
inspected the site and found the retaining wall to be built at approximately 5’ in height, 2’ 
greater than approved.  A stop work order was issued for the retaining wall and lower deck 
work. 

• August 2011 – Planning and building staff met with the owners and their consultants at the 
site to discuss the improvements.  It was determined that the building permit for the lower deck 
and retaining wall was issued in error, and that approval of the structures would require a 
design permit per Zoning Code Section 17.15.035(B)(5) which authorizes the Planning 
Commission to approve or deny design permit applications referred by the Community 
Development Director. 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
The subject property is an approximately 7,100 square foot lot with a single-family house and a 
detached secondary dwelling unit within the developed Depot Hill single-family neighborhood.  With 
the residential structures on the upper portion of the lot, the yard to the west of the house has a 
gradual slope for approximately 36’ and then steeply drops off toward the public “Porter Path” which 
connects Cliff Way and Monterey Avenue.  The scope for the project includes: 
 

• A series of stucco retaining walls to terrace the yard to make it more useable; 
• A new 15’x13’ lower wood deck for a dining area; 
• A mix of concrete and decomposed granite walkways; 
• A 24’x8’ decomposed granite patio with a natural gas fire pit; 
• Drystack rock wall with drainage dissipation behind it, and a cobblestone dissipater below to 

control drainage; 
• A mix of perennial plantings throughout, including heartland native grass sod on the existing 

steep slope that drops to the public “Porter Path”. 
 
No permit is required for landscaping a private yard.  The reason the Planning Commission is 
considering this application is due to the deck structure, which with its height and location the 
Community Development Director has referred review to the Planning Commission for approval.  A 
landscape plan has been included as part of the review in order for the Commission to see the overall 
yard project.  The landscape plan demonstrates how the landscaping softens the retaining walls and 
deck structure, as well as addresses drainage and slope stability. 
 
The most notable of the improvements is the combination of the new retaining wall and new lower 
deck.  As proposed, the new retaining wall will be 2.93’ in height (as measured from the lower 
decomposed granite patio), with the wood deck approximately 10” above the top of the wall, for a total 
height of 3.73’ above the lower patio.  It should be noted that based on height concerns expressed by 
staff, the applicant has reduced the overall height of the retaining wall and deck by 1.87’ from the 
building permit that had been previously issued.  In addition, landscaping has been added around the 
deck to soften it visually. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Planning Commission evaluate the proposed deck structure and 
determine if any design changes need to be made in order to address staff concerns, such as 
softening the visibility of the structure, and slope stability.  If the Commission chooses to approve 
project application #11-085, it is recommended that the following Conditions and Findings for approval 
be included. 
 

40



 
 

CONDITIONS  
 
1.  The project approval consists of a landscape project at 104 Fairview Avenue that includes the 

following:   
 

• A series of stucco retaining walls to terrace the yard to make it more useable; 
• A new 15’x13’ lower wood deck for a dining area; 
• A mix of concrete and decomposed granite walkways; 
• A 24’x8’ decomposed granite patio with a natural gas fire pit; 
• Drystack rock wall with drainage dissipation behind it, and a cobblestone dissipater below to 

control drainage; 
• A mix of perennial plantings throughout, including heartland native grass sod on the existing 

steep slope that drops to the public “Porter Path”. 
 
2.  Irrigation systems on slopes greater than 20% shall not be utilized between November 1st and 

April 1st. 
 
3.  Landscape lighting shall be fully shielded. 

 
4.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be approved 

by the Planning Commission. 
 
5.  Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. – 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 a.m. – 

4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 
 
6.  An encroachment permit shall be acquired for any work performed in the right-of-way. 
 
7.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development Director. 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The 

project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning 
District.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
 
 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  The 

project conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single Family Residence) Zoning 
District.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the 
character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15304 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 

41



 
 

 This project involves new gardening or landscaping for an existing single-family residence.  
Section 15304 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations of land.  

 
 
Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane                     
    Senior Planner 
 
Attachment A - Project Plans (Full Size) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\Fairview 104 9-1-11 PC.docx 

42






































































































































above ground pre-manufactured spa set on

new concrete slab

new concrete area w/ steps up to

existing patio before outbuilding

drip line of new deck above,

access from house above

new concrete below deck

Planting Area (PA)

PA

PA

PA

under house access

new conc walk

PA

steps from new deck above,

down to new lower deck and

access to new conc walkways

drystack rocks

new cmu stucco retaining wall











heartland native grass sod

PA

pervious decomposed granite patio

PA

steps from lower deck

pervious decomposed granite walkway

perennial plantings

drystack rock wall with

drainage dissipation behind, below, and

cobble dissipator in front

natural gas fire pit

new lower deck

w/ dining area,

timber tek material

PA

entry wooden gate and

fence

Planting Areas (PA)

ATTACHMENT A

43














































44

63.8 
TW 

56.1 

63.5 STEP 

TW 

+ 

I 

I 

I 

I 

r,:/?l .9 
\'l"-1 

6>3: 

+ 

67.3 
\'N 

6-; I ·1 o, 

6;> 
·<t 

6" .3.9 
"'--.._ 

"'--.._ 

"'--.._ 

6-; <7 1+/ ~ 

( " 
I 

't f 
I ~I 

ol -
f 6-s: <7 

! 6~0 fl 
r/·6" II 
~ ~<! I 
1

1 I 
,I I 
I I 

J 6~,6~,f 
I I 
1 6~a I 
I I 
I 

ol ' I 
I I 
I ->o I 
't -~'< f 
I-> I 

I 
I 

.21 
0 

o~ .:c.o 
.:>;-, 

0 
'.J --A 

+ 

' 
_(;j 
~ 

+ 

-A'v 

+ .r\1 ~-
0) 

.d>' 
'v 0) 

(J) 
..... 

+ 

~ 
~ 

c 9 
l.o 

~ 

9q6' 

~ 

+ + 

:>l.s 
/'·3 

,'l"-1 
1 () I() 

72.3 
\'N 

+ <o ,. 
/< s 

69.3 
\'N 

+ 'v ...... 
q, 

·< 

.o,'v 

_:;,: 
-A 

.<o'v 
OC) 

s::~ 
)>0 

G) ' o"' 

/~9 
,+ -

<'<t·· 
o"'~lr 

o~ 
}>OJ 
;;.;-, 

&-, ' <.o 

~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
~ 
~82.0 

&<.1 + 

'&<o 
~"tr 

&s_a 
+ 

e~"tr 
0:s 

+ 
91 

a9 + 9 . 7 
&s ru; & ' '·< 

·9 + 

& 

'9 
'·o 

c - '"'"' 

l
f8S.4 " -~ _ .. ,, ~ - ' ' '&"' \ 

' 0 ' 9& I o . % oo• ,·0 % 9 

9'·0 
+ 

E: o .~·1 _ P< 
89.7 89.7 , ... R' I . I + 

&~, 
I v. > b7 5 I OJ 

'&~3 + 87.5 ~ + ll~ 
c 

/<1.;> 

"'--.._ 

"'--.._ 

'v 
.'v 
'v 

Q( 

+ 
'v 

.'v 
'v 

?;> 
·J 

':> 
~"o~< 

+ /, / 

ro~" 

' 

' &o 

0 

0 

'.-0' 
A.:, "'--.._ 

'----~~: -o A.:,): / ~ ~ JJ?c;; 

'&s 
·0 

a~J> 
a~, 'r-

as ·<7o , &6 I 
·1 & 

~s 

O"OJ 
(i)(J1 

. 7 

-A ro,e9 
&s_ 7 ~.J. <t "'--.._"' :s,~ 6 

om 
>'a + 

• • 

~~~ I·S l 
0 0 0 

3 
0 z 
(f) CD g_::;: 

§{ ~ {]-, 
o < <.s 
:::l -· 
-·0 

+ 

& 

+ ' ' 

• 
+ 

''a-<1. 

• 
' ,8 &s 

·S3 
&~< 

!\;"'* . 

, &~s 

'&_s 
·S 

<o* 
+'84.3 <"rl) 

&<. 9 "'o-( +·& 
;_;-.> 

&~6 
• .7 

+ 

~ I 
I T"··~ I 1·1 &_;, r=r lS~ i 

+ 

&s ;c:e "" 
·va "' 

"0 -· rn 
(I) ::r.D 

""' u~ 9 
Q.() 

(I) 0 
() ::J 

"'"" 

!3'4 ' 1 87.3 +1 ' . 
I 

";> 
·<t 

fa I I 

'"'"c: 
CD Ul 

-~<"4 
82.6 
I ' 

';j ~- 1 1 rr _p a/9 
__, N ~ '" oo ro CXJ 

• c__., e6 r;; "' " " b~~ - I r~,s:; 4 (1 j ·<to ~:>st; I;; z~ ;' ' h I 

< 
c 

a~() 

&s_ c5" 
+ 

• 

as"' 
' &s: + . 

1'- l l ·')t 

00 

" 

' &~& 

+ 

+ 

'9s_ 0 

&_:, 
&;> + ·6 & 

·0, 

lD lD 
NV< 
lOCO 
0()1 

UJ ~ 
c :J 
D"(JJ 

:::y 
(f) 

"co 
""0 ""' ""0 0 
0 0. 
;:;.en 
:::l :J 
ro CD 
::;: ::;: 

c: c 
LJ""O 
""(J""O 
ro CD 

""' ' 
o.O. 
(I) CD 
0 0 

"'"' 

+ &;>/ 

OJ 
'oo 

lD 

/ 

00 

"'' 0 

lD 
,~ 

lO 

'lO 
~ 

lD 

+~ 

00 

'91.3 91.0 
TC 

9'-s 

91.s 
+ 

TC 
+ 91.9 

9'·J> 
+ 

91.4 

9<. 0 '11 

0 

+ 
9'.sr •119z

9 

0 

"'--.._ 

-> /1, <o 
<9 I 
-~il + a1 

97.s o I 

I I 
~ II I 
~ If 

---l ->s. <~ I 

I ~~< f 
I 
I I 

'v 

l .'v 
,c., 

+ 'v 
.'v 
0) 

+ 80.8 
TOP 

o-

I I 
-r---_ _1_1 ___!:__+ • \ '80. 6 

I :>6 ->~} ~ ' 
\ ? . ""'-- ,. 

+ \:>_:,~ 

\!5s \ 
\ ' \/~'1 \ 

->~ }. ->.c,:} 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 

~"o;/ 

a, 
·ao 

&1 87. 0 ·& ,, 

+ 

&<.3 

&<.3 
-

's~~ 
,1:1 -1(-1{ 

~e<.' 

+ 
( ) <t '• 

·~ <cl/.t 

+· 

a~ .9 

a a 
·'1 

+ 

• 
es:e 

<t .• 
+A/ ,1:1( 

a~, 

as~ 

a~s 

-+- --

a> 
·'1 

&~/ 
[rcB""E"N ""CH-,..,1 • 

&;>6' c 

&.c,:/ 

89.3a9 
+ -/-. . </. 

89.2 
+ as,: '1 

90.0/ 

~ 
~ ~, I . 

\ 
\ 

+ & 
a9 $9 ../"' 

·S ~ 

""'-
""'-

\ 
\ a,·&\ 

&< \ \ ·< ~ \. 
<o·· \ a<.< \ 

o-"'~lr \ \ 

\ 

""'-

\ 
\ 

\ 

""'-

a9 a . 9 ..----$a. I _./"' 

a~ 6' 

\ 
\ 

-,~ a~,~ 

&;>& 
• • & 

&:< 

~a9s r e.c,:9 

a I 
9a, l 

!& -':;> 

as:} I 

I 
I 

\ '\ a;-_9• a.<ls , I 
\ I a~ 'a~a 1-a9." 

\ 
. &;> I 

a6' I ·a 
·'1 ' ~ I .... 9 

•<.J 

"' ~ I a9 \ ...... ·1 (. a 
"... aa ~ \ \ &:< 

\\ 
~'"-\\ 

\ &~'"\\ 'a.c,:o 
i &9 \1 
\ . o I 
\ & \ 

I &:, '\ 

\ \ 
I 

0 

' a9.a 

+ 
9qo 

/ 

< 

&a:() 

- ' 89.3 

• a.c,:s ':\ 

89,8 \ 89.5 + 

• 
a$< 

9o 
90 ·< 10 

·< < 
J> 

9q 7 

&$< 
' 

a~ 9 + 

+ 

,a9 9 

9o . ., 

as,: s 

+ 

9J>"' ·vo 

/ 9; 

9o fJ.. ·6 

91.1 

90.7 
+ 

'9 9o 0 ·9 ·S 

va 

9qo 
" 

91.9 

+91.4 
+ 

91.< 

97 '91.4 

+ 

91.1 
+ 

91. '1 

""'· ~ '-< ' • 

91 fJ.. . 0 

9l.s' 
-1.9 

<, 

• 9<., 

97.s, 
c -' 9 

91.4 "-! • << 
.-, - 0 

97.s 

+ 97. J> 

97. '1 • 

·· -97 
fJ.. <t 

97.o 
• 
























































































































































 



 











 

 









 


 













conc steps

conc slab

hot tub on conc slab

stem wall

planter

stem wall

stem wall

conc slab

conc garbage pad

conc walk

timber tek deck

dining table

planter

stucco wall

stucco wall

raised planter

planter at grade

pervious decomposed granite patio

fire pit

pervious decomposed

granite walk way

conc slab

stucco wall

conc entry walk

planter

planter

















 




45









































































































































































property line

3ft setback

46
















































































































































Raised Firebrick Backing,

Interior, and Cap

Poured in place Concrete Cap

Corrugated Steel Facing

Double Ring Stainless Steel Burner

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Front View Fire Pit

1

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Top View Fire Pit

2

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Side View Fire Pit

3

Poured in place Concrete Cap













  













Poured in place Concrete Cap

Fire Brick Cap

Corrugated Steel Facing

47




























































































































Scale: 3/4" = 1 ft

CMU Retaining Wall Detail

1






Scale: 1-1/2" = 1 ft

Rock Retaining Wall Detail

2



drainage dissipation gravel bed

decorative cobble overflow

dry stack rock wall

mirifi filter fabric

4" perf drain pipe

4" solid drain pipe

pervious decomposed granite patio

native soil

new timber tek decking

railing along back and side

handrail down steps

planting area

planting area

planting area

planting area

planting area

planting area

planting area

planting area

planting area

planting area

drystack rock retaining wall

gravel dissipation & overflow

stucco wall

planting area














planting area

planting area

48



































































































































pre-existing soil contour

new soil contour

landing for upper and lower decks

lower deck

handrail at 34" above deck & steps

18" difference between finish deck &

finish planter soil level

wall footings

2' 4" stucco planter wall

3' stucco wall,

2' 9" above pre-existing

contour

deck piers

pervious decomposed

granite patio

poured in place base of concrete walk

(required along deck planter to protect

deck piers)

concrete walkway

face of house

upper walk stucco wall

dry stack rock retaining wall

stucco retaining wall

stucco planter wall

pervious decomposed

granite patio

cobble dissipation & overflow

lower deck

handrail along back and side only

handrail to upper deck

wall parallels house

stucco walls

house walkway

concrete walkway

finish grade planting area

in front of stucco wall








pre-existing soil contour

step in stucco wall



49




























































































































 













Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

1

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

2

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

3

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

4

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

5

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

6

Scale: 3/8" = 1 ft

Stair Section

7

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

8

Scale: 1" = 1 ft

Stair Section

9






 






























 








 







 



 



 




 















 





 



 

 



 



 







 




 








 




 



 








50




























































































































50amp subpanel

no less than 10ft distant,

within line of site of spa,

220v svc, 4 x #4awg THHN

in sch40 grey conduit @ 18" burial depth,

use sch80 in all above ground locations

ASTM F 1346-91

gfci outlet, 6'-10' from

inside edge of tub and

GFCI protected, per

CEC 680.43-A inclusive

hard wired spa feed,

220v or 110v to be determined

by model (yet to be purchased)

terminate for fire pit



Scale: 1-1/2" = 1 ft

Utilities Trenching Detail

2






sdr-11 poly gas line, min 24" burial depth,

yellow sand bed & backfill, provide

tracer wire & caution tape in trench

caution tape on top of sand

sch40 grey conduit,

min 18" burial depth,

yellow sand bed &

backfill, provide

caution tape in trench

caution tape on top

of sand

1" sdr-11 poly gas

line in sanded trench

gas shut-off valve,

connect to supply

by others

electrical service from main panel,

connect to service by others

Hot tub cover to meet ASTM F 1346-91







51






























































































































Drip Valves

#1 & #2

Spray Valves

#3, #4, & #5

12" Pop-ups MP Rotator

12" Pop-ups Toro 570

1" SCH40 Irrig Mainline

1" Febco 785 Backflow Device
Irritrol Rain-Dial Irrig Controller

8" Brass Surface Drain

pick up house

down spouts (2)

Drainage Overflow Dissipator

Drainage Dissipator

(see Deck & Wall)

4" styrene drain pipe (typ)

perf pipe & surface drainage behind walls

planter surface drain
















Numbers indicate Irrigation Zone Coverage

52








































































































































53

LEGEND KEY QTY 

MYRC 3 

COREW 

PRSK 

ROWM 

ROSOT 

LAVLST 

ROR 

0 SAL 

VIPSS 

0 HYDLC 

* 
ERIGI 

IRIS 

0 LIRIM 

~ ~ ~ ~ ..._ ... ..._ ..._ ----... ~ ...... ..._" ........ ----i ... i i ..._ ... ..._ .... ----
HETARB 

ARCTO 

LEUC 

* 
POLY 

0 PITT 

SOLRR 

HISRP 

CITBL 

PLANTING SCHEDULE 
BOTANICAL NAME 

Myrica 
californica 

Comus 'Eddie's White 
Wonder' 

Prunus 
serrulate 'Kwanzan' 

Rosa 
'Iceberg' 

Rosmarinus officinalis 

'Tuscan Blue' 

Lavandula 
stoechos 

Rosa 

rugosa 

Viola 
odorota 

Salvia 
leucantha 

Viburnum plicatum 
'summer Snowflake' 

'Lems Monarch' 

Salvia 
bees bliss 

Eriogonum 

Iris 
reticulate 

Liriope 
muscari 

Native 
Preservation Mix 

Heteromeles 
arbutifolia 

Arctostaph ~as 
densifloro 

Leucadendron 
'Safari Sunset' 

Polystichum 
munitum 

Pittosporum 
tenuifolium 

Solanum rantonnetii 
'Royal Robe' 

Citrus 
latifolia 

COMMON NAME 

Pacific Waxmyrtle 
(California Ba err ) 

SIZE 
COND 
24" 

Box 

REMARKS 

Evergreen 

Eddie's White Wonder I---;2C:4'--"-----1 Deciduous 
Dogwood Box arge White Flower 

Kwanzan 
Oriental Cherry 

Iceberg Standard 
Rose 

Tuscan Blue 

Rosemary 

Spanish 
Lavender 

Rugosa 
Rose 

Royal 
Robe 

Mexican 
Bush Sage 

Summer Snowflake 
DoublefileViburnum 

Rhododendron 

Lace Cap 

Sonoma 
Bee's Bliss 

Saint Catherine's 

Lace 

Bearded 
Iris 

Big blue 
Lilyturf 

24" 

Box 

15gol 
Cont. 

1gol 
Cont. 

5 ol 
Cont. 

4' 
Pot 

1gol 
Cont. 

5gol 
Cont. 

1gol 
Cont. 

Deciduous 
Pink Flw 

Deciduous 

Evergreen 

Evergreen 

Deciduous 

Evergreen 
Prostrate Habit 

Evergreen 

Deciduous 
White Flws 

Evergreen 

Evergreen 

Var. Flwrs 

HEIGHT 
SPREAD 

30' 

10' 

25' 
20' 

15' 
10' 

6' 
3' 

5' 

2'-3' 
2'-3' 

4'-6' 

4'-6' 

2'' 
12" 

2' - 3' 

4' - 5' 

4-6' 
4-5' 

12"-15" 

Delta Bluegrass Co. I---'S"o"fd-----1native grass blendf---_ _::12c_"_-_::15::_'_' - -1 
Native Pres. Mix sqf 

Native 
To yon 

Monterey 
Carpet 

Western 
Sword Fern 

Japanese 

Royal Robe Blue 
otatovine ( Nightshod ) 

Royal Purple 
Shrubalthea 

Bearss 
Lime 

5gol 
Cont. 

1gol 
Cont. 

15gal 
Cont. 

1gol 
Cont. 

5 ol 
Cont. 

15gol 
Cont. 

5gol 
Cont. 

24" 

Box 

Evergreen 8'-10' 
8'-10' 

Evergreen 18"-24" 
2'-4' 

Evergreen 3'-5' 
3'-5' 

Evergreen 4' 
5' 

Evergreen 8'-10' 
10'-12' 

Evergreen 6' 8' 
6' 8' 

Deciduous 6'-8' 
6'-7' 

Delicious 8' 

3-4' 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

0 

•~;::=:=:=:=~~~~======~----~~~--~~-==-==- oo~=====-~ 0 

~-------------------u 

0 

0 

• .o 

l . 
I 

"o. I ·~ 

~ 
• I 

4 

lo 

. . 
4 

"I 
4 ~ I 

• • 
L 

.4 

.. .. .• 

0 
0 

I 

~IJ.l.M- I ~~ 
-~L -~1-

LI.L 

~-.M-

-''"-

-~'- _k -~'-
...ilL ...ilL ..ilL 

1
~1- -~L -~1-

..iiL ..ilL ..ilL ..ilL 

I 
-''"- -''"- ->.I.L ->.I.L 

.. 
•. o. 

.. 

.o 

• • 

- - = - ----- '0-----+ 

-~~- _\IL 
....UL ...ilL 

-'~- _IlL 
...ilL ...ilL 

-'~- -'~-
..ilL ...ilL 

-'~- -'~- -'~-
..ilL ...ilL 

_QA I( _,._ _,,_ 
...liL ...ilL ....l.IL 

-'~- _IlL 
....l.IL ....l.IL 

-'~- _\IL -'~- -'~- -'~-
..ilL ...ilL ....l.IL ..ilL ...ilL 

_Ill_ -'~- _IlL _Ill_ 

...ilL ...ilL ...ilL ...ilL 

-•-
-''"-

_Ill_ -'~- -'~- _Ill_ 
...ilL ..ilL ...ilL ...ilL 

_Ill_ -'~- _IlL _Ill_ 

....l.IL ....l.IL ....l.IL ....l.IL 

_Ill_ -'~- _\IL _Ill_ 

...ilL ..ilL ...ilL ...ilL 

o------=:___:=o 
- o - -c.- -c:._ -=--=----====---===--= -----o - -

_IL _\IL -'~-

...ilL ...ilL ...ilL 

_\L _\IL -'~-
...ilL ...ilL ..ilL 

_\L _\IL -~~-

...ilL ...ilL ..ilL 

_IL _\IL -'~-

....l.IL ...J..IL ...J..IL 

_\L _\IL -'~-
...ilL ...ilL ..ilL 

_\IL -~~-

t 

"\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 
\ 
~ 

_IlL -'~- -'~-
...ilL ...ilL -''"-

_\IL -'~- -'~-
...ilL ...ilL -''"-

_\IL -~~- -'~-
...ilL ...ilL -''"-

/ 
/ 

_IlL -'~- -'~-
...ilL ...J..IL ->.I.L 

_\IL -'~- -'~-
...ilL ...ilL -""-

_\IL -~~- -'~-
-''"- -''"- / 

-



Item #: 5.C 

 
S T A F F  R E P O R T 

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  AUGUST 24, 2011 (AGENDA:  SEPTEMBER 1, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: 421-B CAPITOLA AVENUE  #11-088  APN: 035-131-27 

Conditional Use Permit and Sign Permit for a take-out restaurant in the CN 
(Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District. 
Environmental Determination:  Categorical Exemption 

 Property Owner:  John Gryspos, owner/filed:  8/16/11 
 Representative:    Edwardo Martinez Architects 
 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is requesting a Conditional Use Permit for a take-out restaurant to be located at 421-B 
Capitola Avenue in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District.  The use is consistent with 
the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance with the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The subject 336 square commercial space is currently vacant, but was previously a retail carpet shop.  
Under the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district, a Conditional Use Permit is required for a 
take-out restaurant use.  The business will serve a variety of Greek gyro sandwiches and associated 
sandwich items.  The meats will be cooked, prepared and seasoned from scratch.  Due to the small 
size of the space, no seating will be provided and the business will be strictly “to go” orders.  The 
business is expected to have approximately eight employees, with two to three employees at any one 
time.  The proposed hours of operation are from 11:00am to 11:00pm, seven days a week.   Due to 
the close proximity of single-family residences, staff has some concerns with the proposed late night 
hours.  It is recommended that the hours be limited to 10:00pm, similar to the nearby Agave Taqueria. 
 
Tenant improvements to the space include new interior finishes, kitchen equipment including a new 
exhaust hood, bathroom, and new electrical and plumbing.  Exterior changes will be limited to a 4’ 
high roof parapet wall to screen the proposed rooftop equipment, as well as a new wall sign. 
 
Parking 
A restaurant/take-out food establishment with six or fewer seats has the same requirement as a 
standard retail or office use, requiring a minimum of one space for every 240 square feet of gross floor 
area.  With the previous retail use having the same parking requirement (1 space), there is no 
intensification of use and the existing parking is not affected.   
 
 

54



 
 

Signage 
A new wall sign is proposed along the new roof parapet.  The sign will be located along the side of the 
building so as to be more visible to cars and pedestrians coming down Capitola Avenue toward the 
village.  The Sign Ordinance requires that the size of wall signs be no greater than one square foot of 
sign area for each foot of linear business frontage.  With approximately 16’ of linear frontage along 
Capitola Avenue, the 15 square foot sign falls within the Sign Ordinance requirements in terms of 
size. The non-illuminated sign will be made up of lightweight aluminum composite and read “Heavenly 
Gyros” (Attachment C).  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve application #11-088, subject to the following 
conditions and findings:  
 
CONDITIONS 
 
1.  The project approval consists of a Conditional Use Permit for a take-out restaurant and a wall sign 

at 421-B Capitola Avenue. 
 
2.  Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the structure must be approved 

by the Planning Commission.  Similarly, any significant change to the use itself, or the site, must 
be approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
3.  The application shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon evidence of non-compliance 

with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code provisions. 
 
4.  Business hours will be limited to 11:00AM – 10:00PM. 

 
5.  Outdoor displays, sandwich board and other movable freestanding signs are prohibited. 

 
6.  Roof top equipment shall be screened from public view and fall within the allowable city permitted 

decibel levels.  Any necessary roof screening is to match the material and color of the building as 
closely as possible.  Plans for any necessary screening shall be submitted to the Community 
Development Department prior to, or in conjunction with, building permit submittal.  

  
7.  The applicant shall obtain a business license prior to operating the business. 

 
8.  Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 

demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator or Community Development Director. 
 
 
FINDINGS 
 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, will secure the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 
 

 Planning Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project and determined that 
the proposed business is an allowable use in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning 
District with a Conditional Use Permit.  Conditions of approval have been included to carry out 
the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 
 

  

55



 
 

B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   
 

 Planning Department Staff and the Planning Commission have reviewed the project and 
determined that the proposed business will provide a much-needed service to Capitola and will 
not have a negative impact on the character and integrity of the neighborhood.  Conditions of 
approval have been included to ensure that the project maintains the character and integrity of 
the area. 
 

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 and 15311(a) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is not subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 

 
The proposed project involves leasing of a portion of an existing commercial space with no 
expansion of use beyond what has currently existed.  No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during project review by either the Planning Department Staff or the Planning 
Commission. 

 
Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane                     
    Senior Planner 
 
 
 
Attachment A – Project Plans 
Attachment B – Project Description provided by John Gryspos 
Attachment C – Sign Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\Capitola Ave 421B take-out CUP 9-1-11 PC.docx 

56



ATTACHMENT A

57

" " 
" ' 
" ' 
" ' 
' " ' ' 

' ' ' ' 

@ SITEPLAN 

' 

' \ 

' ' ' ' 
' 

41ZB CAPITOLA AVENUE 

BLUEGUM 

035-131-23 035.1J3~-ll1-2.1 035-131-2.0 

412. CAPITOLA AVENUE 

' 

_/' ' .... 

' ' SEWER EASEMEnT ' , ' 
8'-0" ' ' 

' ' 

111" 

., 

"' 

' 
' 

' ' 
' ' 
' ' 

4lT 

' ' 
' 

' ' 
' " 

' ' ' 

PROJECT DATA 

A.f!N.: 035-131-27 
ZONING: C-2 RESEX 

SITE AREA: .046 ACRE/ 2,002 SQFT 

SCOPE Of WORK 

RENOVATION OF EXISTING COMMERCIAL INTERIOR m 
REPAIR FLOOD DAMAGE, CONSTRUCT tlEW IUTERIOR 
RNISHES, INSTALL COMMERCIAL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT 

AND EXHAUST HOOD, UPGRADE EXISTitlG ELECTRICAL 

AI-ID PLUMBING SERVICE AND CONSTRUCT 4' HIGH 
ROOF PARAPET TO SCREEH ROOFTOP EQUIPMENT. 

APPUCABLE CODES 

SANDWICH SHOP REMODEL 
421 B CAPITOLA AVELNUE 

PROJECT TEAM 

ARCHITECT: 

STRUCTURAl 
ENGINEER: 

CONTRACTOR: 

JOHN GRYSPOS 
226 MORISSEY BLVD. 
SAl-ITA CRUZ, CA 95060 
831.345.6969 

EDUARDO MARTIIlEZ ARCHITECTS 
579 CLYDE AVENUE, SUITE 300 
MOUfiTAIN VIEW, CA 94043 
650.950.0502 
oouardo@gma-sj.com 

RECEIVED 

AUG 16 Z0\1 

C\TY Of CAPiTOLA 

VICINITY MAf' 

SitG Data 

SITE .046 ACRE/ 2,002. SQ FT 
TOTAL EXISTING 

BUILDING COVERAGE 

SHEET INDEX 

1------------------------l TITLE 24 ENGINEER: 
ALL CODES REFERENCED ARE TO BE USED AS AMENDED 
BY THE STATE OF CAUFORIIIAAHD LOCAL JURISDICTION. 

APPLICABlE CODES AND REGULATIONS 

CALIFORNIA STATIE BUILDING CODE (SOC), 2010 

CALIFORNIA STATE PLLUMBING CODE, 2010 

CALIFORNIA STATIE ElECTRICAl CODE, 2010 

CALIFOR!llA STATE MECHICANICAL CODE, 2010 

CALIFORillASTATIE ENERGY CODE, 2010 

BAER TITLE 24 ENERGY 
COMPLIANCE SERVICE 
1761 BRIDGE CREEK 
SCOTTS VALLEY, CA 95066 
631.335.4802 

1111# H-

INDEX OF DRAWINGS 

T-1 COVER SHEET 

T-24 ENERGY CALCULATIONS 

A.1 FLOOR PLAN 

•• .. 

lDUAIDO 
MARTINEZ 
ARCHIUCTS 

579 CLYDE AVE, SUITE; 
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 94 

(650)960-0502 
FAX: (650)960-0555 
eduardo@ema<>j.com 

REVISIONS 

OATE DESCRIPil 

8U!l.lliNQPf 
1/11/l011 APPUCIJlOt 

JOHU GRYSPOS, OW! IE 
831.335.7311 

APil: 035-131-27 

GENERAL 
INFORMATION 

T. 1 
DATE: 7/ 27 /11 



58

++21'·10 112." 
4 TOP OF RIDGE 

++18'·0" 
JlUPOFPLATE 

+13'-6" 
TOP OF PARAPET 

»WJB)AJIEA 

!jl 
+•10'-0" 
Z SECOIID FLOOR 

0 ~FIRST flOOR 

EAST illVATION 

SCAlE: 1/4" ~ 1'-0" 

I I I -~L, J I I T~TJ-~__Lr]_Tj_~~=s=q 
16'-4112" 

I 

I 
J I I 

I I I I I I I I I I l 
I l I J j 

-~- ' I 

)1- I I _Lr___CI I_LIJ-~-1 IJ-j 
I I I I I I I E• 

h=c~-~--r-T__tTlT~~[~-J--TLl_J_T_~ 'irY- 1 

I I -r o I 
--j 

J I I 
___l_ll 

I I 
,I 

I I 

I L J I I L I .1--r---~r J J J C_ I l_j_TJi 

>I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I 

I I I l _L l lj 
I I 

I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I i 
'-! I 
z 

•I I I I I I =d-= I I I I I =L-=>~d=.b~~ ! I I i 
I I I I I -I I I I I I I I I I I~ I I l 

I J j I I J I I I J g Ji 

I I J I w 
I ,..Li I I I I I I I I I =_-]_ I I I 
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I i 

I I 
I J J J I J I J I J L! 

I 
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I 

~_j __ I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I ~fl=:I~ 
I I I I II 

I I I · I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I 11'·7" 

I I _L J I I I I L I I I I i 
I 

I J r_(H) PARAPIT 
I 

I I I I I I I I I I I 15'-10 1/1" 

9'fD"' ~-Lr-LT_Lr-1T-
I - . I J 1 

T "T 
I J J I. J J I L J J I l I I- L L 

i 

) 

@ ROOFPLAN 
1'-0" 

@ 50LJTH illVATIOH 
:uJ SCALE: 1/4" ~ 1'-0" 

1'-

~ 
~ 

(ll) T - J" PAIW'£T 

~ 
4'-1112" 

SUPPLY 
FAN 

Q R 
HWH 

MOUNTED 
ABOVE 

1.'-4" MOP SINK 

J 
/ \ 

I 

·):\ I 
I 

t\ 
j 

\ 
I 

~~ / 

~ ..[ / - ... / 

CJ 
~78'H- ~~GLASS DOOR 

J~Yr><~~~~n•• f6'W X 24"D X 78'H. 

~ 
3'-'r 3'-5" '--

;.: 

lr----- '------- l!'-5 1' 
ICASHREGISll 

(HI J' - 6" 11\RAPET 

1-. 
~ 

;:6" 
' :-~· 

II~= 
7.A7~'~1~ [ 

~ 
1/ 

~ 
11' 

( 

~. i -- ?:>:; - '- li!-~61 / " :;:· / ' ~!~ I \ ' ;,;: . ':·:/;, I \ 
I \ 

EXHAUST 2'-2" 

FAN 

I I 
l 

I 
I 

I 

,~ ' 
\ 

' 
I 

~~~i ' 
/ 

' 
/ j ~!i ~ ---~ - ~.cl><l 

@) E'~\! 

-r-·T,l_r_LT7.:r_L.rL 
1 rr~-L,=S"...J..~T,..1T • Jl 

-+ 
::::::;:- -'fl'""' I 1 ll 

A 
J .l v 1 

__../ 

RRST FLOOR PLAN 
SCALE: 112" ~ 1'-0" 

I 

I 
I 

I 

i I. 
: !; 
I 

8'-10' 

I 
I 

I (E) SKYLIGHT 
I 

~j__ 1-\ __ 0)1 
I ~Jl"--- --j»._~~-l=arr : 

.:;: 
7'-tn• 

li 
1 

W.UUIOOutiT fWID SINK 

rni"'""'W' 14'WX10"DX5"H ·a ., 
"':-I)~ 
~I 1 

~~: 1U~ [iii~] s .. l~ ~~~~ 
_]I f. 11 ~ 

I""'" '7""" I 
I I'""""' I 

l ___ L __ 

++21'·10 112" 
41UP OF RIDGE 

+•18'-ll" 
3TOPOFPLATE 

~:;~~6~F 1'>\RAPIT 

'"""""""' 
~111'-ll" 

SECOIID FLOOR 

~w f FIRST FLOOR 
z 4' fr 

z .. 

I• 
IPUAIOO 
MAR_fHHZ 
ARCHJHCTS 

579 CLYDE AVE, SUITE 
MOUNTAIN VIEW, CA 9-

(650) 960-0502 
FAX: (650) 960-055l 

eduardo@ema-sj.cor 

REVISIONS 

RK DATE OESCRIPT 

BUIIJlltllR 
1/1112011 APA.JUJ10I 

JOHll GRYSPOS, OWNE 

831.335.731-1 

APtl: 035-131-27 

FLOOR PLA~ 

A.1.0 
DATE: 7/ 27 /11 



ATTACHMENT B

59

scotts Valley, Califol"nia 

My name is john Gryspos I was born in Zanesville Ohio in 
1937 .at the time my father after being a chef at the Waldorf 
historian decided to go into his own restaurant business. He 
and partners opened restaurants throughout the Ohio area and 
buffalo New York. 
At around the time I was born he decided that he wanted to 
retire and we moved to Greece. Shortly after moving to Greece 
eourpe became involved and the start of world war two began. 
We endured many hardships many of which were life 
threatening. 
In 1946 we returned to the united sates and started a new life. 
We moved to Came bridge Ohio where my father opened two 
restaurants and a third restaurant was established on 
highways us. 40 and was called Beverly Hills with a seating 
capacity of 1200 people. It was an incredible place to say the 
least. Three years later he opened another restaurant in 
Zanesville Ohio making our own ice cream. 
At the time at the age of 15 I started to work in the restaurants 
and one of the happiest times of my life I started to work in the 
soda fountain in which we made our own ice cream and also 
became a short order cook and learned how to bake 
homemade pies. 
It was a happy time of our lives and unfortunately my father 
became ill and passed away. Grief stricken I decided to join the 



60

U.S navy at the age of 17 and after my tour ended I decided to 
move to the San Francisco bay area. 
I decided to become a wholesale wine salesman and after that 
I decided to become a wholesale liquor salesman. At the time I 
opened a sandwich shop witch was called the green pepper 
sandwich shop. 
Winning several scholarships I decided to take several courses 
in the California school of fine art. Going to school developed 
my ability to do successful painting. 
I opened a new liquor delicatessen store in San Francisco and 
was doing well for a period of time. 
At the time the United States economy took a turn for the 
worse and decided to move to Santa Cruz and purchased an 
assisted living facility of 26 beds. I renovated the facility and 
brought it up to 34 beds. Remembering back to those days we 
heard other administrators say we would only last six months 
in the assistant living business. We proved them wrong and we 
opened another twelve-bed facility in Santa Cruz and shortly 
after that we opened a third ten-bed facility that is still in 
operation to this day. 
My two sons were always active in the assistant living business 
and also liked the idea of owning a restaurant of their own .we 
opened a pizzeria in our building in Hollister. After that we 
realized that closer to home was a better option and five years 
ago we decided to purchase a then failing restaurant known as 
the heavenly cafe in Scotts Vally. 
My two sons Nicko, John JR. And my nephew Jr. Rodriguez 

-started the building of the restaurant. Through their hard 
work, today it is a popular and successful restaurant. 
My younger son John Jr. had always liked Capitola village and 
was eager to open a little restaurant there. After a few years we 
decided that now is the time to make that dream come true and 
open a sandwich shop in our building across from the city hall. 
In closing, with the background of our family in the food 



61

industry business for so may years, I believe that this move to 
open this sandwich shop is going to be ex citing and fun for our 
family and the community thank you sincerely john Gryspos. 

BUISNESS DESCRIPTION-

A variety of Greek gyro sandwiches, prepared in the same 
traditional process as they do Athens Greece. The meats will be 
cooked, prepared and seasoned from scratch, not pre 
packaged. Other sandwich related items would be available as 
well. 

At this time we plan to open from 11:00am to 11:00pm 7 days 
a week 

We believe that this operation will require 8 employees. 



ATTACHMENT C

62

\0 
=r ,...,. 
~ 
roo 
\0. m 

(/) 
=r -· 3 t"'t"\0 

OJ OJ =s ,...,._ 
m c (/) 
~-3 U'1 
OJ· ... 

n x 
0 
3W ... 
"C 
0 
(/) 

,...,. 
m 



Item #: 5.D 

 
S T A F F  R E P O R T 

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  AUGUST 25, 2011 (AGENDA:  SEPTEMBER 1, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: 1575 38th AVENUE   #11-060   APN: 034-181-17 

Preliminary Development Plan for a proposed Planned Development Rezoning to 
construct a four story, 67-unit senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood 
Commercial) Zoning District. 
Property Owner:  Maureen A. Romac, filed 6/3/11 
Representative:  Steve Thomas 

 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSAL 
 
The applicant is presenting a preliminary development plan for a planned development rezoning at 
1575 38th Avenue in the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district.  The project site currently 
contains a commercial salvage yard which is proposed to be removed as part of the project.  The 
applicant is proposing a 67-unit market rate senior housing development on the 31,365 square foot 
(.72 acre).  As this is a planned development proposal, this is the first step in the approval process.  
This plan is to be reviewed and considered in principle by the Planning Commission before a formal 
application is submitted. 
 
ARCHITECTURAL AND SITE REVIEW 
 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee considered this project on July 27, 2011.  The following 
issues were raised by various members of the Committee: 
 
Ryan Bane, Senior Planner 

• Staff has concerns with the mass, scale and height of the proposed building.  With the reduced 
setbacks and four-story height, the scale of the building may be too great for the 38th Avenue 
corridor.   

• Front and side setbacks can be flexible due to adjacent uses, however, the rear of the site 
abuts single-family residential uses and the building will need to be appropriately setback and 
stepped back to minimize impacts.   

• While the front elevation provides architectural interest from the street, the other three sides 
lack articulation.  Design of the building needs to be consistent on all four sides.  With the 
redevelopment of the 38th Avenue corridor, this project will be setting a standard for the area.   

• Staff would encourage the incorporation of commercial space on the first floor, fronting the 
street. 

• For a project of this size, it is recommended that you contact the Santa Cruz County Public 
Works Drainage Department in order to identify any drainage improvements that will be 
required as part of the development. 

63



 
 

• Staff recommends that you begin work with the Santa Cruz City Water District to determine 
what will be required to create new water meters for the proposed units. 

• Landscaping shall cover five percent of the lot area to insure harmony with adjacent 
development, in accordance with architectural and site approval standards.  A preliminary 
landscape will be required as part of the formal application. Landscaping shall comply with all 
requirements of the Santa Cruz City Water District regarding landscape irrigation and/or water 
fixture requirements, as well as any infrastructure improvements.  Final building plans shall be 
reviewed and approved by the District prior to issuance of building permits. 

• The current parking requirement for a multiple-family residential use is one covered space for 
each unit plus 1.5 parking spaces/unit on-site, or 2.5 parking spaces/unit.  Based on the 
proposed 67 residential units, a total of 168 parking spaces would be required.  The 
preliminary plan calls for providing 60 spaces.  Considering the fact that this is a senior 
complex, it is anticipated that the parking demand and traffic generation will be far less than a 
standard market rate apartment complex.  Therefore, as part of the project analysis, a parking 
and traffic analysis will be required as part of your formal submittal.    

• Overall lighting will need to be directed down and shielded from adjacent properties.  The 
guidelines also require light to be contained on the property.  An exterior lighting plan which 
delineates the type, height and location of the proposed lighting will be required as part of the 
formal submittal. 

• A minimum 6’ high concrete block wall (measured from project finished grade) will be required 
along the western property line adjacent to residential properties.  In addition to the block wall, 
it is recommended that trees be planted between the new structure and the property line to 
provide screening for the residential neighbors. 

• The project will be required to comply with the Inclusionary Housing Ordinance.  This will 
require that affordable housing in-lieu fees be paid to the city’s housing trust fund in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 18.02.050.  The current fee is $6.00 per square 
foot. 

• Based on the proposed project, it is likely that an Initial Study and Negative Declaration will 
need to be prepared.  In addition to the previously mentioned parking and traffic analysis, it is 
anticipated that a noise study will also be required. 

• A sign permit will be required for any proposed signage.  A detailed sign plan will be required 
as part of the formal submittal. 

• New curb, gutter and sidewalk will be required along the 38th Avenue frontage.  All utilities will 
be required to be undergrounded.  Improvements to nearby intersections may be required 
depending upon the results of the traffic study. 

 
Frank Phanton, City Architect 

• Expressed concerns with the mass, scale and height of the proposed building. 
• He suggested that the upper floors be setback more, especially in the rear of the structure 

where there were impacts to single-family residences. 
• He complimented the front elevation, but agreed that the design and articulation needed to be 

on all four sides of the building. 
 
Steve Jesberg, Public Works Director 

• He recommended working with the County Zone 5 Drainage Dept., County Sanitation Dept., 
and Santa Cruz City Water early on in the process. 

• He indicated that a traffic study would be required, and that the impacts to the Capitola 
Road/38th Avenue intersection would need to be studied. 

• Installation of public sidewalk would be required along 38th Avenue. 
 
 

64



 
 

Susan Suddjian, City Landscape Architect 
• Expressed that she like the project, and encouraged that that minimal landscape areas be well 

utilized for seniors.  She recommended that the setback area surrounding the structure have 
level pathways with gardens for seniors to walk through. 

• She also recommended additional potted plants throughout the project. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The 31,365 square foot (.72 acre) project site is located on 38th Avenue between Capitola Road and 
Brommer Street.  The relatively flat site currently contains a commercial salvage yard which is 
proposed to be removed as part of the project. Abutting the west property line are single-family homes 
located in the County, while to the south of the property is a self storage facility.  Across the street is 
the King’s Plaza shopping center, while to the north is a combination of office and commercial 
properties.   
 
 

 
1575 38th Avenue – APN 034-181-17 

 
 
General Plan 
The General Plan Designation for the site is C-LC (Commercial – Shopping Local).  The designation 
is described as “Commercial areas that serve local neighborhoods.”  The Housing Element lists the 
site as a Mixed-Use Residential/Commercial opportunity site.  The following is an excerpt from the 
Housing Element: 
 

The current use of this parcel (APN # 034-181-17) (not in the coastal zone) is the “Capitola Freight 
and Salvage”, a used building materials operation.  The site is approximately 0.7 acres in size and 
is in the Neighborhood Commercial (CN) zoning district and is close to public transit, shopping and 
other amenities.  The CN zone allows residential-commercial mixed-use development as a 

65



 
 

principally permitted or “by-right” use.  The current use of the site is not seen as a barrrier to future 
development as it signficantly underutilizes the site, and will not be continued when redeveloped  
Currently there are several dilapidated buildings on the site that are used for the Capitola Freight 
and Salvage business.  The buildings do not contain residential units and cover approximately 20% 
of the site.     

 
It is anticipated that due to the age and poor condition of the existing structures, that the site will be 
redeveloped in the current planning period. Given current zoning and proximity to public services 
the site is appropriate for a future mixed residential/commercial development project.  Taking into 
consideration the setbacks, parking, and other design requirements of the CN district, it is possible 
to build 17 residential units above commercial on this site or 25 dwelling units per acre.  Going by 
the standards set by the California State Department of Housing and Community Development, a 
density of 20 dwelling units/acre equates to low and very low income affordability.  Although this 
site qualifies under State Housing Element requirements for the development of low-income 
housing units, the City of Capitola is choosing to show this site as being developed for moderate 
and above moderate income households.  While a net of 17 units are possible on this site, the City 
has anticipated development at about 50% of the net new units, for a total of eight units.  

 
Though it is stated that a net of 17 units are possible on the site, it is certainly possible to develop 
more.  The CN zoning district does not have a specific maximum lot coverage or minimum lot area per 
unit.  Therefore, density is indirectly controlled by the need to meet parking requirements. 
 
Zoning District 
The parcel is currently zoned CN (Neighborhood Commercial).  The purpose of the existing CN 
districts is “to accommodate, at convenient locations, those limited commercial uses which are 
necessary to meet frequently occurring basic shopping and service needs of persons residing in 
adjacent areas and to implement the harmonious intermingling of pedestrian, commercial and 
residential activities. The style and scale of development should be consistent with the foregoing and 
the intensity of uses should have low impact on the neighborhood.” 
 
This is a neighborhood commercial district that permits single family residential and 
residential/commercial mixed use development as principal permitted uses.  Multifamily residential is 
permitted with a conditional use permit.  This district has permissive development standards: there is 
no specific maximum lot coverage or minimum lot area per unit, density is indirectly controlled by the 
need to meet parking requirements.  Required setbacks are 15 feet at the front, 10% of lot width for 
the first floor side, and 15% of the lot width for the second floor side yards. The rear set back 
requirement is 10 feet for commercial developments and 20% of lot depth for residential projects. 
 
Development Standard CN Minimum Requirement Proposed 
Front Yard Setback 15’ 10’ 
Rear Yard Setback(Residential) 48’ 10’ 
Rear Yard Setback (Commercial) 10’ 10’ 
First Floor Side Yard Setback 13’ 5’ 
Second Floor Side Yard Setback 19’-7” 5’ 
Maximum Height 27’ 51’ 
 
PD Rezoning Process 
As proposed, it is clear to see that the development does not meet the current CN zoning district 
development standards.  Thus a preliminary Planned Development (PD) application has been 
submitted.  Section 17.39.010 of the Zoning Ordinance states that the purpose of the Planned 
Development District is “to encourage and provide a means for effectuating desirable development, 
redevelopment, rehabilitation, and conservation in the city, which features variation in siting, mixed 

66



 
 

land uses, and/or varied dwelling types.  The amenities and compatibility of PD districts is to be 
insured through adoption of a general development plan, showing proper orientation, desirable design 
character and compatible land uses.”  This would allow some flexibility to the development standards 
in order to achieve the desired result. 
 
The PD process requires that the applicant submit a preliminary development plan to the Planning 
Commission for an approval in principle, prior to submission of a PD rezoning, subdivision, and 
architectural and site review application.  The PD ordinance provides that “approval in principle is to 
be limited to general acceptability of the land uses proposed and their interrelationship, and shall not 
be construed to endorse precise location of uses, configuration of parcels, or engineering feasibility.”  
For a proposed PD of less than four acres, the Planning Commission must also find that the PD 
District is appropriate, by virtue of its unique historical character, topography, land use or landscaping 
features. 
 
Though the preliminary development process is mainly for review of land use and conceptual site 
design, the Planning Commission is welcome to make architectural comments and give direction to 
the applicant. A more thorough architectural review will be done at the formal PD Rezoning and 
architectural review stage of the process.  This project will come back to the Commission as part of 
that process, so the Commission will have more opportunity to comment on the architecture at that 
time. 
 
Requested Exceptions 
The PD district provides that standards for area, coverage, density, yard requirements, parking and 
screening for PD district uses shall be governed by the standards of the zoning district most similar in 
nature and function to the proposed PD district use as determined by the Planning Commission.  In 
this case, we are looking at the CN zoning.  Per the PD ordinance, exceptions to standards are 
allowed when it is found that the exceptions “encourage a desirable living environment and are 
warranted in terms of the total proposed development or unit thereof.”  The following is a summary of 
the CN exceptions requested as part of the PD rezoning. 
 
 
Development Standard CN Minimum Requirement Proposed 
Front Yard Setback 15’ 10’ 
Rear Yard Setback(Residential) 48’ 10’ 
Rear Yard Setback (Commercial) 10’ 10’ 
First Floor Side Yard Setback 13’ 5’ 
Second Floor Side Yard Setback 19’-7” 5’ 
Maximum Height 27’ 51’ 
Parking 168 60 

 
 
Landscaping 
With the proposed structure covering the majority of the site, there are limited opportunities for 
landscaping.  However, the applicant has included a “smell the roses” trail around the perimeter of the 
building, as well as incorporated trellises and potted plants throughout the development.  Per the 
Zoning Ordinance, landscaping is to cover five percent of the lot area to insure harmony with adjacent 
development, in accordance with architectural and site approval standards.  A preliminary landscape 
plan will be required as part of the formal application and landscaping shall comply with all 
requirements of the Santa Cruz City Water District regarding landscape irrigation and/or water fixture 
requirements, as well as any infrastructure improvements.   
 

67



 
 

Parking/Traffic 
The current parking requirement for a multiple-family residential use is one covered space for each 
unit plus 1.5 parking spaces/unit on-site, or 2.5 parking spaces/unit.  Based on the proposed 67 
residential units, a total of 168 parking spaces would be required.  The preliminary plan calls for 
providing 60 spaces.  Considering the fact that this is a senior complex, it is anticipated that the 
parking demand and traffic generation will be far less than a standard market rate apartment complex.  
Therefore, as part of the project analysis, a parking and traffic analysis will be required as part of your 
formal submittal. 
 
Lighting 
Overall lighting will need to be directed down and shielded from adjacent properties.  The guidelines also 
require light to be contained on the property.  An exterior lighting plan which delineates the type, height 
and location of the proposed lighting will be required as part of the formal submittal.  
 
Screening Walls 
A minimum 6’ high concrete block wall (measured from project finished grade) will be required along the 
western property line adjacent to residential properties.  In addition to the block wall, it is recommended 
that trees be planted between the new structure and the property line to provide screening for the 
residential neighbors. 
 
Public Improvements 
New curb, gutter and sidewalk will be required along the 38th Avenue frontage.  All utilities will be 
required to be undergrounded.  Improvements to nearby intersections may be required depending 
upon the results of the traffic study. 
 
Signage 
A sign permit will be required for any proposed signage.  A detailed sign plan will be required as part 
of the formal submittal. 
 
Environmental Review 
Based on the proposed project, an Initial Study and likely a Negative Declaration will need to be 
prepared as part of the formal submittal.  In addition to the previously mentioned parking and traffic 
analysis, it is anticipated that a noise study will also be required.  If the Planning Commission and 
Council approve, in principle, the preliminary development plan, staff will prepare these documents in 
accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act, which will address project impacts.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff is generally supportive of the senior housing use.  The site’s central location adjacent to a mix of 
commercial uses is convenient for seniors, including a move theatre, several restaurants, drug store, 
and grocery store, as well as the Capitola Mall.   
 
In regards to the preliminary plans provided, there are some concerns with the mass, scale and height 
of the building.  With the reduced setbacks and four-story height, the scale of the building may be too 
great for the area.  While there would be some flexibility with the front and side setbacks due to 
adjacent uses, the rear of the site abuts single-family residential uses and the building will need to be 
appropriately setback and stepped back to minimize impacts.  Also, with the four story height and 
minimal setbacks, care will need to be taken in the architectural design to provide articulation and 
control the mass and scale of the structure. While the front elevation provides architectural interest 
from the street, the other three sides lack articulation, and design of the building will need to be 
consistent on all four sides.  With the redevelopment of the 38th Avenue corridor, this project will be 
setting a standard for the area.   

68



 
 

 
The Planning Commission should consider the project in concept, and provide input and 
recommendations to address any potential concerns for the formal application process.  The 
Commission should focus on the appropriateness of the proposed use and it’s relation with other 
surrounding uses, as well as density, circulation, and building design.  While many of the detailed 
building design issues will be dealt with at the formal PD rezoning and architectural review phase, the 
Planning Commission is encouraged to express any concerns or recommended revisions as part of 
the preliminary review.  
 
 
Report Prepared By:  Ryan Bane                     
    Senior Planner 
 
Attachment A - Project Plans (Full Size) 
Attachment B – Project Description provided by the Applicant 
Attachment C – Letter from George Ow, Jr. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\38th Ave 1575 Prelim PD Senior Housing 9-1-11 PC.docx 

69



70

i FOR TAX PURPOSES ONLY 

I 
'l<bf.:.Q.%,(>0_ 1,'-"'aS !«:! WMMIH']' M TO !.<AP g~<I'<AC:Y ;il)~A'),;;,"£0"'-W 
iiA~ (lcY p~~ ''"'~R "~o~S r,'i)"'7(Jff,1!CKI~CVC00. PcJ..rl~h'~>'<i~RVE~ 
t>CV~YI>l(JH 1\.WTACRU COt.MY AS~>~'<''l 1''97 

: 

I 

83R832 
"\GI18i\%4 

THVMPSO~ IRACT 
t;rrile<J 

fHIRTY·EiGHTH 

94RS:}fl 
i01711%8 

CITY OF CAPITOLA Tax Area Code 
3"055 3-102 

FAlRVJEW /IV 
CALIFDRHIA AV 
STOCKtON AV 

4 PARK l'L 
5. fAN~IAR WV 

I 
/ __ __/ 

34~ 

Assessor's Map t\o_ 34·18 
C:ty of Ca~itola 

County of Santa Cruz, Calif. 

.. - / 

r I fl.""/(' f'i.c&P~ 

"?\i?t-PrJ V f;iA?Pj"-

ft"l.J i'1-1'l•i f·i,.>Z'#'(L 

'f&·r~~.- f?JivOirJ~ 

Lt:>"'l 
c;..o 

-t"' 
I I 

~l<f'&>O ;:f-

4//.-! i-1;:;' tf 

~0' p 'i"¢' 14" 

Jc::? 1 1ol7 t4' 

4"' , H ff$1 C..!"r"i" 1? i 

[U·&>~J ~/! ·, fD 
' ' t 
r 

i ~------------+·--: 

I 
i 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I I 
+----------1 

i i ------------t 
l 
l 
i 
I 
i 
j 
' I 
I 

I 
I 
i 
I 

! 
~ 
I 

r 

I 
I 

1 
I 

I 

I 
I 
} 
! 

+-.-------1-

--+1-----+1 

-+--1 

1 

.L_i 
L 

I 
I 

·-

I 

I 
I 

l 
l 
l 
I ,, 

I 
l 
' __ , 
i 
' l I, 

I 

' i 
!, 

-~·-~~---.--~-=---~-----~~=-~ 

' l 
' 

i 
11···' I ~ \ 
I , I 

~I 

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architecture, 

Structural, 
Energy 

15621 Lorna· 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 · 
Daryl Fazekas@ 

gmail.com 
408 395 9400 

I : 
\~I I. i 
' y" 

lOA AWN 

li::H!eCKED 

OAT !a 

]! SCALE 

! ~·~o! 
•. u:ne Na. 

V I [/\..,. .S. (.ZP t·1 C. 
SHEET 

~0 

"'" SMSETS 



71

:; 

! 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I 
I 
I 

u 

I 

I 
! 

. ' 
-~ i . 

' ~' ·-·· 

,, 

i 

. /A7_,4 . 

.. . . .. . . ......... ' . 

·:wr-i . L~K·," .. ,,,, 

I I i + . .,., .... +·1-- ,.· 

f ..... ~ ... f·-+ .. : . 

' ' ' ) 

V\vvA 
f.2DHA 
1.-<"~!l:?'j 

. 1/· 
'/" 

f 11 

) 

~ Vt.ljl'\ ' ·· v P..v&-r 

-~--····!···-·' :· +4-~·-·~-~-~-------4----~~--~~~~~; ...... +·~·!··'r' 
-;-·---r· . ; . • : i i 

• J 

=· 

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architecture, 

Stmdural, 
Energy 

13621 Lorna 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos. CA 95032 
356 2190 fax, 

Dary!Fazekas@ 
gma\l.com 

I 
-t..(.P 

40§ 395 9400 . 

... 

\ 
~(p 

·-h-i·-+ + ' r;w 
-!--.. •"··}-... +. •' + .. [ ... 

• 

. 

vi? V'l ? P.r.:."f vP< 12-"'"'"' i I 
.... -----~~------·----- ................... ____ .,_, .................................... . 

\ 

1 

·-

·- I 

-r- i 
! .. l ..... ~--! 

., 
I 

\ .... 

f I (2-""?''f fL.,-p::> f2- p~,...A 
0 i '!~ f' \.cAN 

I tr 'I f& APPROVED BY 
SCALE. '1-•/ -"{J- D\"l:AWN SY 

DATE c;;:,, !1.1) REVISED 

,/ 



72

I 

I 

I 
' 

I 
I 

! 
I 

\ 
·\) 

. 

. 

. 

. 

' 

'VII 

I.'J"Y <tl7 

~~ ttf 

fv"'r"-
0'f E:::ft-G/: ...-., G 

""'"'"""'b 
\ 

• 

• 

' .. l '' ' 
' ' 

I..(AW~i>' lJ0 ... 
-!- \?iZAG·.,."' i 

f "'~.~.~-";> 
'!;}; t(J,;;.tJ !JiZMhNf!f? • 

i5, '""'1'fi'ew~ 
~~ 

' 

JJ 
/', /"\ h ~1.. 

lh-"'T',-'7- I 
\,./ '·-:" ' .. ,. 

I 

PIA- f.')tkLc-t'"' t-1 lti;'~ 
1-1"\1 e tJN e; Ri·I"11W?'l-" 
~hB t {v ~r·~ i/itJI< 

···t 
' ,· 

[:.! 

&r r;;.H"'?t rtf' "~"'~·~~'f

Mtv t,J '~"'~~~P ~"' "'"'"~"!"' ·
i><\!'f't? 1 rz.tt.1"'"''n. ,J -rv\'f, 

•• 

..... , ' 

,. 

I 

I 
! 

. 

' . ' ,. 

... ·.~ .. L , 

.?7f'\) 1:? I I? 
' 

I l(?~t) 

1,--· r? It' 0 

4-;:1 r::t ~· (-) 

i .. 

: '. 

' 

!-~-·- ,,, '' ' 
,,,,,_ ,,,,," l 

i 

G?t··i).v 

. 

~ L)rJil'? 
0!? 

4 
~ 

\ 

Co1 

!11 rJtt-!wj 
v~ ,J ,i-6'"? 

·. 

SCALE !j b ~~~ l \.-p~' APPROVED BY 

DATE ~',.,'I I 

Daryl 
Fazekas 

· Archil:ecture, 
Structural, 

Energy. 
15621 Lorna 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 
356 2190 fax, 

Darv lP azekas@ 
' " 
gmail.com 

408 395 9400 ' 

DRAWN BY 

REVISED 

~ VI l.-lr~ f2c> ~~ i::.". 

' 

!; DRAWING NUMBER 

~L_~~~-----=--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------~------------------------~-----------------b~A~-~~~ srrn;r.:p~TIWG FORM NO_ 101415 



73

I 

I 

I 

! 

J><O'( fk? 
v {•!-; \)1M,; 

"~~"'~ I t-lb 
.~~ "?'f?'~ 
·e;t~u;vJ 

I 

1'1 

i jl 
I . , I 
\~l 

~-~-· 

··' ~ c ' 

010 
01Pt'f 

) 

_Ll 
-"~'-"'~ 

?-Vb 

&:t-i@"r1.b / 

v+l&l r:z.. 'BY¥1"-"'1"7~ 

"'? t i 

.?;fJ (;ll t' "? 
C? -1---tP i:f 
14'1' 1:1"1 

gy. 8c:'L-?i ";iS' 
~C>l..\.ll p 

!---·»·• .. , +--.. ·-~~·r 
L-1 ~;z;...:~~ I 
~lrlc, 

·~·"t ~--~- ., 

--...-<-

Tl 
; I , I 
I 

I 
1 I 
i ! I .! 
I' 
t 
I 

,-.-+--
1 11 

-L -cj) 

1./tP~ft''{ / 

'&;~>.VI (5'¥:-? I 
M Llt.-TI ~ ['J fZ·f'<"~ 

rz.-rl 
~<?r .,..., 

. i«"~t:l \'.)> 

" ' 

I 
\(R 

1 

I 

'fH I f2-0 f~ <?TZ-
1-"'1 ~ru r/1&' t? 

APPR.OVEO BY 

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architecture, 

Structural, 
Energy 

15621 Loma 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 
356 2190 fax, 

Dary!Fazekas@ 
gmail.com 

408 395 9400 

~\ 
\ I) 
'--·-

REVIS EO 



74

I 

I ,, 
I 

I 
I 

I 
' 

' 

l 

1.-- ~~v 
I o-:>JU? q> 

.//re?"f ~"1 

[!/ f?'i/ 

"'71 d 0 p:::> 

!4':t ~"'V 

..rc?r:J4' 

!'/; tJr 'f . ., ~ 

"1 "!)/ k 

I 

~ 
. ' tl ? (;";:: LP-']'-1 

Vi. t;v\J 

~t\2 
i'l''i I o,.-· 

• 

rpu rzrrr-~ r:~~.-. .?"e:>(L 

I .?;rrJ O!O 

9-1 !Zl.&O 
"/._,- "'W· ~@f.? 

1 , ~ e>ii1r:J 

lj •t ! ~~ 
SCALE , lJ ~.;. ""0 APPROVED BY 

DATE 0 1 1, t\ 

I 
I 

I~ 

Daryl 
Fazekas .. 
Architecture, 

Structural, 
Energy 

15621 Loma 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 
356 2190 fax, 

Daryl Fazekas@ 
grnall.con1 

408 395 9400 

DrfAWN SY 

REVISED 



75

v 
> ;u 
() 

"' r 
0 

<D 
00 "' a -I' 

<D-1' u 
"' "'Ci ;:: 
u ~a 

(}) 

"' ""o (A ,vz:·on r_ 
on 

~"' ~./ 00 [;> 
"' t ....... %t-
0 w 

~ % [;> 
10 <£) 

0 w 
0 0 

"' 

i 

(}) 
()l 
<0 • ...,. 
"'!..! 
U1" 
0~ 13> • ::<: lD 

~ 

"' w 

I 
19 

<£) 
<£) 

"' "' 

<0 
<0 
-J 
0 

0 
0 
N 

"" 

M;l> l,61..00N 

[;> 
~ 

0 
p 
(J> 
Q) 

19 
~ 

0 

19 0 
~ ~ 

"' 0 
p 
U1 
<0 

"0 
)> 
;;o 
() 

p 
CD 

&> _, 
0 
0 
;, 
0 

z 
Cll 
<D 
~ 
tv 
U1 
0 
,.,{ 

I 

I 
i 

~ 
l 

! 
I 
I 
l 

~ l 
CD 

l ' 

·c<" ' i 
! ·' ; 

~ 
~ 
I 
l 
! 

I 
~- . 
i 
l 
I 

I 
I 

l 
I. 

. ' . I ' ' '·I 

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architecture, 
• Structural, 

Energy 
15621 Loma 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 
356 2190 fax, 

DarylFazekas@ 
gmail.com 

408 395 9400 

~ ;, . ; li 
-r--~---------~·-·-·~--·•1-~ ,,_, ___ "_'_w-;-~~-"'-'''""~~ .. ~~~•~•"""'~~~---~-~..,~,._,..,~._.,._~--•;·•--~·-........,.,"""""~~A-__.~~~•-=•'"'~"""-~"-,"' """"""'"""'-''",.,..,_."~---·-~_.~~,._~..,..~~--.•----..-~"'--"--~·--·--..~-•--·"'-""•""~'"'"'~,.,..,..,.,~~~_,.•-"~'-'"~..,_-..,-=......---.- ...,.-~--~_,,__,,...,...,_.,.,_ . .......,.,...~,._,.,_,.,....,.,.,_.._.,..,._,~_,,~-""""-""''I'',.,.'J-~~.,4•"'""''"-~''""'-'-'"''~''''••·•·""''''-'-''""'"'~ ~,_ >~ 

t ·· : · . Pf-0 t--~-r E?_:. v 16'\1 01 o !··-l . . ! t---· . ····-·~--··· , ........... -:~·--·-········"'-·'"··--·········-~··-·--· .. ······~-·~~-·-~~ ........... ,_ ....................................... ", __ ·~-·--.. ------...... ~--·-.. -·,-·-~-·~·-·~· .. -.... -~ ....... -~-~--- .. --.-.. -------·~-.. ~---~--·-·~·~-.... ~.t~·~ ... -._· ... -.--.-.... I .. ~~ .... . 
~ 
! 

I 

I 
I 
l 
i . 

[,·1tpr\1"' 
~v~A....-· 

\ \ 
\ 
~~ ;~ ' 

!..;.,; 

\ 

\ 

' • 
J ~ 

I 

~·· 

I 
! 

. / 
/ '[j ~ I 

I ~ 
·' 

i . I! 

ai , Ill 
~· 

----~ . 
"''"" 

:,...,., 

I 

~ 
~ 

4'-"<V 
{ 

,....,._.,.,.,,_ . 
""~""""'- -.-,~--- """""""'•''"''' 

(@ ~c!? 

8- " ·--- -
/l.A:?h 

---==r 
~~-~ ::: 

SCALE j APPROVED BY DRAWN BY 

DATE ~.A I . i i 
"'""V 1 ' t 

~!EV!SEO 



76

r·-=--·~--~n~~=~~~-------------------------------------------------~ = 

Daryl 
Fazekas I 

I 
D 

I 
I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
' 

I 
! 
1 
I 
i 

i 
i 

l 

~ 
I 

I 
I 
~ 
l 
l 

I 
I 
I 
! 
' ! 
I 

! l 
Jt\ 

\ 

\' 

'',-r'jj j l' 
-!"'-'-'-"'-'~~. 0 

--

ey~r-l 
>--c 

I 
II 

I 
. ) 

I 
I 

/ 

rJ ~ 

\ 

/ 0 

y ' 

,. ~Yeii:J 

I 
0 

I 
I 

l 

Architecture, 
Structural, 

Energy 
15621 Loma 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 35032 
Daryl Fazekas@ 

gmaiLcom 

408 395 9400 

' "' ) I 

_1ff,;,.. 
----,r'-~ 

I 
:"\ 

i 
: I" 

t ' I\ 
l·· . ft, • ; 

--.-:""'~ .. ;;;r,:.~~~~--..:oc~<;;; ••• :;;,r ...... ---""~w..--..:·~---"41-"'~' """=---"-·•·--~-w~-,~~~-t~-':"'"~e!',..,.,,~,.J .. 

_, ['-(6 v ? i.A 1 
1' I !.-·~ j<e<" .9 f'"" 

I 
--~:1'''1 -

i "7 I 
' 

( P'v"' rJ ff ~~ 
) ~" >t:ffiii'!'p 

'I ' \ ' SCALE It ".W ,, q APPROVED BY DRAWN BY 

DATE ""'!'I I REVIS EO 

I 

I 
' 

i 

;, --- . - . - . ••·-•••• • - _____ ,,_,,,_,_,,,,_, .. ,.,,,,,_ l • • _LK~--:_~~--~---~~---J-'>_~,~--=~•~••••••--~-•-•••~"-~ J.~-·-·-·---u-·-- ~-----=-~--"--~~---·~•-•• L-.-!l __ , __ "_"_MC1l~--,--- ~PHA 
r~---.. \-- -~-~~:::::~-=--------·=--=·-~---~=~==---·~· .. _· --=-=--· --------~ ---_·· --------~~---~--------·-· __ -_ .. _-.. _· .. _·~--·--·-· _ .. _ .. _---~--·-··_·_~_·------~-·_-~_-_·-_·-_-_ ... _. ------·--_---_-_ .... _ ... -_---_-_ ..... _ ... _ .... _ .. ---------·--·----·-_-_ .. -----~-·----·-_-_·-----~------~----------~_J_(?;--"?_'f_~ __ IZ-_6_;;_b._'""-~---__ e-_--._v_e_: '_J:_'J>._1_-_li?_~--~:J_7_-__ ... _ ... _ .. _~_-__ ··-_----·~q,-I..... ______ ~---=--~J-"=",.:AA::;:';:,:N~:::iN:i::u.;.."'~eE=R..J 
~ '/TOC:KDfVW t•N.t< i"O?.ir\l NO. \01-1>5 



77

~«"'l"~-·---~,,, 1------- , ,,,,,.,.,,,", 

~ ~ 
; kt.l' 
' ' 

l 
i 

/ 

\ 

" 

I "4'< 

4 
I 

"";i.liJ~~ 

r\•""" 

~====~~====~====:=~~~====~~=====~=~~==~.~~·~=~:~==~~~~====,=~======~~~~~=:=:~==~~=" ==:~=~~~~~~~===-~-~====·=·==#=~==;==.==;~~==~~-=-~qi«J·\ 
q,' 

""'""''~"'------·-~-· 

f~·-,, 

I 
I':J'r-'"ff v-I 
!fveV 

' ' 

"" 

.4111 f~ 
(, ~ 1!/ ~ :'1 ;>-

' 

"'01 p.p ~ ., "Wll'

v p p;; I' "I 

,.Z,.f,l(l f1-
Lobt::J") 

I?;?! fi
I..A" ~":> fJ "l 

', 

II' 

vo ;?;I 1t>'1 
N ~w ""''""I r-ib .<?1?"'&:-e;.. 

?P rrt:::e/ ___ 171 ,J ll,jc,. 

,, 

SCALE 1/f/-<- I ~t" '! 
DATE t::;;7 1 1Af?, f j 

01 t-ilrJ ~ 
~'"¢-

Oit-li~b 
PA""(lO 

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architecture, 

Structural, 
Energy 

15621 Loma 
Vista Ave. 

Los G a los, CA 95032 
Daryl Fazekas@ 

gTil aiLcom 

408 395 9400 

> BY ORA WN !!Y 

REVISED 



78

I 
~ , 

I 

I 
I 

I 
I 
! 
I 

~; •. ' 

! ~~ -j· tl========~~~~=~=~====r=~~~·==v=~=·v=·~===~,~=~=·==~~~==H=~~~=-~"~:~~~=~~=~==~=~~=~~,~==="~F==d~:=~==~===,~======~==~~=~~====-~=··"·~=========#r·~~~~======~~==P===0-==·~=,~=~~~~=·=··=====~~·/=.======~ I l "" Cr'<-<- ~" 0-- PJc, JM"IJ')" P ,_ ".-o fc ' .. .. 0f'O 1'1--· """"-

I 
) 

?1.-b!"\ 

~Pf 

..E--
4<1~ 

-

,?vtN\ 

~"'?'" 
4!ffZ.P 

fv 

~-·· 

' 

C) 
..•. D 

' 

•' ) 
' 

/ ' 

<. [j 

c: 
,•" i) I . 

' 

·"··· .. / · ..• ' ... _,./ \' ... ./ 

/ 

t 

!, 

.: 

) 
' ' ' 

~""(""---..... ·- " ., 

·· .. 

r··· ... 

4'·· 

I 

/ 7-
" ·.: ,, ~.:!4-----~ .~~ 

.. 

t,--·-t· 
i 

__._. ____ J . 

' 

// 
' ~-

~' ' 

? tl 1""'! H p ,j I 
o~~ I 
~ fl.c~"'!L 

' 

--~~~~-·--: 

i · Hvt>t. i 
' ' ...j. __ " ___ t·' 

' 
I, f ' 

t:Pr.llrlod 
tJ~!L-

1-1-.l 0 pt.,..! 

'I 

/ ?t1Mf"'!PrJ 
1.-~0 fv 
0~-

I 
I 
i 
1 

I 
I 
' I 
i 

~~-------·--··~-~-·-~·············'"'"'''"''-' - ... ·-----,-.-···--·~-""'""'-··-~''" "*""'"?'''','" ,_ ....... ~ .... ··-·~·-.... --.... ~···"-~·~-~~. --
' . I 

H -• '"~" ,., r-,~;-~ 

' 

: " 

A. 
-,~,.,...·-_.,- ··--

.. · 

1 
Ill' .,;.~c.· ,J 
'../t~ 

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architedu.re, 

Structural, 
E.nergy 

15621 Loma 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 
356 2190 fax, 

Dary!Fazekas@ 
gmail.com 

408 395 9400 



79

I 
' ' I 

I 

! 

I 

I i I I I 

.z::--· 

"? !,.. 1>''1::) 

I 'V " (/!1-t> 1 ,J 

.c.o r.~ r~ &z>r ""'Vl-17e"""'"' fOi!1'<7 1o 
-\'·tP· 

. .~ 

r 

--·.-o<f···---· ~~ 
~,.. .. ,.. .... ,.,.. __ ~~----·""""'·~ I 

-------·------·--·-~- ...... L.·--~·· 

Daryl Fazekas 
Architecture, Structural, Energy 

15621 Lorna Vista Ave., Los Gatos CA 95032 
DarylFazekas@gmail.com 

Phone 408 395 9400 

Do .c.- 1 1'-A 
{l~V.\"\, 

! '"I''' SCALE 1 /!7 -c.- -;p 

DATE ,;::,,(1. H 
APPROVt:;O SY 

. 

DRAWN BY 



80

l 

( 
! 

\ 
' ' 

I 
\ 

I 

+-' 
<f'• 

• 
I 

<1 

I,·.\ 
' I 

) 

) 
/ 

' 

! 

I 
' 

) 

I 
I 
/ 

I --r 

I 

t 

l 
I 
' 

r 

+--

I 
-+,-----~-

' ·-

I •, 

• 
I 

<1 

I 

I 

i 

\ 
) 
/ 

•' 

/ 

j 
j 
' 

) 

I 

~---

! -t1rl 
fc-PW"[Z.. 

' ------------------

~ .;.· 

• 

I 

l 

' 

! 

?I 

' ' 11..":? 

I 
-~---------------. 

I 

------------------------------------------------------------~---------------'--------------------

--------·----------------------·------------------------·---
i / 

.~,~~ 
tl~ 

)()t-Jt; 

""'t:< II\ 
(v ~ 

~f('l'\ 

(, "'"( 
/!.-· '1.,.. 

~ ------·-·· --1 --~ ~ 
t 

REVISIC!N$ av 

--

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architecture, 

Structural, 
Energy 

15621 Lorna 
Vista Ave. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 
DarylFazekas@ 

gmall.conl 
408 395 9400 

VI~~A
p-6' 1-./1 p, 

CRA\1\.tN 

CMECK!l!C 

IOA.Yii! 

(/, {, 

,,,_ SCAL.~ 

I - ~· .. , .. "'"'· v' i 1..-i.-- t'~ J3-c-' ~-~,b. 
01 H" li\T 

Ale) 

""' WMEIETI$ 



81

I 

I 

------l-
1 

' 

---l=+; -----+!-

l I 
' --1·' 

I 

t-' 

• 
' '1 

.. 

I 
' 

?I --

-----------------------·-----------------------'--'--------------------·--

t 

I 

t 

t 

i 

-

/ 

( 
·------' 

"··-

... ;\,._ 

I 

t-' 
... , 

• 

I 
I 

i 

.,~ r 
) . 

\ 
I 

) 

/ 
' ·. 

' 
' I 

I 
' 

/ I~ - k .• 

I 
' ' 

' 

) 

I 
I l 

I 

I 
I 

1 

I 

I~ 

. 

~, ~1--.---;----i'c---+-__;~--- --· 

I 

I 

?I 

-------~ 

-----------·- ------------.. --------------.... -.. -------~-------------~---·-------------·----·-·- .... 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

i'lll!i:Vli\!IIONfll ~y 

~ 

~ 

Daryl 
Fazekas 
Architecture, 

Structural, 
Energy 

15621 Loma 
Vista Ave .. 

Los Gatos, CA 95032 
DarylFazekas@ 

gmail.com 

408 395 9400 

VI~~~ 
fot·1b-

ORAWNl 

CHE.CKI!!D 

OA'V'I!iil 

&,j, ll 

II "'"'"'~"' I " <'tP I 

""'" "'"'· Vit..-t,...&> rZ.-&t-'j A 
~MIS!ET 

f, j 

\ 

-

. 

OF SH£'Hfi:TB 

' 



ATTACHMENT B

82

At Villa Roma, we offer a complete retirement community which exists in the 

midst of a thriving neighborhood. An enchanting, Mediterranean-style residence 

for seniors, state-of-the-art architecture coupled with beautiful flora and fauna, 

complimenting the scenic vistas and vital lifestyle of Santa Cruz County, Villa 

Roma is resort-style living at its finest. Residents can stay within the complex and 

enjoy any type of activity imaginable- swimming, entertainment, games, spiritual 

enhancement, exercise, etc.- or they can cross the street to cinemas, book store, 

and many other shopping opportunities. Our shuttle service will provide 

transportation whenever necessary- doctor appointments, airport, train station, 

or pleasure outing. 

In addition to transportation services, we offer housekeeping, fitness programs, 

concierge services and a trained staff 24 hours a day. We will have daily programs, 

outings and events as well as in house activities. 

Our gourmet restaurant will serve incredible meals all day long in a variety of 

settings- restaurant, coffee bar, poolside, etc. 

Capitola is living at its best- ocean, redwoods, and parks- everything one could 

want to flourish both spiritually and physically in a small town community with all 

the benefits of a big city. 

Villa Roma offers retirement living at its best for the active senior. 

15 ·-'r:: 38th A - C - "t f ~"'A 9r010 . /::; venue, ap1 _o a, "'- ,_, 



ATTACHMENT C

83

RECEIVED 

George Ow, Jr. AUG 2 5 2011 
King's Plaza Shopping Center 
1601 41st Avenue, Suite 202 CITY OF CAPITOLA 

Capitola, CA, 95010 
831-475-9042 Capitola Office. 831-423-0128 Home Office. 831-426-5772 Fax. 

August 24,2011. 

Capitola Planning Commission 
Capitola Planning Department 
420 Capitola Ave, 
Capitola, CA 95010 

GeorgeOwJr@aol.com 

Sent via Email and Regular Mail. 

RE: 1575 38th Avenue- Proposed Planned Development Rezoning 

Dear City of Capitola Planning Commissioners: 

My name is George Ow, Jr. and my family and I own King's Plaza Shopping Center, 
which is located directly across the street from 1575 38th Avenue, the site of the proposed 
planned development rezoning to constmct a four story, 67-unit senior housing project in 
the existing neighborhood commercial zoning district. My parents built and operated 
King's Market grocery store (now OSH) on our property in 1963 and my family and I 
developed the second phase of King's Plaza shopping center in 1972. King's Plaza 
Shopping Center has been an extremely successful retail shopping center for 48 years. In 
order to successfully operate their businesses, the tenants of King's Plaza need the ability 
to load and unload products into their stores, have easily accessible trash enclosures, and 
maintain operating hours that can go late into the evening. I am concerned that if 1575 
38th Avenue is rezoned to allow a 4-story senior housing complex to be developed, it will 
lead to problems that are inevitable when residential uses are placed within close 
proximity to commercial uses. 

I will use what has transpired with the Best Western Hotel next to King's Plaza Shopping 
Center as an example of some of the problems that arise when people live and sleep 
within close proximity to commercial uses. The Best Western Hotel was built in 2000, 
over 28 years after the neighboring commercial building (that houses O'Reilly Autoparts, 
Save Mart, and Rite Aid) was constmcted. After choosing to locate directly next to the 
garbage enclosures and loading docks of these businesses that have been operating for 
decades, the Best Western manager complained incessantly and tried to impose 
limitations on the times when the businesses could load and unload their shipments of 
merchandise. This has not been good for the hotel owners or King's Plaza and its 



84

tenants. These problems could have been avoided if the Best Western would have chosen 
to locate elsewhere or changed the layout of its hotel or had well planned screening plants 
or further sound proofed their building. I want to protect against future problems like 
these arising with future residents of the proposed senior house project at 1575 38th 
Street. 

It is important to keep zoning districts consistent because deviating from existing zoning 
districts can lead incompatible uses being located next to each other. If a four story 
senior housing project is built at 1575 38th Avenue, there is a high likelihood that the 
residents would object to looking at the back of the King's Plaza Shopping Center (the 
buildings that house Tony & Alba's, Palace Art Supply, OSH's garden department, and 
CineLux Theatres), the delivery hours of the tenants, the location of the garbage 
enclosures, and the noise that is associated with businesses at King's Plaza Shopping 
Center. Why create future problems? 

If the Capitola Planning Commission deems the rezoning of 1575 38th Ave appropriate, 
then it should make the applicant aware that it will be locating a housing complex next to 
an active commercial site that will often create noise in the early mornings and late at 
night. Moreover, I ask that you impose as a condition of approval, that a sound wall, 
sound proof rooms and very high shielding landscaping like tall bamboo be installed to 
provide a physical bmTier between 1575 38th Avenue and King's Plaza Shopping Center. 
Lastly I would like the Planning Commission to ensure that the construction of a senior 
housing complex at 1575 38th Ave will not cause any additional costs or have future 
limitations to be put on my family's land or our tenants operations (such as limited 
loading hours, limited trash pickup hours, changing the location or style of the trash 
enclosures, etc). 

Thank you very much for your consideration of my requests. As long as the Planning 
Commission ensures that no limitations are ever put on any tenants of King's Plaza 
Shopping Center due to being located next to a senior housing complex and the applicant 
constructs its project in a manner so as to prevent its residents from being awakened or be 
any way bothered by operations at King's Plaza Shopping Center, my family and I m·e 
open to the idea. 

George w, Jr. 
Ow Family Trusts 



Item #: 6 

S T A F F  R E P O R T 
 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
DATE:  August 24, 2011 (AGENDA: September 1, 2011) 
 
SUBJECT: ZONING ORDINANCE DISCUSSION 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
At the last Planning Commission hearing, the Planning Commission discussed the following zoning 
ordinance sections.   
 

A. Chapter 17.03 Definitions 
B. Chapter 17.06 Establishment and Designation of Districts  
C. Chapter 17.09 Zoning Maps 
D. Chapter 17.11 Archaeological/Paleontological Resources District 
E. Chapter 17.12 MHE Mobile Home Exclusive District 

 
Staff took notes on suggested modifications and areas for improvement.  The Planning Commission 
and Staff’s suggestions are reflected in the meeting minutes.  These notes will be compiled and 
provided to the City’s General Plan Consultant.  City Staff and Consultants are maintaining a 
comprehensive list of all suggested changes and ideas for the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance 
update.  This list is constantly updated to incorporate comments made by the Public, GPAC, Planning 
Commission, and City Council. 
 
It is anticipated that that staff and consultants will begin writing the Zoning Ordinance in late spring 
2012.  There are 10 Planning Commission meetings between now and late spring, and 40 chapters 
contained Title 17, the Zoning Ordinance.  Given the substantive differences between each chapter, 
Staff will bring forward different chapter in sequence at each of the next 10 Planning Commission 
meetings.  Some will go quickly and others may take more time and the pace can be shortened or 
increased. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Staff recommends that the following sections be discussed at this meeting: 
 

A. Chapter 17.15  R-1  Single-Family Residence District 
B. Chapter 17.18  R-M  Multiple-Family District 
C. Chapter 17.19  TRO Transient Rental Use Overlay District 
D. Chapter 17.21  C-V  Central Village District 
E. Chapter 17.22  C-R  Commercial/Residential 
 

85



 
 

Staff will provide a presentation at the meeting of proposed additions and or deletions to sections 
noted in this report.  Please come prepared with areas of these Chapters that Commissioner’s feel 
warrant amendments. 
 
Report Prepared By:  Derek Johnson        
                Community Development Director 
 
Attachment A – Chapters 17.15, 17.18, 17.19, 17.21, 17.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P:\Planning Commission\2011 Meeting Packets\09-01-11\Word Docs\PC General Plan Discussion 1_stf_rpt.docx 

86



Chapter 17.15 R-1 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE DISTRICT  

 

17.15.010 Applicability. 
 The regulations set forth in this chapter apply to all R-1 districts. (Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.020 Purpose. 
 The purpose of the R-1 district is to maintain an area which provides the traditional qualities of privacy, 

landscaping, parking, and character associated with single-family residential neighborhoods. Each of the 

neighborhoods in Capitola is unique in its physical design. Special consideration shall be given to development 

to insure that it is compatible in size, mass, setbacks, and open space, with existing residential designs in the 

area. (Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.030 Design permit and architectural and site review. 
 A design permit shall be required for the following improvements: 

 A. All new single-family dwelling units, but not for secondary dwelling units; 

 B. All improvements to existing single-family structures which are not exempt pursuant to 

subsection C of this section; 

 C. Exemptions from the requirement for a design permit include: 

 1. First floor additions of up to four hundred square feet at the rear of the property or structure, 

which is not visible to the general public, does not exceed fifteen feet in height (eight feet to the top of the plate), 

and which uses similar, compatible or upgraded quality building materials; 

 2. A single accessory structure on the property of eighty square feet in size or less, eight feet or 

less in height, and with no plumbing or electrical fixtures. (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005; Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.035 Design permit approval. 
 Design permits identified in Section 17.15.030 of this chapter shall be considered at a public hearing as 

outlined in Section 17.63.080; following review and consideration by the architectural and site review 

committee as determined necessary by the community development director/zoning administrator. 

 A. The community development director/ zoning administrator shall be authorized to approve or 

deny design permit applications for: 

 1. First-floor additions up to four hundred square feet are exempt under Section 17.15.030(C)(1); 

 2. Minor repairs, changes and improvements to existing structures which use similar, compatible 

or upgraded quality building materials, on residences which are not historic resources; 

 3. Additional accessory structures beyond the single eighty square-foot or less in size accessory 

structure which is exempt as per Section 17.15.030 (C)(2) of this chapter. 

 B. The planning commission shall be authorized to approve or deny design permit applications for: 

 1. All new residential dwelling unit construction; 

 2. Upper floor additions; 

 3. Additions of more than four hundred square feet; 

 4. Design permits accompanied by a request for conditional use permit, variance, or minor land 

division; 

 5. All design permit applications referred by the community development director or appealed 

from the community development director/zoning administrator’s decision. (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005; Ord. 873 

§ 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.040 Principal permitted uses. 

 The following are principal permitted uses in an R-1 district: 

 A. One-family dwellings including secondary dwelling units pursuant to Chapter 17.99; 

 B. Agriculture, horticulture, gardening, but not including commercial nurseries, or the raising of 

rabbits, dogs, fowl or other animals for commercial purposes or the sale of any products on the premises. See 

Section 17.81.050 for more specific regulations; 

 C. Small community care residential facilities; 

ATTACHMENT A

87



 D. Small family day care homes. (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005: Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.050 Accessory uses. 
 The following are accessory uses permitted in an R-1 district: 

 A. Signs in compliance with the municipal sign code, identifying residences and advertising 

property as being for sale, lease, or rent; 

 B. Accessory uses, structures and buildings customarily appurtenant to a permitted use such as 

private garages. See Section 17.81.110 for additional regulations. (Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.060 Conditional uses. 
 The following are conditional uses in an R-1 district and, with the exception of large family day care 

homes, are subject to the securing of a use permit as provided in Chapter 17.60: 

 A. Private schools which offer instruction in several branches of learning and study required to be 

taught in the public schools by the Education Code of the state of California, nursery schools, day care centers, 

and private nonprofit recreation areas; 

 B. Churches and religious institutions; 

 C. Golf courses and country clubs; 

 D. Temporary real estate offices, construction yards and sheds; 

 E. (Reserved); 

 F. Large Family Day Care Homes. No person shall operate a large family day care home without 

obtaining a large family day care home permit in compliance with the standards set forth within this subsection. 

 1. Any person seeking a large family day care home permit shall submit an application for such 

permit to the community development director, including a site plan, setting forth any such reasonably required 

information that the community development director shall request, on application forms created by the 

community development director that reflect the standards in subsections (F)(4) and (5) of this section and 

encourage the applicant to hold an informational neighborhood meeting prior to the submittal of the application. 

The community development director shall process the permit as economically as possible, and fees charged for 

review shall not exceed the costs of the review and permit process. 

 The community development director shall act on the application within forty-five days of the date it is 

received and deemed complete. If a public hearing is requested pursuant to subsection (F)(3) of this section, the 

community development director may postpone decision on the application for up to ninety days from the date 

the application is deemed complete. 

 2. At least ten days prior to the date on which the community development director will make a 

decision on an application for a large family day care home, the community development director shall give 

notice of the proposed use by mail or delivery to all owners shown on the last equalized assessment roll as 

owning real property within a one hundred foot radius of the exterior boundaries of the proposed large family 

day care home and all households within a one hundred foot radius of the exterior boundaries of the proposed 

large family day care home. 

 3. No hearing shall be held before a decision is made on the application, unless a hearing is 

requested by the applicant or other affected person. (For purposes of this subsection, “affected person” means a 

person who owns property or lives or works within a one hundred foot radius of the proposed large family day 

care home.) If a public hearing is requested, it shall be conducted by the planning commission, and the 

community development director shall give notice of the hearing by mail or delivery to all owners shown on the 

last equalized assessment roll as owning real property within a one hundred foot radius of the exterior 

boundaries of the proposed large family day care home and all households within a one hundred foot radius of 

the exterior boundaries of the proposed large family day care home. 

 4. The community development director, planning commission, or the city council shall grant a 

large family day care home permit to the applicant upon finding that the proposed large family day care home: 

 a. Conforms with all applicable city restrictions and regulations on yards, building height, setback, 

and lot coverage standards in the zone in which the residence is located. Legally nonconforming structures and 

uses shall be deemed to conform for purposes of this finding, 

88



 b. Is either situated on a lot zoned for single family dwellings or meets a minimum standard of 

seventy-five square feet of outdoor activity space for each child. The outdoor area must be owned or leased by 

the applicant and cannot be shared with other property owners unless permission is granted by the joint owners. 

This space requirement can be waived if the applicant can demonstrate that there is a public park or other public 

open area that is in close proximity to the large family day care home (for purposes of this subsection, “close 

proximity” means within two blocks), 

 c. Is not located within a five hundred foot radius of the exterior boundaries of any existing large 

family day care home or child day care center, 

 d. Provides at least two parking spaces for customers during the family day care home’s hours of 

operation, and provides parking for any employees as required by Section 17.51.130(P) (one off-street parking 

space required for each employee not permanently residing at the house). The parking spaces shall be located in 

a manner to be readily and safely utilized by the customer(s). The required parking spaces may be located on the 

street along the property frontage (off-site) or on the driveway (on-site). The following are examples of 

acceptable parking areas: 

 i. On-street parking areas along the property frontage, 

 ii. Guest parking spaces reserved for the use of the dwelling unit, or 

 iii. A private driveway exclusively serving a single dwelling unit such as a single family home, 

 e. Complies with the following limitations when the dwelling unit is provided with a private 

driveway and/or garage: 

 i. If the driveway is specified as the parking area for the use of the large family day care home, the 

driveway shall remain clear and available for the customer(s) during the hours of operation; the parking spaces 

shall not be used by the property owner or day care home operator or employees during the hours of operation, 

 ii. The garage shall be utilized for the parking of the property owner’s and/or day care home 

operator’s vehicles. Use of the garage for the day care home function, such as for a play area, shall not be 

allowed, 

 f. Provides procedures for safely loading and unloading children from vehicles without blocking 

the public sidewalk and/or right-of-way with vehicles. Double-parking in the street to pickup or dropoff children 

shall be prohibited. The applicant shall distribute a notice of loading and unloading procedures to all persons 

that utilize the services of the large family day care home, 

 g. Provides adequate access to the facility with minimal disruption to local traffic and circulation, 

including safe and adequate drop-off/pick-up areas, such as curb spaces and driveway areas that are of sufficient 

size and are located to avoid interference with traffic and to insure the safety of children, 

 h. Seeks, by design and layout of the site and considerate operational plans, to avoid noise which 

may be a nuisance to neighbors, consistent with local noise ordinances (see Chapter 9.12) implementing the 

noise element of the general plan and taking into consideration the noise levels generated by children. Use of the 

outdoor play area for the day care operation shall be limited to the hours between nine a.m. and six p.m. Site 

plan revisions may be required by the community development director to minimize noise impacts, such as 

location of outside play areas, height and location of fences, and similar measures. 

 5. As conditions of approval, the applicant shall be required to: 

 a. Comply with applicable building codes, 

 b. Comply with any standards promulgated by the State Fire Marshal pursuant to subdivision (d) 

of Section 1597.46 of the California Health and Safety Code related to large family day care homes and 

dwelling units, and submit a letter from the city fire department approving the safety of the structure for use as a 

large family day care home pursuant to these standards, 

 c. Be licensed or deemed to be exempt from licensure by the state of California as a large family 

day care home, 

 d. Comply with any conditions imposed by the community development director deemed 

necessary to satisfy the requirements of subsection (F)(4) of this section, 

 6. The applicant or other affected person may appeal the decision. The procedures for appealing 

the decision shall be as provided for in Sections 17.60.100 and 17.60.110. The appellant shall pay the cost, if 

any, of the appeal. 

89



 7. If not used, a large family day care home permit may expire pursuant to the standards and 

procedures provided in Section 17.60.090. 

 8. Large family day care home permits may be revoked pursuant to Section 17.60.120; 

 G. Large community care residential facility, provided, that in addition to Chapter 17.60 

requirements, the following requirements are met: 

 1. The applicant shall submit the following: 

 a. A letter or certification of final approval from the state or county licensing authority, 

 b. A site plan of the property showing parking, outdoor exercise area, and fencing, 

 c. A letter from the fire department approving the safety of the structure for the use, 

 d. A letter of application describing the type of use, number of residents, age of residents, any 

special resident care that is provided, and a daily work schedule showing the number of employees at the facility, 

and 

 e. Landscaping and other information as required by the community development director, 

 2. A public hearing shall be held by the planning commission with notification made as specified 

in Section 17.60.080. In addition, not less than ten days prior to the meeting, all property owners within three 

hundred feet of the outermost boundary of the parcel should be notified of the nature of the application, the 

name of the applicant, and the time and place of the public hearing before the planning commission; 

 H. Any activity which includes any significant alteration of an historic feature; 

 I. Bed and breakfasts, subject to the requirements of Section 17.03.085; 

 J. TRO: transient rental use overlay district (see Chapter 17.19 of this code.) (Ord. 878 § 2, 2004; 

Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.070 (Reserved) 

 

17.15.080 Height regulations. 

 No structure shall exceed twenty-five feet in height to the highest point of the roof, ridge or parapet wall, 

although a twenty-seven foot height limit may be permitted by the planning commission for half-story designs 

and buildings that use historic design elements which meet the applicable side and rear setback standards. No 

detached accessory structure, including second dwelling units shall exceed fifteen feet, with a nine-foot ground 

to top-of-wall plate height, unless an exception is granted by the planning commission based on compatible 

building and roof design on a site with an architecturally or historically significant building. “Building height” 

means the vertical distance measured from the assumed ground surface of the building. The height of the 

structure is measured from the assumed ground surface, as specified below: 

 A. Assumed Ground Surface. “Assumed ground surface” means a line on each elevation of an 

exterior wall or vertical surface which connects those points where the perimeter of the structure meets the 

finished grade, subject to the following exception: 

 1. If there has been grading or fill on the property within five years preceding the time of the 

application, and that grading or filling has or would increase the height of the finished grade at one or more 

points where it would meet the perimeter of the proposed structure, the planning commission may measure 

heights from where it estimates the grade is or was before the grading or filling, if the commission determines 

that such an action is necessary to keep the height of the proposed structure in reasonable relationship to the 

heights in the neighborhood. (Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.090 Lot area. 

 Each single-family residence together with its accessory buildings shall be located on a legal building 

lot. The lot area requirements are as follows: 

 A. The minimum lot area for any lot hereafter created by any “subdivision” (defined in 

Government Code Section 66424) shall be five thousand square feet; 

 B. The lot area may be less than five thousand square feet for any existing legally created lot; 

 C. Except as otherwise provided, there shall be no more than one dwelling on any lot. (Ord. 873 § 

1 (part), 2004) 

90



17.15.100 Floor area ratio. 
 Building size shall be regulated by the relationship of the building to the lot size, a measurement 

identified as floor area ratio (FAR). Maximum FAR shall be determined as follows: 

A. Lots less than 2,650 sf 58% 

  Lots 2,651 to 3,250 sf 57% 

  Lots 3,251 to 3,500 sf 56% 

  Lots 3,501 to 3,750 sf 55% 

  Lots 3,751 to 4,000 sf 54% 

  Lots 4,001 to 4,250 sf 53% 

  Lots 4,251 to 4,500 sf 52% 

  Lots 4,501 to 4,750 sf 51% 

  Lots 4,751 to 5,000 sf 50% 

  Lots 5,001 to 6,000 sf 49% 

  Lots more than 6,000 sf 48% 

 Lots of five thousand or more square feet with approved second dwelling units are permitted a 

maximum FAR of sixty percent for all structures, in accordance with Chapter 17.99 Secondary Dwelling Units. 

 This calculation includes the gross building area, including covered parking, as further described in 

subsections B through D of this section: 

 B. The following building elements shall be included in the floor area ratio calculation: 

 1. That portion of the basement which exceeds the first two hundred fifty gross square feet of a 

basement, including the measurements of the access stairway; 

 2. All open area below the ceiling or angled walls, greater than sixteen feet in height; 

 3. All upper floor area greater than four feet in height, measured between the bottom of the upper 

floor and the top of the ceiling; 

 4. For one and one-half story structures, the area of the stairwell shall be counted on the first floor 

only; 

 5. Windows projecting more than twelve inches from the wall; 

 6. Covered or uncovered upper floor decks, and covered exterior open space in excess of one 

hundred fifty square feet, including eaves greater than eighteen inches in length; 

 7. All accessory structures other than a single building of eighty square feet or less in size, eight 

feet or less in height, and without plumbing or electrical fixtures. 

 C. The following shall not be included in the floor area ratio calculation: 

 1. All vehicular rights of way which allow others to use the surface of the property, shall be 

excluded from the lot area for purposes of this section; 

 2. The first two hundred fifty square feet of basement area including the stairway serving that area; 

 3. The stairway serving the upper floor in a one and one-half story home; 

 4. Chimneys and projecting windows less than twelve inches deep; 

 5. First level decks thirty inches or less in height; 

 6. One hundred square feet of ancillary area in a detached garage; 

 7. The area between the bottom of the floor and the top of the ceiling which is four feet or less in 

height, on the second level of a one and one-half- or two-story home; 

 8. All open area between the bottom of the floor and the top of the ceiling or angled wall, which is 

sixteen feet or less in height; 

 9. Unroofed (permeable) trellis structures, including porte-cocheres, which are open on at least 

three sides and not higher than ten feet to the top of the highest portion. Such structures are not permitted in the 

front setback and must have a two-foot setback from side or rear property lines. 

 D. The footprint of all structures, except a trellis structure consistent with subsection (C)(9) of this 

section and one accessory building of eighty or fewer square feet, eight feet or less in height, and without 

electrical or plumbing fixtures, shall conform to all applicable setback requirements, i.e., for a secondary 

dwelling unit, detached garage, or principal residential structure. (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005; Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 

2004) 

 

91



17.15.110 Yards. 
 A. The front yard setback shall be measured from the edge of the public right-of-way. The setback 

established in accordance to this section shall be the minimum for any part of the structure, with the exception of 

permitted encroachments. The front setback shall not be measured as the average setback across the front of the 

building. 

 B. Front yards for the first floor shall be not less than fifteen feet in depth, except as provided in 

subsection (B) (1) of this section. 

 1. In those special areas specified in subsection (B) (2) of this section, the front yard setback may 

be the average of those lots on the same side of the street within five hundred feet of the subject property; 

provided, that the front setback is at least ten feet, subject to planning commission approval. 

 2. The special areas mentioned above shall include the following areas: 

  Sunset/Riverview area consisting of the following streets: Beverly Avenue; Oak Drive; Gilroy 

Drive; Center Street; Sunset Drive; Riverview Drive to Riverview Avenue, and Riverview Avenue to the north 

side of the Southern Pacific Railroad trestle. 

 C. Front yard setback for the second floor and attached covered parking shall be twenty feet from 

the front property line, although the setback to covered parking may be reduced to eighteen feet in sidewalk 

exempt areas. The front yard setback for detached garages or carports shall be forty feet. 

 D. Front yards area not required for parking shall be landscaped to achieve a fifteen percent tree 

canopy in accordance with Chapter 12.12 of this code; and including a two-foot planter strip between uncovered 

parking in the front setback and the side property line, and that landscape area maintained in good condition. 

 E. Side yards shall be at least ten percent of the property width although not more than seven feet 

shall be required, and in no case shall less than three feet be permitted, except in the following cases: 

 1. On a corner lot, the side yard setback on the street side shall be a minimum of ten feet (adjacent 

to the neighboring front yards); and the minimum rear yard shall be the minimum side yard of the adjacent 

property, but no less than four feet; 

 2. When a garage obtains access from a side yard, on a corner parcel, the garage shall be set back 

twenty feet, although this setback may be reduced to eighteen feet in sidewalk exempt areas; 

 3. For levels above the first floor, setback shall be at least fifteen percent of the side yard although 

not more than ten feet shall be required. For half-stories, projected building area under/from the roof (e.g., shed 

or dormer areas) shall also meet the second floor setback requirements. Up to twenty percent of a second floor 

wall may be at the same setback as a first floor wall with a setback of at least four feet; 

 4. For detached, covered parking the minimum side setback is three feet; 

 5. For portions of the structure with setbacks between three and four feet, the maximum wall plate 

height shall be twelve feet. 

 F. Rear yards shall have a depth equal to not less than twenty percent of the depth of the lot to a 

maximum required depth of twenty-five feet for such rear yard, with the exception of rear yards associated with 

detached, covered parking for which the minimum rear setback is eight feet. The minimum setback between the 

main structure or other detached accessory structures, with or without a breezeway, shall be three feet, or as 

required by the Uniform Building Code. 

 G. Lot Dimension Determination. For the purpose of chapter, lot depth shall be the average length 

of the side property lines which run approximately perpendicular to the street, and the lot width shall be the 

average length of the front and rear property lines. In the case of an oddly-shaped lot, the city planner shall 

determine the lot depth and width using the criteria for normally-shaped lots as a guideline. Anyone affected by 

the city planner’s determination may file, within ten days of the determination, a written appeal with the 

planning commission, which shall consider and decide the matter. No fee shall be required. (Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 

2004) 

 

17.15.120 Yard encroachments. 

 A. Cornices, eaves, canopies, fireplaces and similar architectural features, but not including any 

flat wall or projecting closet, may extend into any required side yard a distance not exceeding two feet or into 

any required front or rear yard a distance not exceeding four feet; provided, that these features do not come 

92



within three feet of the property side yard boundaries for chimneys and projecting windows with no floor area, 

and two feet for fire-safe cornices, eaves, canopies, and rain gutters on the first floor. 

 B. Main entry porches, stairways, fire escapes, or landing places may extend into any required 

front yard on the ground floor for a distance not to exceed four feet; and into any required rear yard on the 

ground floor for a distance not to exceed six feet, and into any required side yard on the ground floor for a 

distance not to exceed one-half the width of the required side yard, provided that these features do not come 

within three feet of the side property boundaries and ten feet of the front property boundary. 

 C. Single-story additions to existing single-story residential units which do not exceed fifty percent 

of the length of the average of the two sides of the structure may be constructed at the same setback as the 

existing structure, as long as a minimum four-foot setback remains. 

 D. Second story additions must meet setback requirements, except that up to twenty percent of the 

length of the upper story wall may be constructed at the same setback as the first-floor wall, if that wall is at 

least four feet from the side property line. 

 E. Projecting bay windows may extend into any required front or rear yard for a distance not to 

exceed two feet. The width of the opening required for a bay window which encroaches into any required front 

or rear yard may not exceed sixty percent of the width of the wall in which it is located. Any bay window which 

projects more than twelve inches from the wall will be included in the floor area ratio calculation. 

 F. Projecting bay windows may extend into any required side yard for a distance not to exceed two 

feet provided that the bay window is set back at least three feet from the side property lines on the first floor. 

The width of the opening required for a bay window which encroaches into any required side yard may not 

exceed sixty percent of the width of the wall in which it is located. Any bay window which projects more than 

twelve inches from the wall will be included in the floor area ratio calculation. 

 G. Rear and side yard decks on the ground level which are thirty inches or less above grade may 

encroach into the required setbacks; provided, that these features are setback at least three feet from the property 

line. (Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

 

17.15.130 Parking. 
 A. The minimum parking requirement for a single-family residence of one thousand five hundred 

square feet or less of floor area shall be two parking spaces, neither of which must be covered. 

 B. For single-family residences one thousand five hundred one to two thousand square feet, two 

spaces are required, one of which must be covered; for residences two thousand one to two thousand six 

hundred square feet three spaces are required, one of which must be covered; for residences two thousand six 

hundred one to four thousand square feet four spaces are required, one of which must be covered. Residences 

greater than four thousand one square feet may require additional parking at the discretion of the planning 

commission beyond the three uncovered and one covered space required for residences up to four thousand 

square feet, as per subsection D of this section. 

 C. Interior (covered) parking spaces shall be a minimum of ten feet by twenty feet clear, as 

measured from the interior finished wall surfaces. 

 D. The planning commission may require more parking spaces for residential units over four 

thousand square feet, or if a finding can be made that there is a parking problem in the neighborhood. 

 E. No additional square footage which exceeds ten percent of the existing gross floor area may be 

added to an existing single-family residence, unless minimum parking requirements are met. 

 F. Parking spaces required by this section may not be located in any public or private right-of-way. 

 G. No parking space which is utilized to meet the parking requirements of this chapter, nor the path 

of access of any such parking space, may, without planning commission approval, be modified in any manner 

which decreases the utility of the space for parking purposes. All areas shown on architectural and site plans 

utilized by the property owner are subject to this section, and must be maintained as parking spaces. 

 H. Tandem parking is permitted for up to two uncovered spaces in front of a garage, with a 

maximum of three tandem spaces, including the covered space for a single garage. (Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

  

93



17.15.140 Garage and accessory buildings. 
 The following development standards shall apply for garages and accessory buildings: 

 A. Garages and accessory buildings other than approved second dwelling units may not be used for 

human habitation; 

 B. In the case of a corner lot, no detached accessory building or detached garage shall be erected, 

altered or moved so as to occupy any part of the front half of such lot; 

 C. The minimum side setback for detached accessory buildings is three feet. The minimum rear 

setback is eight feet. The minimum front setback is forty feet for detached garages; 

 D. Detached garages, carports and other accessory buildings must be set back from the primary 

residential structure by three feet but may be connected to the main building by a breezeway which shall be 

located in accordance with the yard regulations and uniform building code for detached buildings; 

 E. A single accessory structure of eighty square feet or less and eight feet or less in height, with no 

plumbing or electrical fixtures, may be allowed in side and rear setback areas; 

 F. If a garage is in a rear yard, a driveway of not less than twelve feet in width (which may include 

side yard or easement and which can consist of ten feet in a paved driveway and two feet of landscaping along 

the side property line in the front setback) shall be provided and maintained. However, a driveway width of 

eleven feet may be permitted by the planning commission for additions and remodels, where the paved driveway 

is nine feet with two feet of landscaping in the front setback. 

 Driveway width for residential uses shall not exceed twenty feet unless an exception is granted by the 

planning commission due to unusual lot configuration, landscaping or site design considerations. Permeable 

paving materials, and/or paving strips are encouraged for parking and driveway areas. 

 G. The width of detached garages or carports in the rear yard is limited to twenty-one feet. The 

height is limited to fifteen feet (nine feet to the top of the wall plate) however the planning commission may 

approve an exception to allow additional height if necessary to match the architectural style of the existing 

primary structure. 

 H. Attached garages which constitute less than fifty percent of the building frontage are 

encouraged, as are divided garage doors for double garages. 

 I. Trellis structures intended to provide support for plants and shade for cars, hot tubs, etc., will 

not be permitted in the front setback and will not count toward the covered parking requirement. Such structures 

may be permitted in the side or rear setback as long as the height is limited to ten feet at the top of the highest 

portion, the structure roof remains permeable (roof members at least twelve inches apart), and the structure is 

open on at least three sides. (Ord. 882 § 2, 2005; Ord. 873 § 1 (part), 2004) 

  

94



Chapter 17.18 R-M MULTIPLE-FAMILY DISTRICT  

 

17.18.010 Applicability. 
 The regulations set forth in this chapter apply in all R-M districts, and for multiple-residential uses in 

other districts. (Ord. 388 § 6.01, 1975) 

 

17.18.020 Purpose. 

 The purpose of the R-M districts is to stabilize the residential area, to encourage urban densities in 

specific areas, to promote an environment suitable for family life within such densities, and to insure sufficient 

open space for residential uses of all types. (Ord. 388 § 6.02, 1975) 

 

17.18.030 Architectural and site review. 

 A design permit for architectural and site review approval shall be secured for the establishment and 

conduct of any principal permitted, accessory or conditional use in all R-M districts as provided in Chapter 

17.63. (Ord. 873 § 2, 2004: Ord. 448 § 4, 1979: Ord. 436, 1978: Ord. 388 § 6.03, 1975) 

 

17.18.040 Principal permitted uses. 
 The following are principal permitted uses in an R-M district: 

 A. Multiple-family residential dwellings; 

 B. Single-family dwellings, subject to the development standards contained in Chapter 17.15, R-1 

Single-family Residence District including secondary dwelling units as allowed in the R-1 district pursuant to 

Chapter 17.99; 

 C. Small family day care homes; 

 D. Small community care residential facilities. (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005; Ord. 873 § 3, 2004: Ord. 

608 § 5, 1986: Ord. 388 § 6.04, 1975) 

 

17.18.050 Accessory uses. 
 The following are accessory uses permitted in an R-M district: 

 A. Signs complying with the applicable regulations set forth in the municipal sign ordinance; 

 B. Accessory uses and buildings customarily appurtenant to a permitted use such as private 

garages. (Ord. 388 § 6.05, 1975) 

 

17.18.060 Conditional use permits. 
 The following are conditional uses in an R-M district and, with the exception of large family day care 

homes, are subject to the securing of a use permit as provided in Chapter 17.60. Large family day care homes 

are subject to the securing of a use permit as provided in Section 17.15.060(F): 

 A. Private schools which offer instruction in several branches of learning and study required to be 

taught in the public schools by the Educational Code of the state of California, exclusive of vocational and trade 

subjects; nursery schools; day care centers and private, nonprofit recreation areas. The total number of 

occupants shall be established by the conditional use permit; 

 B. Churches and religious institutions; 

 C. Lodging facilities; 

 D. Convalescent hospitals, nursing homes; 

 E. Large family day care homes subject to the securing of a permit as provided in Section 

17.15.060(F), large community care residential facilities (subject to the special conditions in Section 

17.15.060(G)); 

 F. Children’s nursery schools; 

 G. Social halls; 

 H. Mobile home parks subject to the following special conditions, in addition to those standards 

specified in Chapter 17.60: 

 1. The application fee for conditional use permit for a mobile home park may be determined by 

resolution of the city council. 

95



 2. The application for a use permit shall be accompanied by a map of the property to be developed 

at a scale of one inch equals one hundred feet, or similar appropriate scale, and showing and giving the 

following information and data: 

 a. Name and address of applicant, 

 b. Graphic scale, north point and date, 

 c. A line circumscribed three hundred feet beyond the outermost boundaries of the parcel in 

question, 

 d. Property lines, area and assessment number of all parcels of land which lie within this area, 

 e. Public rights-of-way and public or private easements that lie within this area, 

 f. To this map shall be attached a list of the names and addresses of the property owners whose 

property, or any part or portion thereof, lies within this area, such names and addresses to be keyed to the parcel 

assessment numbers shown on this map. 

 3. A public hearing shall be held by the planning commission with notification made as specified 

in Section 17.60.070, and in addition, a postal card notice shall be mailed no less than ten days prior to the date 

of such hearing to the owner or owners of all property, or portions thereof, within a radius of three hundred feet 

of the outermost boundaries of the parcel in question as above described. Such notices shall consist of the words 

“NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON APPLICATION FOR USE PERMIT TO ESTABLISH A MOBILE 

HOME PARK” and shall set forth the description of the property to be so developed, with the name of the 

applicant and the time and place of the hearing before the planning commission. Upon completion shall submit 

its recommendation to the city council that the use permit be granted or denied; 

 I. Reserved; 

 J. Reserved; 

 K. Any activity which includes any significant alteration of an historic feature; 

 L. Bed and breakfasts, subject to Section 17.03.085 requirements. 

 M. “Transient rental use,” as defined in Section 17.03.686, on properties located within the TRO 

transient rental use overlay district, subject to the standard conditions set forth in Chapter 17.19 of this code and 

any additional conditions as determined by the planning commission: 

 1. The maximum number of persons that may occupy the unit shall be determined by the planning 

commission and may not be exceeded. 

 2. Providing adequate parking (as determined by the planning commission), whether on site or by 

Pacific Cove parking permit. 

 3. The conditional use permit holder must designate a person who has authority to control the 

property and represent the landlord. This “responsible person” must be available at all reasonable times to 

receive and act on complaints about the activities of the tenants. 

 4. A business license and transient occupancy tax registration are obtained. 

 5. Only one sign per unit, not to exceed one square foot in size, shall be permitted to advertise the 

transient rental. 

 N. Large community care residential facilities, subject to the special conditions in Section 

17.15.060(G). (Ord. 882 § 1 (part), 2005; Ord. 878 § 3, 2004; Ord. 873 § 4, 2004; Ord. 708 § 2 (part), 1991; Ord. 

696 § 2 (part), 1990; Ord. 608 § 6, 1986: Ord. 553 (part), 1983; Ord. 515 § 5 (part), 1982; Ord. 421 (part), 1977; 

Ord. 388 § 6.06, 1975) 

 

17.18.070 Development standards. 

 The development standards set forth in Sections 17.18.080 through 17.18.210 shall apply for the 

development of multiple units on a single site in an R-M district. The development of a single-family home on a 

site in the R-M district shall be governed by the process and standards contained in Chapter 17.15, “R-1 Single-

Family Residence District.” (Ord. 873 § 5, 2004: Ord. 388 § 6.07 (part), 1975) 

 

17.18.080 Height regulations. 
 A. RM-LM. No structure shall exceed thirty feet in height. 

 B. RM-M. No structure shall exceed thirty feet in height. 

 C. RM-H. No structure shall exceed thirty-five feet in height. 

96



 D. Any structure in excess of three stories or forty feet in height shall be a conditional use in an R-

M district subject, in each case, to the securing of a use permit as provided in Chapter 17.60. (Ord. 642 § 2 (part), 

1987: Ord. 388 § 6.07(a), 1975) 

 

17.18.090 Lot area and dimensions. 
 A. Except as hereafter provided, the minimum lot area for a structure containing one or more 

dwelling units shall be five thousand one hundred square feet; the minimum lot width fifty feet; the minimum lot 

depth one hundred feet. 

 B. Lots legally formed prior to June 26, 1969 shall not be subject to the requirements of subsection 

A of this section. However, such lots shall nevertheless be subject to all other regulations in this title and 

especially subject to subsection A of this section. Nothing contained in this subsection shall affect state law or 

Capitola ordinances dealing with the merger of contiguously owned lots. (Ord. 420 (part), 1977: Ord. 388 § 

6.07(b), 1975) 

 

17.18.100 Site area per dwelling unit. 
 The minimum site area per dwelling unit for each district shall be as follows: 

 A. RM-LM. Four thousand four hundred square feet (low-medium density); 

 B. RM-M. Two thousand nine hundred square feet (medium density) formerly RM-3000 district; 

 C. RM-H. Two thousand two hundred square feet (high density) formerly RM-2000 and RM-1000 

district. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(c), 1975) 

 

17.18.110 Lot coverage. 
 Maximum lot coverage including accessory buildings and other structures shall be forty percent. The 

first two hundred fifty gross square feet of a basement, including the measurements of the access stairway, shall 

not be included when calculating lot coverage. Only the portion of a basement that exceeds two hundred fifty 

gross square feet shall be included in the lot coverage calculations. (Ord. 774 § 2, 1995: Ord. 388 § 6.07(d), 

1975) 

 

17.18.120 Front yards. 

 A. Front yard for a one-story structure, except as otherwise specified, shall not be less than fifteen 

feet. For each additional story, the minimum front yard shall be increased two percent of the lot depth to a 

maximum of twenty percent of the lot depth or twenty feet, whichever is less. 

 B. In cases where proposed building line for the street(s) upon which any lot faces is established by 

ordinance, then the front yard(s) shall be measured from the proposed building line. 

 C. The minimum front yard, except as otherwise specified, shall not be less than twenty feet in 

depth for the width of a garage or covered carport. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(e) (1, 2, 3), 1975) 

 

17.18.130 Side yards. 
 Side yards for a one-story structure shall each be not less than ten percent of the lot width. For each 

additional story, the minimum side yards shall be increased two percent of the lot width to a maximum of twenty 

percent of the lot width or ten feet, whichever is less. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(e)(4), 1975) 

 

17.18.140 Rear yard. 

 Rear yard for a one-story structure shall be not less than fifteen percent of the lot depth. For each 

additional story, the minimum rear yard shall be increased two percent of the lot depth to a maximum of twenty-

five percent of the lot depth or twenty feet, whichever is less. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(e)(5), 1975) 

 

17.18.150 Landscaping. 

 Screen planting and additional landscaping shall be encouraged in all yard areas to insure privacy for all 

residents. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(e)(6), 1975) 

  

97



17.18.160 Open space. 
 A. Usable Open Space. Not less than fifty percent of the required rear yard shall be developed as 

usable open space, fully landscaped and accessible to the residents of the structure(s) on the site. The least 

dimension of this usable open space shall be fifteen feet. Fully developed roof terraces and roof gardens shall be 

allowed to provide up to one-half of the area of usable open space. 

 B. Private Open Space. In addition to yard requirement and usable open space requirements as 

provided in this chapter, minimum private open space in the form of screened terraces, decks or balconies shall 

be provided as follows: 

 1. Not less than fifty percent of dwelling units shall be provided with individual open space; 

 2. Each private open space shall have a minimum area of forty-eight square feet, with a least 

dimension of four feet. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(e)(7), 1975) 

 

17.18.170 Lot dimension determination. 
 For the purposes of this chapter, lot depth shall be the average length of the side property lines which 

run approximately perpendicular to the street, and the lot width shall be the average length of the front and rear 

property lines. In the case of an odd-shaped lot, the city planner shall determine the lot depth and width using 

the criteria for normally-shaped lots as a guide-line. Anyone affected by the city planner’s determination may 

file within ten days of the determination a written appeal the planning commission, which shall consider and 

decide the matter. No fee shall be required. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(e)(8), 1975) 

 

17.18.180 Yard encroachments. 

 Nothing permitted in yard encroachments shall allow an increase in coverage or a decrease in required 

open space. 

 A. Cornices, eaves, fireplaces, stairways, decks, and fire escapes, balconies and similar 

architectural features, but not including any flat wall or window surface such as bay windows or project closets, 

may extend into any required side yard a distance not exceeding two feet, or into any required front or rear yard 

a distance not exceeding four feet. 

 B. The development standards set forth in Section 17.18.190 shall apply for detached garages and 

accessory buildings. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(f), 1975) 

 

17.18.190 Garages and accessory buildings. 

 Garages and accessory buildings may not be used for human habitation. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(g), 1975) 

 

17.18.200 Parking. 

 Parking standards shall be as provided in Chapter 17.51. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(h), 1975) 

 

17.18.210 Loading areas. 
 Loading areas shall be as provided in Chapter 17.51. (Ord. 388 § 6.07(i), 1975) 

  

98



Chapter 17.19 TRO—TRANSIENT RENTAL USE OVERLAY DISTRICT  

 

17.19.010 Purpose and definition. 
 The TRO—transient rental use overlay district is an overlay district. This means that all regulations of 

the underlaying basic zoning district (R-1 or R-M) are applicable to any property located in the TRO district, 

except that transient rental use, as defined in Section 17.03.686 may be allowed pursuant to Section 17.19.020. 

(Ord. 708 § 3 (part), 1991) 

 

17.19.020 Use permits. 

 Properties in TRO districts may apply for conditional use permits to operate as a transient rental use. In 

addition to such conditions as may be imposed pursuant to Chapter 17.60 (conditional use permits), all such 

permits shall be subject to the following standard conditions: 

 A. The maximum number of persons that may occupy the unit shall be determined by the planning 

commission and may not be exceeded. 

 B. Adequate parking (as determined by the planning commission), whether on site or by Pacific 

Cove parking permit, must be provided. 

 C. The conditional use permit holder must designate a person who has authority to control the 

property and represent the landlord. This “responsible person” must be available at all reasonable times to 

receive and act on complaints about the activities of the tenants. 

 D. A business license and transient occupancy tax registration must be obtained. 

 E. Only one sign per unit, not to exceed one square foot in size, shall be permitted to advertise the 

transient rental. 

 F. No unit may be rented unless the renter is provided, in writing, with a statement of the 

conditions (such as is provided in subsection A of this section) which are applicable to the renter and his or her 

guests, and the renter agrees, in writing, to comply with those conditions. 

 G. Permits issued under this section shall expire within one year. No permit holder shall have a 

vested right to a renewal permit. 

 H. If there is a history of the permit holder or his or her tenants violating the permit’s conditions, 

the permit shall not be reissued for a least one year following its expiration date, unless good cause is shown. 

The revoking authority may establish a longer period before which another application may be filed. (Ord. 708 § 

3 (part), 1991) 

  

99



Chapter 17.21 C-V CENTRAL VILLAGE DISTRICT  

Note 

* Prior ordinance history: Ord. 388, §§ 7.01—7.07, as amended by 447, 515, 533 and 608. 

 

17.21.010 Applicability. 
 The regulations set forth in this chapter apply in all C-V districts. (Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.020 Purpose. 
 The purpose of the C-V zoning district is to promote the family-oriented residential/commercial mix 

which has created the unique qualities of the village. Commercial activity should serve both Capitola residents 

and visitors. The balance of coastal visitor-related uses and services with those that serve the permanent 

residents is critical to maintaining the village as it presently exists. (Ord. 685 § 16, 1989; Ord. 622 Exhibit A 

(part), 1987) 

 

17.21.030 Architectural and site review. 
 Architectural and site approval shall be secured for the establishment and conduct of any principal 

permitted, accessory, or conditional use in C-V districts, as provided in Chapter 17.63, and in the Central 

Village District Guidelines dated July, 1986, a copy of which are on file with the community development 

director. (Ord. 671, 1988: Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.035 Location of business activities. 

 There shall be no business activities such as the display of merchandise, selling of food, or placing 

tables and chairs outside the enclosed premises of the business unless a conditional use permit for the outdoor 

display of merchandise, take-out window or outdoor seating has been obtained from the city. (Ord. 740 § 1, 

1992) 

 

17.21.040 Principal permitted uses. 
 The following are principal permitted uses in the C-V district, not including residential overlay areas: 

 A. Residential uses on first or second floor; 

 B. Professional, general administrative and business offices on the first or second floor; 

 C. New retail business establishment, and small personal service establishment, such as small retail 

shops and stores, including retail bakeries and beach equipment rental businesses conducted indoors, on the first 

floor only; 

 D. New art galleries on the first floor only; 

 E. Vacation rentals of residential units. (Ord. 740 § 2, 1992; Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.045 Principal permitted uses—Residential overlay district. 
 The following are principal permitted uses in the residential overlay district: 

 A. Six Sisters District: 

 1. Residential uses (including weekly vacation rental) only. 

 B. Venetian Court district: 

 1. Residential uses (including weekly vacation rental) only with the exception of the existing 

motel which may not be expanded or intensified. 

 C. Lawn Way: 

 1. Residential uses (including weekly vacation rentals) only. 

 D. Riverview Avenue District: 

 1. Residential uses (including weekly vacation rentals) only. 

 E. Cliff Drive District: 

 1. Residential uses (including weekly vacation rental) only, with the exception of the existing 

motel which may not be expanded or intensified. 

 F. Cherry Avenue District: 

100



 1. Residential uses (including weekly vacation rental) only. (Ord. 740 § 3, 1992: Ord. 622 Exhibit 

A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.050 Accessory uses. 

 The following are accessory uses permitted in a C-V district: 

 A. Signs complying with the applicable regulations set forth in this chapter and the Central Village 

Design Guidelines; 

 B. Accessory uses and buildings customarily appurtenant to a permitted use, provided that no 

accessory use shall be offensive or objectionable because of odor, dust, smoke, noise or vibration. (Ord. 740 § 4, 

1992; Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.060 Conditional uses. 

 The following are conditional uses in a C-V district, subject in each case to the securing of a use permit, 

as provided in Chapter 17.60: 

 A. Restaurants, including take-out restaurants or adding a take-out window to an existing 

restaurant use; 

 B. Motels and hotels; 

 C. Commercial entertainment establishments, such as theaters and amusement centers conducted 

within a closed building; 

 D. Business establishments that sell or dispense alcoholic beverages; 

 E. Beach equipment rental businesses conducted outdoors; 

 F. Any activity which includes any significant alteration of a historic feature; 

 G. Bed-and-breakfast home occupations; 

 H. Home occupations; 

 I. New limited repair services conducted entirely within enclosed buildings, primarily to serve 

family needs, on the second floor; 

 J. New retail business establishments and small personal service establishments, such as small 

retail shops and stores, including retail bakeries and beach equipment rental businesses conducted indoors, on 

the second floor; 

 K. New art galleries on the second floor; 

 L. Display of merchandise or other outdoor activity such as outdoor seating for a restaurant or 

other food establishment located in this district. (Ord. 740 § 6, 1992; Ord. 677 § 6(A), 1989; Ord. 622 Exhibit A 

(part), 1987) 

 

17.21.061 Conditional uses in the residential overlay district. 
 The following are conditional uses in the Riverview Avenue and Cherry Avenue overlay districts (see 

Section 17.21.100(B): 

 A. Home occupations subject to Section 17.03.310; B. Bed and breakfast use. subject to Section 

17.03.085. (Ord. 677 § 6(B), 1989) 

 

17.21.070 Development standards. 

 Development standards shall be set forth in the Central Village Design Guidelines adopted by the city 

council on January 22, 1987, for the district. Structures destroyed by fire or natural disaster; provided, that the 

replacement structure is of the same size and in the same location, shall be given special consideration and may 

be exempted from Design Guideline requirements. To carry out the purposes of the zoning district first floor 

commercial uses shall not be converted to residential uses. (Ord. 691 § 2, 1990: Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.080 Height regulations. 

 No structure shall exceed twenty-seven feet in height in the C-V zone, except when a restoration of a 

historic building of Capitola exceeding the height limitation is proposed and has been recommended for 

approval by the planning commission. In any case, such structures shall provide for adequate light and air, and 

101



shall provide for considerations of view from adjacent properties. (Ord. 740 § 7, 1992: Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 

1987) 

 

17.21.090 Lot area. 

 There shall be no specific minimum lot area required in the C-V zone, except that there shall be 

sufficient area to satisfy any off-street parking and loading area requirements as established in the city’s parking 

ordinance. (Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.100 Lot coverage. 

 There shall be no specific maximum lot coverage in the C-V zone, except as follows: 

 A. Sufficient space shall be provided to satisfy offstreet parking and loading area requirements, 

notwithstanding that all parking may be provided within a structure or structures. 

 B. In the Riverview Avenue residential overlay district: 

 1. The small lots on the north side of Riverview Avenue shall allow ninety percent development of 

the lot without any specific setback requirements. The ten percent open space shall be located in the front part of 

the lot. 

 2. Lots on the south side of Riverview Avenue which are smaller than one thousand two hundred 

square feet shall be allowed eighty percent lot coverage. Lots which are greater than one thousand two hundred 

square feet shall be allowed seventy percent lot coverage. When calculating square footage for development, lot 

size shall not include parcels on the river side of the pathway. 

 “Lot coverage” shall be defined as the footprint of the building and area used to meet the parking 

requirements of the use. Garages, carports, the portion of any basement that exceeds two hundred fifty gross 

square feet excluding the access stairway, or open parking spaces used to meet the parking requirements are 

included as the actual square footage. Driveway approaches and sidewalks are not included in the lot coverage. 

For example: A thirty-foot by one-hundred-foot lot is three thousand square feet. A seventy percent lot coverage 

means a two thousand one hundred square foot footprint would be allowed. This typically would provide three-

foot side yard setbacks (six hundred square feet) and a ten-foot front yard setback (three hundred square feet). 

However, flexibility is allowed in locating the structure. 

 C. In the Cherry Avenue residential overlay area: 

 1. Lots of less than one thousand square feet shall be allowed ninety percent lot coverage. Lots 

between one thousand one and two thousand square feet shall be allowed eighty percent lot coverage. Lots over 

two thousand square feet shall be allowed seventy-five percent lot coverage. For example, a thirty-foot by 

seventy-foot lot is two thousand one hundred square feet, which allows seventy-five percent lot coverage. A 

building footprint of one thousand five hundred seventy-five square feet may be developed, which provides 

three-foot side yard setbacks (four hundred twenty square feet), and a front yard setback of 5.1 feet (one hundred 

fifty-five square feet) 

 The definition of lot coverage is the footprint of the building and area used to meet the parking 

requirements of the use. Garages, carports or open space parking used to meet the parking requirements are 

included as the actual square footage. Driveway approaches and sidewalks are not included in lot coverage. (Ord. 

774 § 3, 1995; Ord. 677 § 6(C), 1989; Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.110 Yards. 
 There shall be no yard requirements in the C-V zone, except that: (1) ten percent of lot area shall be 

developed as landscaped open area, at least partially fronting on, and open to, the street. No portion of this 

landscaped area shall be used for off-street parking, and (2) a minimum front open space for the northerly side 

of the first two hundred fifty feet of Cliff Drive, west of the intersection of Wharf Road, shall be ten feet. (Ord. 

757 § 2, 1993: Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.120 Parking. 
 Parking requirements for buildings in the C-V zone shall be as provided in Chapter 17.51, and Section 

17.21.140 and as required by this chapter: 

102



 A. Parking shall be provided for any change in use from residential to commercial, for the full 

amount required by the commercial operation. No space credit for the previous use will be granted. 

 B. When a substantial remodel or reconstruction of a building is done for reasons other than fire or 

natural disaster, parking requirements for the entire structure shall be provided. 

 C. Required parking for new users shall be provided at sites outside the village area, but within 

walking distance or at remote sites served by a shuttle system; exceptions to permit on site parking may be made 

for: 

 1. Nonhistoric structures in residential areas bounding the central commercial district of the 

village; and 

 2. For the Capitola Theater site and mercantile site as shown on the village residential overlay 

zone addendum map and providing that site designs shall provide for minimizing driveway cuts and for ground 

floor street frontage commercial development with parking areas/structures on the interior of the sites; and 

 3. If mandated under Federal Emergency Management Agency regulations and as consistent with 

the certified LCP. (Ord. 941 § 1, 2009; Ord. 677 § 6(D), 1989; Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.130 Loading areas. 

 Loading areas in the C-V zone shall be as provided in Chapter 17.51. (Ord. 622 Exhibit A (part), 1987) 

 

17.21.140 Valet Parking. 

 The city may designate two village metered parking spaces, or similar space to allow for the operation 

of a valet parking program. (Ord. 941 § 2, 2009) 

  

103



Chapter 17.22 C-R COMMERCIAL/RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT  

 

17.22.010 Applicability. 
 The regulations set forth in this chapter apply to all commercial/residential (C-R) districts. (Ord. 579 

(part), 1985) 

 

17.22.020 Purpose. 

 The purpose of C-R districts is to implement the harmonious intermingling of pedestrian, commercial 

and residential activities. The style and scale of development should enhance pedestrian usage of the areas. 

Mixing residential with commercial in a single development will ordinarily be encouraged. (Ord. 579 (part), 

1985) 

 

17.22.030 Architectural and site review required. 
 Architectural and site approval as provided in Chapter 17.63 of this code shall be secured for the 

establishment and conduct. of any principal permitted, accessory or conditional use in C-R districts. (Ord. 579 

(part), 1985) 

 

17.22.040 Principal permitted uses. 
 The following are permitted uses in a C-R district: residential uses (single-family and duplexes). (Ord. 

579 (part), 1985) 

 

17.22.050 Conditional uses. 
 The following are conditional uses in a C-R district, subject in each case to securing a use permit as 

provided in Chapter 17.60 of this code: 

 A. Art galleries; 

 B. Restaurants; 

 C. Clothing stores; 

 D. Antique stores; 

 E. Medical and dental offices; 

 F. Motels and hotels; 

 G. Professional, general, administrative and business offices; 

 H. Banks; 

 I. Personal service establishments entirely within enclosed buildings, such as barbershops, beauty 

shops, shoe repair shops, tailor shops, clothes cleaning and laundry agencies and self-service launderettes; retail 

drycleaning establishments, provided that the solvents used in the cleaning process shall be nonflammable and 

nonexplosive and are in fluid-tight cleaning units approved by the State Fire Marshal. No drycleaning is 

permitted of clothes other than those delivered to the establishment by consumers; 

 J. Limited repair services conducted entirely within enclosed buildings, such as jewelry, domestic 

appliance, typewriter and business machine repair shops, primarily to serve family needs; retail business 

establishments, such as small shops and stores, including retail bakeries, and beach equipment rental businesses 

conducted indoors; 

 K. Lodging facilities, clubs, and indoor restaurants; 

 L. Insurance and real estate agencies; 

 M. Business establishments that sell or dispense alcoholic beverages for consumption on the 

premises; 

 N. Projects which are in part commercial and also contain at least one dwelling (defined in Section 

17.03.190); 

 O. Large and small community care residential facilities, subject to the special conditions in 

Section 17.15.060(G), and large and small family day care homes subject to the special conditions in Section 

17.15.060(F); 

 P. Other uses similar to the permitted and conditional uses above, not inconsistent with the general 

purposes of this chapter and the general  

104



plan, subject to approval by the city council upon the recommendation of the planning commission; 

 Q. Conversion from residential to commercial or commercial to residential; 

 R. Bed and breakfasts, subject to Section 17.03.085 requirements; 

 S. Reverse vending machines for beverage containers and small collection facilities of five 

hundred square feet or less, are subject to the requirements of subsections D and E of Section 17.60.030. (Ord. 

878 § 4, 2004; Ord. 661 § 2 (part), 1988; Ord. 644 § 1, 1987; Ord. 608 § 8, 1986; Ord. 579 (part), 1985) 

 

17.22.060 Development standards. 
 A. Character. Individual character shall promote a harmonious mix of pedestrian commercial usage 

and urban residential environment. 

 B. Height Regulations. No structure shall exceed twenty-seven feet in height. 

 C. Lot Coverage. There shall be no specific maximum lot coverage except as follows: 

 1. Sufficient space shall be provided to satisfy off-street parking and loading area requirements, 

except that all parking may be provided within a structure(s). 

 2. Front yard and open space requirements shall be satisfied. 

 3. The first two hundred fifty gross square feet of any basement, including the measurements of 

the access stairway, shall not be included when calculating lot coverage. Only the portion of a basement that 

exceeds two hundred fifty gross square feet shall be included in the lot coverage calculations. 

 D. Yards. 

 1. Front yard setback: both new buildings and conversions of existing dwellings are encouraged 

with design emphasis placed on provision of adequate sidewalk width, street trees, potted plants and front-yard 

landscaping and pedestrian-scaled signs. The scale of the building shall determine the required setback. 

 2. Where a proposed building line for the street(s) upon which any lot faces is established by the 

street and highway plan of the master plan or is specified by the provisions of this code, then the front yard(s) 

shall be measured from the proposed building line. 

 3. Side and rear yards may be required through architectural and site approval in order to provide 

adequate light and air, assure sufficient distance between adjoining uses to minimize any incompatibility, and to 

promote excellence of development, except that where a rear yard is provided, it shall be at least ten feet wide. 

 E. Parking. Parking standards shall be as provided in Chapter 17.51. 

 F. Loading Areas. As provided in Chapter 17.51. 

 G. Landscaping. Landscaping should further the creation of a harmonious pedestrian, commercial 

atmosphere. (Ord. 774 § 4, 1995; Ord. 642 § 2 (part), 1987; Ord. 579 (part), 1985) 

 

17.22.070 Accessory uses. 

 The following are accessory uses permitted in a C-R district: 

 A. Signs complying with the applicable regulations set forth in this code; 

 B. Accessory uses and buildings customarily appurtenant to a permitted use, provided that no 

accessory use shall be offensive or objectionable because of odor, dust, smoke, noise or vibration. (Ord. 579 

(part), 1985) 

105


	09-01-11 Agenda
	3.A_08-04-11_PC_Draft_Minutes
	4.A_1545_Lincoln_Avenue_stf_rpt
	4.A_Attachment_A
	4.A_Attachment_B
	5.B_104_Fairview_Avenue_stf_rpt
	5.B_Attachment_A
	5.C_421-B_Capitola_Avenue_stf_rpt
	5.C_Attachment_A
	5.C_Attachment_B
	5.C_Attachment_C
	5.D_1575_38th_Avenue_stf_rpt
	5.D_Attachment_A
	VillaRoma_0001
	VillaRoma_0002
	VillaRoma_0003
	VillaRoma_0004
	VillaRoma_0005
	VillaRoma_0006
	VillaRoma_0007
	VillaRoma_0008
	VillaRoma_0009
	VillaRoma_0010
	VillaRoma_0011
	VillaRoma_0012

	5.D_Attachment_B
	5.D_Attachment_C
	6_General_Plan_Discussion_2_stf_rpt
	6_Attachment_A



